

Victims with disabilities in the Norwegian criminal justice system. Addressing and understanding the judicial process in cases involving physical and sexual abuse

Tone Hee Åker

OsloMet Avhandling 2021 nr 7

OSLO METROPOLITAN UNIVERSITY STORBYUNIVERSITETET



Victims with disabilities in the Norwegian criminal justice system. Addressing and understanding the judicial process in cases involving physical and sexual abuse

Tone Hee Åker



Thesis for the degree of Philosophiae Doctor PhD programme in Health Sciences Faculty of Health Sciences OsloMet – Oslo Metropolitan University

Spring 2021

CC-BY-SA versjon 4.0

OsloMet Avhandling 2021 nr 7

ISSN 2535-471X (trykket) ISSN 2535-5414 (online) ISBN 978-82-8364-290-2 (trykket) ISBN 978-82-8364-306-0 (online)

OsloMet – storbyuniversitetet Universitetsbiblioteket Skriftserien St. Olavs plass 4, 0130 Oslo, Telefon (47) 64 84 90 00

Postadresse: Postboks 4, St. Olavs plass 0130 Oslo

Trykket hos Byråservice

Trykket på Scandia 2000 white, 80 gram på materiesider/200 gram på coveret

Acknowledgement

I have always had a fascination for academia. But I never thought I would one day be a part of it.

I am very glad that, before starting a PhD, I gained work and life experience. I believe this gave me the ability to embrace this part of my life to the full. My ability to enjoy alone-time with my computer, articles and books was also of great value in my PhD work.

This period of my life has been a demanding but fulfilling journey. Particularly, the period after the committee asked me to revise and resubmit the thesis. I learned a lot from the committee's evaluation report. In my work revising the thesis, I owe all my thanks to Unni Margrethe Uren Aasen who gave me the time I needed, and she put me in touch with Sissel Seim. Sissel's insightful comments and helpful discussions were necessary for me to be able to revise and resubmit my thesis. It was challenging, but I am proud I managed to follow through.

Many, many people have given me a great deal of help in this work, including the following.

First of all, I would like to thank Extrastiftelsen, who granted me the funding to carry out this work. I would then like to thank my supervisors Miriam Sinkerud Johnsson, Børge Strømgren and Tonje Gundersen. Gunn Astrid Baugerud, I am grateful that you travelled with me to conferences, for good conversations and that you introduced me to researchers and professionals from all over the world.

My thanks also go to all the employees of Barnahus and the police districts who helped me collect data. To my fellow PhD students Hilde Mobekk, Pernille Lunde, Runa Kalleson and Linda Thøring Øverberg I thank you for all the great conversations we have had, and all the help and guidance you have given me along the way. Deirdre Brown at Victoria University, New Zealand, invited me to visit her research lab. It was a great experience, both professionally and personally, and I thank you. I also want to thank, Lilja Johannesen, the best librarian. El Hassan Hamdani who read some of my work and engaged me in useful discussions, which I am grateful.

Finally, I would like to send my special thanks to my dear Harald, who always has supported me, believed in me and helped me believe in myself.

I dedicate my work to my beloved children, Stella and Max. I hope I can inspire you to work hard, be proud of yourself and fulfil your dreams. I will always be at your side to support and cheer you on.

Lastly, in memory of my brother, you will always have a special place in my heart and to my mother and father, who passed away too early and who were concerned that I would not get a proper education. I humbly say to them; I did - all the way!

Tone H. Aler

Tone Hee Åker Oslo, 10.2.2021

Sammendrag

Det er lite forskning og manglende kunnskap om kriminalitet rettet mot personer med nedsatt funksjonsevne. Det er behov for å utvikle denne kunnskapen slik at det kan utarbeides retningslinjer og prosedyrer som bidrar til å øke rettsikkerheten til denne sårbare gruppen. Tema for denne avhandlingen er knyttet til vold og overgrepssaker hvor det antatte vitne har en funksjonsnedsettelse og belyser hvordan slike saker behandles i deler av rettssystemet i Norge. Studiene i avhandlingen og hovedområdene som diskuteres beskriver hva som karakteriserer disse sakene, hvordan politiet gjennomfører avhør av personer med nedsatt funksjonsevne og hvordan deres eventuelle behov for helsetjenester ivaretas i etterkant av et avhør.

Det er gjennomført tre studier som har resultert i tre artikler og disse er inkludert som egne kapitler i avhandlingen. Den første studien har benyttet data fra straffesaksregisteret i Norge. Denne studien er den første i Norge, og en av få studier internasjonalt som har benyttet slike data for å analysere og beskrive volds- og overgrepssaker mot personer med nedsatt funksjonsevne. Studien viser at det i straffesaksregisteret er en overvekt av seksuelle overgrep mot unge voksne jenter med nedsatt funksjonsevne. Videre viser studien til at det er få voldsog overgrepssaker der det antatte offeret er under 16 år og det er relativt få saker som omhandler vold mot personer ned nedsatt funksjonsevne. Den andre studien i avhandlingen belyser hvordan politiet gjennomfører avhør av personer med utviklingshemming og autisme. Studien analyserer spørsmålstyper og benytter en internasjonalt anerkjent metode for å belyse kvaliteten på avhørene, og hvorvidt disse er i tråd med de anbefalinger som finnes. Analysen viser at det er stor variasjon i avhørene som er analysert. En utfordring som kommer tilsyne er at politiet i for liten grad benytter åpne spørsmål som tilrettelegger for frie fortellinger.

Den tredje og siste studien i avhandlingen belyser hvordan vitnenes eventuelle helseutfordringer blir ivaretatt i krysningspunktet mellom rettsvesenet, i denne sammenhengen Barnehusene, og helsetjenestene. I Norge har Barnehusene et uttrykt ansvar for at eventuelle behov for helsetjenester kartlegges og ivaretas. Studien retter søkelyset mot manglende prosedyrer og retningslinjer for samarbeidet mellom Barnehusene og helsetjenestene. Dette bidrar til stor variasjon knyttet til hvordan behovene for helsetjenester til personer med nedsatt funksjonsevne blir ivaretatt i etterkant av et avhør.

Avhandlingen er en av veldig få som belyser hvordan rettsvesenet i Norge møter mennesker med nedsatt funksjonsevne og tilrettelegger for deres behov i straffesaker knyttet til vold og overgrep. Det avdekkes ny og viktig kunnskap som kan bidra til å øke rettsikkerheten og menneskerettighetene til personer med nedsatt funksjonsevne i volds- og overgrepssaker.

Summary

Crime against people with disabilities is under-researched. More knowledge is therefore needed to develop guidelines and procedures to secure the rule of law for this vulnerable group. This thesis illuminates how people with disabilities who are alleged victims of physical and sexual abuse, proceed through the criminal justice system in Norway. The main issues discussed include the characteristics of the criminal cases and of the investigative interviews conducted with alleged victims with a disability, and their need for health services after the investigative interview.

Three studies were conducted. The research papers that report these are included as separate chapters in the thesis. The first study is based on register data from the criminal justice system. This is one of few studies in the world that has been given access to such data to analyze and describe case characteristics. The results show that sexual offenses against young females are the most common crime investigated by the police in Norway for victims with a disability, and that the number of cases investigated that involve children under the age of 16 and involve violence were few. The second study analyzed question types and how best-practice recommendations for interviewing vulnerable witnesses were mirrored in practice. The analysis revealed a considerable variation. The main conclusion shows that interviewers need to increase the use of the recommended open-ended questions and cease using suggestive questions. Our final study aimed to address the meeting of victim health care needs at the interface between the criminal justice system and the health care sector. The small data set analyzed raises questions around the lack of guidelines and practices for securing the required health care services by the criminal justice and health care collaboration. The study shed light on a phenomenon which needs much more research.

This thesis is one of the very few that addresses critical issues in how the criminal justice system in Norway meets people with disabilities as alleged victims of physical and sexual abuse. The topics discussed add new and essential information to this field. This enables us to move our knowledge forwards and to secure the rule of law and the human rights of victims with disabilities.

Table of Contents

Chapter 1.	Introduction	5
	The aim of the thesis	6
	Central terms and definitions	7
	Disability	8
	Violence, physical and sexual abuse	9
	Methodological challenges in research into the physical and sexual abuse of people with disabilities	10
	Structure of the thesis	12
Chapter 2.	Physical and sexual abuse of people with disabilities	15
	Physical and sexual abuse of people with disabilities in Norway	16
	The criminal justice system and victims with disabilities	18
	The Norwegian criminal justice system and people with disabilities	19
	Crime statistics, the criminal justice process and victims with disabilities	20
Chapter 3.	Sexual abuse and violence against people with intellectual disabilities and physical impairments. Characteristics of police investigated cases in a Norwegian national sample	22
Chapter 4.	Investigative interviews of people with disabilities	30
	Memory in people with intellectual disabilities and autism	32
	Suggestibility	33
	Language and communication skills	34
	Best practice recommendations when interviewing people with disabilities	35
	Protocols when interviewing people with disabilities	37
	Special measures for victims with disabilities in physical and sexual abuse cases	39
	Regulations for investigative interviews of people with disabilities in Norway	42
	The Sequential Interview model	43

Chapter 5.	Interviewing alleged victims with intellectual disabilities and autism: A field study of police-investigated cases of physical and sexual abuse in a Norwegian national sample	
Chapter 6.	Physical and sexual abuse and health care services for people with disabilities	57
	Inter-organisational collaboration	58
Chapter 7.	Between the criminal justice and health care system. Responsibilities in securing health care services for people with intellectual disabilities after an investigative interview	60
Chapter 8.	Methodological strengths and limitations	75
	Analysing case characteristics based on registry data	75
	A quantitative analysis of real-life investigative interviews	77
	A case study using document analysis and qualitative interviews	82
	Ethical considerations	85
Chapter 9.	General discussion	87
	Sexual abuse of young females with intellectual disabilities and prevention programs	87
	How to acquire and maintain interviewer behaviour	89
	Using intermediaries to facilitate interviewer behaviour	91
	Are diagnosis and IQ scores useful in measuring people's abilities?	92
	Changed understandings of people with intellectual disability	93
	What can hinder people with intellectual disabilities participating in research?	96
	Absence of knowledge about services to adults with intellectual disabilities at Barnahus	98
	Suggestions for future research	99
	Concluding Remarks	100

Appendix 1.	Interview guide (chapter 7)	102
Appendix 2.	Information and consent form for persons with intellectual disabilities (chapter 7)	103
Appendix 3.	Information sheet and consent form (chapter 7)	109
Appendix 4.	Information sheet mapping services (chapter 7)	113
References		119

Chapter 1. Introduction

Male (32) sentenced to three years in prison for sexual abuse of woman with Down syndrome. This is a headline from a Norwegian national news site in January of this year (Sveen & Eriksen, 2020). The story continues with the public prosecutor explaining that the case is rare and that very few cases with victims with disabilities reach the court. The public prosecutor states that he is glad the jury believed the woman, and underscores that she provided a consistent and credible account when telling about her experiences. The story also points out that she, after the assault, suffered from physical and mental ailments. The abuse, in this case, was uncovered and ended with a conviction. The woman hopefully received adequate and professional treatment to cope with the abusive experience.

This news story illustrates the topic of this thesis. In the chapters that follow I lay out an understanding that can explain why the public prosecutor can state that such cases are rare, why he highlights that the woman with Down syndrome provided a consistent and credible account, and the services that are required to cope with negative health effects of abusive experiences.

People with disabilities (PWD) encounter a number of challenges in their meetings with the criminal justice system (CJS) (Cederborg & Lamb, 2006; Crane et al., 2016; Gardner et al., 2018; Niehaus et al., 2013; Olsen et al., 2018; Petersilia, 2001). PWD are at heightened risk of being victims of crime, particularly physical and sexual abuse (Harrell, 2017; Hughes et al., 2012; Jones et al., 2012; Nixon et al., 2017). We know that people with disabilities often have language and communication deficits, have reduced social competence and are dependent on others. These challenges can make a police investigation demanding (Henshaw & Thomas, 2012; Petersilia, 2001). Specialised skills are required to meet the special needs of PWD and secure their legal and human rights in a judicial process (Cooper & Northon, 2017). The provision of adequate help requires documented knowledge of all parts of the process from basic information such as who the victims are, and how the cases proceed through the system, to potential obstacles during an investigation. Few studies in Norway have addressed crimes against PWD. The available studies do, however, suggest that PWD are at a heightened risk of being victims of physical and sexual abuse (Grøvdal, 2013; Kvam, 2000, 2004; Vik et al., 2019). There is a lack

of valid knowledge on the magnitude of crimes against PWD in Norway, and of the characteristics of cases that are investigated. We do, however, know that PWD encounter many challenges throughout the criminal justice system (Lundberg & Simonsen, 2011; Olsen et al., 2018).

The investigation of a crime is a multifaceted process that progresses along a predetermined course. A case is first reported to the police, an investigation being initiated if the reported incident is a criminal act. An investigative interview, which is one of the most important investigative steps in a criminal case, is then conducted (Bjerknes & Fahsing, 2018). The investigative interview is a conversation that aims to achieve specific goals. These goals are centred on obtaining as much relevant, reliable and accurate information as possible (Bjerknes & Fahsing, 2018). The investigative interview is considered to be important evidence. How these interviews are conducted in Norway with victims with disabilities has not, however, been previously investigated. It is therefore very important that we obtain more knowledge on this. Investigative interviews of PWD in cases of physical and sexual abuse are, in Norway, conducted at Barnahus (Children's house). Barnahus is a part of the judicial system, their responsibilities including facilitating investigative interviews, and ensuring that victims' support and health care needs are met during and after an investigation. We have, until now, lacked information on how services are provided to PWD. This thesis therefore aims to improve our understanding of investigated criminal cases of the physical and sexual abuse of PWD, to develop our knowledge of this part of the Norwegian judicial process.

I will first outline, in this introduction chapter, the aim of the thesis and the research questions addressed. Then I will define some central key terms, and discuss the general methodological challenges faced in nearly all research into the physical and sexual abuse of PWD. Finally, I will provide an overview of the thesis structure and briefly present the content of the chapters.

The aim of the thesis

The goal of this thesis is to provide new knowledge by analysing and discussing selected parts of the judicial process in physical and sexual abuse cases that involve victims with disabilities. The overarching research question addressed is: *How can we understand parts of the Norwegian judicial process in physical and sexual abuse cases involving alleged victims with*

6

disabilities? Three research studies were developed to answer this question. We first collected and explored register data, and then a national sample of transcriptions of real-life investigative interviews of PWD. Finally, we conducted a case study by using documents from real-life cases, to illuminate how health care services are considered at the criminal justice and health care sector interface. The studies aim to provide an understanding of the phenomenon, and the challenges confronted by people with disabilities in the criminal justice system today.

I provide, in table 1, an overview of the papers included in the thesis, which explains how the papers are related to the overall aim of the thesis.

Table 1

Overview of the research articles in the thesis

Aim for the thesis	Describe and discuss case characteristics, qualitative aspects of investigative interviews and health care needs subsequent an investigative interview when people with disabilities have experienced physical and\ or sexual abuse.					
Articles included in the thesis	Sexual abuse and violence against people with intellectual disabilities and physical impairments. Characteristics of police investigated cases in a Norwegian national sample	Interviewing alleged victims with intellectual disabilities and autism. A field study of police-investigated cases of physical and sexual abuse in a Norwegian national sample	Between the criminal justice and health care system. Responsibilities in securing health care services for people with intellectual disabilities after an investigative interview			
Aim	Describe case characteristics of criminal cases involving people with disabilities who are victims of sexual abuse or violence in a Norwegian national sample	Analyses transcribed real-life investigative interviews with people with disabilities as victims of physical and/or sexual abuse	Describe collaboration between the justice and the health care sector and discuss how health care needs are assessed and taken care of in the interspace between the two sectors.			
Research <u>question</u>	What are the case characteristics of violence against and sexual abuse of people with disability registered in the Norwegian Electronic Registration System?	What characterises physical and sexual abuse cases investigated by the police in a Norwegian national sample of alleged victims with intellectual disabilities and autism?	What services or treatment are victims with intellectual disabilities offered after an investigative interview? How are the criminal justice and the health			
	What characterises the judicial process and the formal sanctions in these cases?	What question types do the police in Norway use in these cases when interviewing people with intellectual disabilities and autism?	care sector collaborating to ensure that the victims receive necessary support or treatment to cope with their abusive experiences?			
Emipircal data	Registry data from the Police Electronic registration system, N = 175 victims	A national sample of $N = 96$ transcribed investigative interviews in physical and sexual abuse cases involving victims with intellectual disabilities and autism	Document study of $N = 10$ journals from police investigated cases involving physical and/or sexual abuse against people with disabilities.			
			Structured interviews with n = 5 professionals			
Publishing process	Published in Journal of Applied Research in Intellectual Disabilities	Published in Journal of Intellectual Disability Research	Published in Nordic Social Work Research			

Central terms and definitions

The terms disability, intellectual disability and autism are used throughout the thesis and papers, to describe the target groups involved in the phenomena discussed. These terms are

defined, understood and used differently across research studies and research approaches, such as across sociological, psychological or medical perspectives (Grue, 2016). The terms have been debated for decades (e.g., Vehmas & Shakespear, 2014). A brief description of the different definitions of disability, violence, physical and sexual abuse are therefore presented to form a foundation for the understanding used within this thesis.

Disability

Different models have been used to theorise and define disability, and to provide a clearer understanding of the term (Grue, 2016). The perception of disability has moved from a medical understanding, which exclusively explains disability in terms of bodily impairment, to an understanding that explains disability as the interaction between impairment and the social and physical environment (Grue, 2016; Palmer & Harley, 2011). Theoretical changes influence how we understand and define the term. There is, however, no accepted universal definition of disability (Palmer & Harley, 2011). The understanding of the term disability is, in this thesis, built on the World Health Organization's (WHO) definition; 'Disability refers to the negative aspects of the interaction between individuals with a health condition (such as cerebral palsy, Down syndrome, depression) and personal and environmental factors (such as negative attitudes, inaccessible transportation and public buildings, and limited social supports)' (World Health Organization, 2002 p.7) Disability is understood to be an umbrella term which describes limitations in human functioning, where human functioning is recognised as being a term for all life activities (Palmer & Harley, 2011; World Health Organization, 2012). Understanding disability as an umbrella term means that people with intellectual disability (PWID) and people with autism (PWA) are included in the term. People with intellectual disabilities (PWID) are characterised by significant intellectual functioning and adaptive behaviour limitations, per definition before the age of 18 (Carr & O'Reilly, 2016). PWA are characterised by developmental deficits that relate to social interaction, patterns of communication and by a restricted, stereotyped, repetitive repertoire of interests and activities that cause clinically significant impairments in everyday functioning (World Health Organization, 2019). The terms people with disabilities (PWD), people with intellectual disabilities (PWID) and people with autism (PWA) will be used in this thesis and the papers in line with the definitions given above.

Violence, physical and sexual abuse

The challenges I describe for the term disability, are also found within the research literature for definitions of violence, and physical and sexual abuse (e.g., Vanderminden, 2017). The World Health Organization (WHO) has emphasised that these terms need to be defined, if the impact of violence on a person's life and society is to be measured and understood. The WHO has therefore introduced violence as an umbrella term, and defined it as 'the intentional use of physical force or power, threatened or actual, against oneself, another person, or against a group or community, that either result in or has a high likelihood of resulting in injury, death, psychological harm, maldevelopment, or deprivation.' (World Health Organization, 2002 p.5).

The WHO has suggested a typology of violence that can be used to describe the different types of violence and the links between them. The typology aims to differentiate between violence towards oneself, self-directed violence (e.g. self-abuse), violence inflicted by other persons, interpersonal violence (e.g. domestic violence and community violence) and violence inflicted by large groups - collective violence (e.g. war and terrorist acts committed by terrorist groups) (Krug et al., 2002; World Health Organization, 2002). The typology defines the types of violence and the relation between the alleged perpetrator and the alleged victim. Four modes are used to describe the nature of the violent acts. They are physical, sexual, psychological and deprivation or neglect. All four violent acts can occur within each of the three broad categories that describe types of violence (see World Health Organization, 2002 for illustration of typology p.25).

A different understanding of the term violence is presented in the paper 'Sexual abuse and violence against people with intellectual disabilities and physical impairments. Characteristics of police investigated cases in a Norwegian national sample', reproduced in chapter 3. The Norwegian General Civil Penal Code (§217-288) definition of violent crime is used to define the term violence in this paper. This definition specifically relates violence to the criminal acts of murder, assault, aggravated assault, abuse, and aggravated abuse in close relations. The terms physical and sexual abuse are used in the remaining chapters in line with the modes suggested by WHO, which furthermore separate physical and sexual abuse from psychological attack and deprivation.

Methodological challenges in research into the physical and sexual abuse of people with disabilities

I discuss, in this section, some general methodological challenges faced by nearly all research into the physical and sexual abuse of people with disabilities (PWD). These challenges relate to sampling procedures and inconsistencies in the definition of core terms, these being recurring issues in studies of the physical and sexual abuse of PWD (e.g., Byrne, 2017; Vanderminden, 2017). Methodological challenges are identified in many of the research studies conducted in this field. These challenges influence our understanding and interpretation of study results, and of comparisons and conclusions drawn across studies. I will briefly discuss these general methodological issues in this introductory chapter. A more specific method discussion is given in chapters 3, 5 and 7 in which the research papers are presented. Chapter 8 provides a more in-depth discussion of the methodological strengths and limitations affecting these findings.

General methodological challenges into the research of the physical and sexual abuse of PWD, centre on inconsistencies in the use of definitions of disability and physical and sexual abuse. This makes comparisons across studies difficult (Northway et al., 2013; Vanderminden, 2017). The definition of the term disability is, as described above, influenced by a number of perspectives. The lack of a universal definition leads to differences in definitions, and in the measurement of disability across service agencies and studies. For example, some studies define disability by answering questions (often yes/no) on specific personal traits, e.g. difficulty in hearing or seeing, or ability to complete physical tasks such as climbing stairs or shopping at a grocery store (Harrell, 2017). Other studies use formal diagnoses or IQ scores (Hershkowitz et al., 2007; Wissink et al., 2017). Some studies only include specific groups such as deaf persons (Kvam, 2004).

The definition of the terms violence and physical and sexual abuse also present challenges. Some studies include physical, sexual, and psychological abuse in the term violence. Other studies only include physical abuse in this term (Hughes et al., 2012; Jones et al., 2012; Northway et al., 2013; Vanderminden, 2017). Understandings of what the term violence includes also vary between countries. For example in Norway, all kinds of physical harm of children is prohibited by Norwegian law, and are therefore considered to be forms of violence. Other countries, however, accept minor physical harm such as slapping a child's hand as a normal part

of child raising (Krug et al., 2002). The differences between countries' legal definitions and cultural norms for the terms violence and physical and sexual abuse, further complicate our understanding of terminology across studies.

Studies that discuss the physical and sexual abuse of PWD often use small and selective samples. This is often due to a lack of information on PWD in criminal and health registries, or the difficulties associated with recruiting PWD research participants. (Beckene et al., 2017; Cederborg & Lamb, 2008; Van Den Bergh & Hoekman, 2006). Some scholars have described the guidelines that have been developed to protect vulnerable groups in research, as challenging PWD research (Iacono & Murray, 2003; Northway et al., 2013). One challenge discussed in these guidelines relates to informed consent. A person's ability to consent to participating in a study is affected by personal traits such as cognitive impairment. The researcher's obligation to obtain informed consent from people with a cognitive impairment, may therefore require special procedures to ensure that informants have understood the information. Such procedures may be time and cost demanding, and can so hinder a methodologically robust sampling procedure (Iacono & Murray, 2003). Sampling procedures such as convenience and self-selected samples are therefore often used in studies that involve PWD and physical and sexual abuse.

Methodological issues relating to inconsistencies in definitions and biased sampling are evident in literature reviews, and in the meta-analysis of the risk and prevalence of violence towards and sexual abuse of PWD (Byrne, 2017; Hughes et al., 2012; Jones et al., 2012). For example, prevalence rates based on information from hospital medical records only include people with a hospital record. Cross-sectional studies are, on the other hand, sensitive to response rates and the definition of the population included in the study. These definitions, as discussed, also vary from study to study, prevalence rates for physical and sexual abuse of PWD therefore also varying and being hampered by the biases related to these methodological issues (for a review see Byrne, 2017; Hughes et al., 2012).

The methodological weaknesses of definition inconsistencies and inadequate sampling threaten the development of new and robust knowledge on the physical and sexual abuse of PWD (Northway et al., 2013; Vanderminden, 2017). Some scholars have repeatedly called for more research and for methodologically stronger studies in this field (Hughes et al., 2012; Jones et al., 2012; Petersilia, 2000). More robust studies would strengthen the foundation upon which knowledge-based interventions, policies, and procedures for preventing the physical and sexual

abuse of PWD are built. It is therefore crucial, despite methodology concerns, to continue to bring this research field forwards and to gradually work to overcome some of the limitations discussed in the research.

Structure of the thesis

The investigation of a criminal case is a process that involves a number of investigative steps before a decision is made on whether to prosecute. The case, if prosecuted, may finally be brought before the courts, who will reach a formal decision on the case (Bjerknes & Fahsing, 2018). Figure 1 provides a simplified overview of the processing of a criminal case, from being reported to a final decision, and of the link between the criminal justice system and the health sector. It also shows how the three articles in this thesis address and discuss different parts of the judicial process.

Figure 1



Overview of how the papers relate to selected parts of the judicial process

The overall structure of the themes presented in this thesis reflect the judicial process of a physical or sexual abuse case as it passes through the criminal justice system, as illustrated in figure 1. The research papers are therefore included in separate chapters, which are between chapters on central theoretical topics in the research of PWD and physical and sexual abuse.

Chapter 1. *Introduction.* The chapter outlines the thesis aim, and how the research articles relate to this aim. The chapter also presents an overview of how a case proceeds through the criminal justice system, and how the papers address parts of the process. Central terms are finally defined and general methodological challenges relevant in the research of PWD are presented.

Chapter 2. *Physical and sexual abuse of people with disabilities*. I provide, in this chapter, an overview and discuss the prevalence of the physical and sexual abuse of PWD, and of the vulnerability of PWD to becoming victims of this abuse. The chapter highlights the barriers that PWD are confronted with when encountering the criminal justice system, and the need for more knowledge on crimes against this group.

Chapter 3. Sexual abuse and violence against people with intellectual disabilities and physical impairments. Characteristics of police investigated cases in a Norwegian national sample. This chapter contains the first research paper of the thesis, which has been published in the Journal of Applied Research in Intellectual Disabilities. The paper aims to fill parts of the gap formed by the absence of information on violence and sexual crime against PWD, by presenting a register study of the sexual abuse and violence of PWD in a Norwegian national sample.

Chapter 4. *Investigative interviews with people with disabilities*. This chapter provides an overview of the judicial process and the investigative interview of alleged PWD victims. It also presents an overview of a number of research topics that are central to investigative interviews of PWD, including memory features, suggestibility, language and social skills, and how these affect a PWD's performance as an eyewitness. I present, in this chapter, the Norwegian interview model and include a discussion of best-practice recommendations when interviewing vulnerable witnesses, and special measures that should be implemented to meet special needs of PWD in the judicial process.

Chapter 5. *Interviewing alleged victims with intellectual disabilities and autism. A field study of police-investigated cases of physical and sexual abuse in a Norwegian national sample.* This chapter contains research paper 2, which has been published in the Journal of Intellectual Disability Research. The paper uses a quantitative method to analyse the question types used in real-life investigative interviews in Norway.

Chapter 6. *Physical and sexual abuse and health care services for people with disabilities*. This chapter presents a brief overview and a discussion of the negative health effects PWD can experience after physical and sexual abuse. The chapter also addresses issues that relate to interorganisational collaboration between the health care and justice sector.

Chapter 7. *Between the criminal justice and health care system. Responsibilities in securing health care services for people with intellectual disabilities after an investigative interview.* This chapter presents the third research paper, which has been accepted for publication in Nordic Social Work Research. The paper aims to illuminate collaboration between the CJS and the health care sector, through analysing case records and structured interviews of health professionals.

Chapter 8. *Methodological strengths and limitations*. This chapter provides a more general discussion of methodological choices, and a more in-depth discussion of methodological strengths and limitations.

Chapter 9. *General discussion*. In this final chapter I discuss the key findings of the presented research. The chapter addresses issues such as the preponderance of the sexual abuse of young females with intellectual disabilities, how to establish and maintain interviewer behaviour, and the negative impact of insufficient measures of a person's abilities on the research of adults with intellectual disabilities. Chapter 9 ends with some reflections on possible implications of the research findings, suggestions for future research and a concluding remark.

A reference list is provided at the end of the thesis. The reference lists for the published papers are included with the papers in chapters 3, 5 and 7.

Chapter 2. Physical and sexual abuse of people with disabilities

Research indicates that people with disabilities (PWD) are at a greater risk of becoming victims of physical and sexual abuse than the general population (Byrne, 2017; Fogden et al., 2016; Hershkowitz et al., 2007; Hughes et al., 2012; Jones et al., 2012; Wilson & Brewer, 1992; Wissink et al., 2015). In this chapter I will provide an overview of physical and sexual abuse against PWD, the criminal justice system (CJS) and victims with disabilities and finally, illuminate crime statistics and the judicial process and PWD.

Studies that estimate risk factors and the prevalence of the physical and sexual abuse of the general population are reported to be challenging (World Health Organization, 2002). For example, estimates of violence against females in close relations are reported to be from 10% to 69% (World Health Organization, 2002). Prevalence studies of the physical and sexual abuse of PWD are often focused on either children or adults, many studies addressing only one type of abuse. This further complicates the picture. The risk and prevalence of victimisation therefore varies depending on population and type of abuse studied.

Literature reviews that address the sexual abuse of children with disabilities report a prevalence rate of between 14% and 32% (Byrne, 2017; Wissink et al., 2015). Estimates of the risk of children with disabilities being sexual abused when compared with the risk for typically for developing children vary across studies, this ranging from children with disabilities being at no heightened risk (Kvam, 2000) to being nearly 11 times more likely to be abused (Spencer, 2005). Risk estimates in a meta-analysis, however, reported the risk of children with disabilities being sexually abused to be 2.9 times higher than for typically developing children (Jones et al., 2012).

A meta-analysis that assessed physical violence against children with disabilities, showed a prevalence rate of 20.4%, the risk of physical violence being estimated to be 3.56 times higher than peers without disabilities (Jones et al., 2012). The study by Jones et al. (2012) corresponds with the registry study conducted by Sullivan and Knutson (2000), which concludes that children with disabilities are three to four times more likely to be victims of both physical and sexual abuse than their non-disabled peers.

Prevalence rates among adults with disabilities show a similar pattern. The prevalence of sexual abuse of adults with disabilities is reported to be between 7% and 34% (Byrne, 2017). Estimates of risk vary from no risk (Khalifeh et al., 2013) to a six times higher risk of sexual abuse (Fogden et al., 2016). Physical abuse, however, is estimated to have a prevalence rate of up to 21.4% depending on the type of disability (Hughes et al., 2012), while the risk of an adult with disabilities being a victim of physical abuse is suggested to be 3.6 times higher than for adults without disabilities (Nixon et al., 2017).

The variations in risk and prevalence rates described above challenges our understanding of the magnitude of the problem. There is, nevertheless, agreement and consensus across studies and researchers that disability is a vulnerability factor which increases the risk of becoming a victim of physical and sexual abuse.

Physical and sexual abuse of people with disabilities in Norway

Greater awareness of the need to fight physical and sexual abuse in Norway has improved our knowledge of this phenomenon and of areas such as the magnitude and risk factors of victimisation (e.g., Mossige & Stefansen, 2016; Thoresen & Hjemdal, 2014). Less knowledge has been developed and fewer studies have been conducted into the physical and sexual abuse of PWD, the few studies conducted in Norway describes vulnerability factors, case characteristics and prevalence rates.

Kvam (2000) reported that children with disabilities (age range 0-16 years) constituted 6.4% (n = 83) of the total sample of 1293 children examined at a Norwegian hospital for possible sexual abuse. This study suggests that vulnerability to abuse is related to the severity of the disability. Children with severe disabilities such as intellectual disabilities and deaf children are more vulnerable to being sexually abused than typically developing children. The greater risk of the victimisation of children with disabilities in Norway was further explored and described in a later study conducted by Kvam (2004). This retrospective study of deaf adults used a questionnaire, and the respondents were asked to report sexual abusive experiences in their childhood (Kvam, 2004). The response rate was 43%, and the results revealed that deaf females

experienced childhood sexual abuse more than twice as often as hearing females. Deaf males experienced sexual abuse more than three times as often as hearing males.

An increased sexual abuse vulnerability is also found in the adults with disabilities population. A retrospective study of vulnerability factors such as disabilities was conducted for sexual offences in a sample of 573 women (mean age 23, age-range 12-61) who had contacted a sexual assault centre (Vik et al., 2019). At least one vulnerability factor was present in 59% of the cases and one of these vulnerability factors was intellectual and/or physical disabilities. Out of 573 women, 5% (n = 24) had an intellectual disability, 4% (n = 22) had a physical disability while less than 1% (n = 2) had both vulnerability factors present. This study also reported that the characteristics of the sexual assault were different between patients with and without vulnerability factors. Vulnerable victims were more often abused by a friend, family member or an acquaintance compared to the group with no vulnerability factor present. We have a powerful understanding of vulnerability factors and the risk of sexual abuse against PWD. The knowledge of prevalence is, however, still developing.

There are currently very few studies on the prevalence of the sexual abuse of PWD in Norway. One study, however, reports an increased risk for women with visual impairments to be sexually abused (Brunes & Heir, 2018). The study shows that the prevalence rate for sexual abuse was significantly different between women with (17.4%) and without visual impairments (10%). The prevalence rate among men with visual impairment was 2.4%. No significant differences were found for men with and without visual impairments (Brunes & Heir, 2018). The few studies that address the sexual abuse of PWD in Norway coincide with the literature that shows a relationship between disability, the increased risk and a higher prevalence rate for the sexual abuse of PWD.

Turning our attention towards the physical abuse of PWD, we note that this type of physical is much less studied, and that PWID are often not included or identified in the samples (Grøvdal, 2013; Olsvik, 2010). A Norwegian study of violence against females with disabilities included persons with intellectual disabilities (Olsvik, 2006). The study, however, focused on females with physical and sensory impairments, and the results therefore do not report findings across different groups of disabilities. The study showed that females with disabilities are twice as vulnerable to physical abuse than females without disabilities (Olsvik, 2006). The study furthermore reports estimates of risk that are very similar to international studies (Hughes et al.,

17

2012), reporting that females with disabilities are at a greater risk of experiencing physical abuse than females without disabilities. There is a lack in Norway of studies that explicitly address the prevalence of the physical abuse of children and males with disabilities.

The few Norwegian studies that discuss the physical and sexual abuse of PWD and the estimated prevalence rates, share the same methodological challenges that were addressed at the start of the thesis. Studies and reports rarely include variables that identify PWD and, if they do, participants are often persons with physical impairments (e.g., Mossige & Stefansen, 2016; Thoresen & Hjemdal, 2014). A lack of studies, particularly those that involve PWID, leaves a grave knowledge gap which leaves PWID invisible as victims of physical and sexual abuse.

The criminal justice system and victims with disabilities

PWD encounter challenges when in contact with the criminal justice system (CJS) (Bailey & Barr, 2000; Cederborg & Gumpert, 2009; Petersilia, 2001; Pillay, 2012; Søndenaa, 2019). These challenges relate to barriers in the CJS and a lack of knowledge of PWDs' special needs (Henshaw & Thomas, 2012). Inadequate education, lack of expertise and lack of procedures for police officers when encountering PWD are, for example, common (Bailey & Barr, 2000; Bailey et al., 2001; Powell & Browne, 2004). Studies have shown that police officers, judges, prosecutors and lawyers have stereotypical views of people with intellectual disabilities. They think they are incompetent as witnesses and question their credibility (Cederborg & Lamb, 2006; Manzanero et al., 2015). Studies that address the barriers PWD encounter in their contact with the CJS are mainly qualitative. They use explorative approaches to collect information from professionals in CJS, and from lawyers or judges. The obstacles identified in these studies are, however, all related to practical, procedural and attitudinal aspects of the CJS. They furthermore seem to be similar across jurisdictions across the world (Agnew et al., 2006; Cederborg & Lamb, 2006; Pillay, 2012; Spaan & Kaal, 2018). The voices of the crime victims further echo these findings, as described in a study conducted by Beckene et al. (2017). Four females with intellectual disabilities who were victims of sexual abuse were interviewed about their experience of being questioned in court. They describe the judges and lawyers as rude, aggressive and as not show any understanding of their disability. The language used in court was also complex and questions were suggestive, manipulative and challenging to comprehend. In sum, the experience of going to court left the victim with a feeling of injustice.

The Norwegian criminal justice system and people with disabilities

In Norway, the miscarriage of justice against Fritz Moen and his acquittal early in 2004/2006 revealed grave incompetence within the CJS with respect to PWD. Fritz Moen, who was deaf and had limited verbal skills, was wrongfully convicted of rape and murder. The case was later examined by an official commission to assess what went wrong and to suggest changes to the CJS to avoid wrongful convictions in the future (Justis- og politidepartementet, 2007). Suggested changes included the video recording of the investigative interview, which is now mandatory when questioning PWD. The commission also addressed the need for improved knowledge on disabilities, the use of interpreters and how this can affect an investigation (Justis- og politidepartementet, 2007).

Despite the Fritz Moen case aftermath and new regulations on the investigation of crimes that involve PWD, the CJS in Norway is still struggling to adapt procedures to ensure equal rights for PWD (Lundberg & Simonsen, 2011; Olsen et al., 2018; Olsen et al., 2016; Søndenaa, 2019). Olsen et al. (2018) conducted a study to shed light on the legal situation for PWD in Norway, irrespective of the reason for their encounter with the CJS. The study used a questionnaire to collect information from the police (e.g., police investigators, police prosecutors), the court (e.g., judges, lawyers) and the state prosecuting authorities. Individual and group interviews were also conducted with specialists from relevant areas. Information from interviews of 388 respondents was analysed. The results revealed a lack of competence and procedures for handling and detecting PWD throughout the CJS. The few guidelines that existed, such as the adaption of questioning and video recordings of investigative interviews seem, however, to work satisfactorily and contribute to the improvement of PWDs' legal situation (Olsen et al., 2018). Furthermore, a qualitative study interviewing deaf people's experience with the CJS describes communicative barriers (Olsen & Kermit, 2015). The CJS lack competence in deaf people's needs for special measures and is not addressing communicative barriers appropriately, for example by using an interpreter when conducting an investigative interview (Olsen & Kermit, 2015). Challenges described in terms of barriers and lack of competence regarding PWD throughout the CJS in Norway arise from a limited amount of research. The

findings on PWD's special needs in their encounter with the CJS are, however, congruent to challenges reported in international studies (Bailey & Barr, 2000; Beckene et al., 2017; Cederborg & Lamb, 2006; Spaan & Kaal, 2018).

Crime statistics, the criminal justice process and victims with disabilities

Crime statistics and information on the prevalence and nature of crime is required to understand, prevent and protect people from being victimised. Specific information on crime against PWD is vital, due to their vulnerability (Petersilia, 2001). However, few jurisdictions provide crime statistics which allow crimes against PWD to be identified. Information on crimes against PWD is therefore limited. In the US, the Bureau of Justice Statistics publishes an annual overview of crime against PWD based on a National Crime Victimization Survey. The numbers show that PWD were victims of serious violent crime (rape, sexual assault, robbery and aggravated assault) at a rate that is three times higher than for people without disabilities. The percentage of perpetrators who violated PWD that the victim knew was higher for PWD than for victims without disabilities. Despite that, PWD was reported to be more exposed to serious violent crime, the total number of criminal incidents reported to the police by PWD and by people without disability were similar (Harrell, 2017).

Crime against PWD is also reported in a study from Australia. This links data from a health registry with the police law enforcement registry, to allow crime against PWD to be identified and described (Nixon et al., 2017). The results reveal that the risk of being a victim of physical or sexual abuse was more than three times higher for PWD than for the general population. The statistics from the USA and Australia depict the occurrence of crime against PWD. Neither the statistics from the USA nor the study from Australia, however, describe the case characteristics of criminal justice processes that involve victims with disabilities.

Van Den Bergh and Hoekman (2006) conducted a case-file study to provide insight into the judicial process in cases involving PWD. The study examined sexual offences in police reports and court dossiers that involve victims or perpetrators with disabilities. A total of 75 police reports and court dossiers were analysed. The results show that the mean age of the victims was 20 years, that 75% of the victims had an ID, and that 63% were female. Almost twofifths of the perpetrators were a friend or an acquaintance of the victim. The police investigation took an average of 2.4 months, 45% of cases being shelved or charges were dropped, 15% leading to a formal sentence. The cases included in the study were identified by manually searching the archives. This was due to the lack of information on crimes involving PWD in the police regions studied. The results are, therefore, based on a selective sampling procedure (Van Den Bergh & Hoekman, 2006). Despite limitations relating to the sample, Van Den Bergh & Hoekman's (2006) study is one of the very few studies published that describes the judicial process in crimes against PWD. There is, moreover, a lack of studies from Norway that address the judicial process in cases involving victims with disabilities.

Crime statistics are, in Norway, reported on a regular basis. It is not, however, possible to identify crimes against PWD in the statistics published, despite a political focus on preventing, reporting and investigating violence against vulnerable persons in Norway (Justis- og beredskapsdepartementet 2013). The lack of statistics on the physical and sexual abuse of PWD makes it challenging to document the nature and magnitude of the problem. This, in turn, makes it difficult for the CJS to develop the guidelines and procedures required to meet PWD's special needs.

Scholars have, since the early 1990's, repeatedly called for more research into and knowledge on the violence and sexual abuse of PWD (Hughes et al., 2012; Jones et al., 2012; Olafson, 2012; Petersilia, 2000). Research in this area, however, still struggles with methodological challenges such as sampling procedures and small and unrepresentative samples (Byrne, 2017; Vanderminden, 2017). Some of these challenges might be able to be overcome if registries from the CJS reported statistics for crimes against PWD. Hence, the next chapter contains of the first study presented in the thesis which use data from the Norwegian Criminal data registry to analyse investigated cases with physical and sexual abuse against PWD.

Chapter 3. Sexual abuse and violence against people with intellectual disabilities and physical impairments. Characteristics of police investigated cases in a Norwegian national sample

Tone H. Åker and Miriam S. Johnson OsloMet – Oslo Metropolitan University

Department of Behavioural Sciences, OsloMet - Oslo Metropolitan University

Published in Journal of Applied Research in Intellectual Disabilities

DOI: https://doi.org/10.1111/jar.12656

Received: 31 May 2018

DOI: 10.1111/jar.12656

REVIEW

JARID bild WILEY

Sexual abuse and violence against people with intellectual disability and physical impairments: Characteristics of police-investigated cases in a Norwegian national sample

Accepted: 31 July 2019

Tone H. Åker 💿 | Miriam S. Johnson

Department of Behavioural Sciences, OsloMet – Oslo Metropolitan University, Oslo, Norway

Correspondence

Tone H. Åker, Department of Behavioural Sciences, OsloMet – Oslo Metropolitan University, PO box 4 St. Olavs plass, NO-0130 Oslo, Norway. Email: taker@oslomet.no

Funding information Norwegian Extrafoundation for Health and Rehabilitation, Grant/Award Number: 2017/ FO150099

Abstract

Background: Although people with disabilities are more exposed to violence and sexual abuse, research on the judicial process in such cases is still lacking. This study uses crime statistics to describe this phenomenon.

Method: A national sample from the National Criminal Investigation Service in Norway was analysed for the period October 2015 to December 2017.

Results: The total number of alleged victims was 175, across 74 cases. The majority of the victims (71.2%) were females, subjected to a sexual offence. Overall, 30% of all cases led to a penal sanction.

Conclusion: The study shows a preponderance of sexual offences against females with disabilities and few cases comprise violence. Relatively, few cases involve violations against children with disabilities. This might suggest an underreporting of such criminal acts. The knowledge of potential reasons why violent crime and offences against children with disabilities are absent from the data registry needs to be strengthened.

KEYWORDS

criminal justice system, disability, sexual abuse, violence, vulnerable victims

1 | INTRODUCTION

Vulnerable groups in our society, such as children and adults with disabilities and physical impairment, seem to be more affected by severe criminal incidents such as sexual abuse and violence than the population in general (Harrell, 2012; Hershkowitz, Lamb, & Horowitz, 2007; Hughes et al., 2012; Jones et al., 2012; Nixon, 2016; Taylor, Stalker, & Stewart, 2016). Children with disabilities (CWD) are by some reported to be at a higher risk for sexual abuse than violence (Hershkowitz et al., 2007) while others point to violence as the crime CWD are most exposed to Jones et al. (2012). Furthermore, adults with disabilities are at increased risk for sexual abuse but seem to be even more vulnerable for violent crime (Hughes et al., 2012; Nixon, 2016). For varied reasons, however, research indicates that such cases are rarely reported to the police, which in turn means that very few of these cases are investigated (Beckene, Forrester-Jones, & Murphy, 2017; Murphy et al., 2016; Petersilia, 2001; Wilson & Brewer, 1992). Consequently, systematic knowledge of different aspects of what characterizes criminal cases where this vulnerable group of people are alleged victims is very sparse. To gain more information about this type of crime, a study of investigated criminal cases regarding case characteristics, the volume of cases and the subsequent judicial process in a national sample would provide essential information. The present study aims to contribute knowledge on this matter by presenting national register data in which children and adults with intellectual disability and physical impairment are alleged victims of sexual abuse or violence.

This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

© 2019 The Authors. Journal of Applied Research in Intellectual Disabilities published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd

J Appl Res Intellect Disabil. 2020;33:139–145.

140

-WILEY-JARID

The literature on crime against both children and adults with disabilities is not extensive, and many of those studies have focused on-and concluded with-disability as a risk factor for abusive and violent victimization (Hughes et al., 2012; Jones et al., 2012). The vulnerability for victimization and, in particular, the relationship between disability and heightened risk for violence or sexual offences have been documented in several studies (Fogden, Thomas, Daffern, & Ogloff, 2016; Hershkowitz et al., 2007; Kvam, 2000; Nettelbeck & Wilson, 2001). Specifically, females with disabilities are seen as more susceptible to violence and sexual abuse compared to males with disabilities (Harrell, 2012; Hughes, Lund, Gabrielli, Powers, & Curry, 2011). More recent results reported by Fogden et al. (2016) echo these findings reporting that females with disabilities experienced violent victimization at a significantly higher rate compared to males with disabilities. However, the gender differences for victims with disability in this study were not found to be significant for sexual offences (Fogden et al., 2016). On the contrary, another study addressing gender differences found that females were sexually abused three times as often as men, but they found no significant gender difference related to physical abuse (Platt et al., 2017). The variation in gender differences as described is also reported in a literature review about violence against adults with disability conducted by Hughes et al. (2011). The discrepancy found in gender distribution across studies is one of the areas in which more knowledge is needed to gain a better understanding of victimization of people with disability.

As pointed out, the increased risk might lead to an assumption of a large number of cases involving victims with disabilities in the criminal justice system, but few studies have discussed the judicial process in criminal cases in this matter. The need for more information and research about this topic was addressed decades ago by several researchers (Nettelbeck & Wilson, 2001; Olafson, 2012; Petersilia, 2001; Pillay, 2012; Wilson & Brewer, 1992). The call for more research about the judicial process involving victims with disabilities is still applicable, but access to information within the criminal justice system has repeatedly been discussed as a reason for the lack of studies within this area (Cederborg & Lamb, 2008; Fry, Lannen, Vanderminden, Cameron, & Casey, 2017; Hughes et al., 2012; Jones et al., 2012; Murphy et al., 2016; Olafson, 2012). The limited access to information can lead to methodological challenges such as described in a study conducted by Van Den Bergh and Hoekman (2006). In their study, where the aim was to describe the judicial process in sexual offence cases, the sampling procedure was dependent on a manual screening of files. Van Den Bergh and Hoekman (2006) explained the use of a selective sampling procedure because of missing information about victims with disability in the police regions. Likewise, Cederborg and Lamb (2008) reported similar explanations with sampling due to missing information in their study concerning the legal system and victimization of people with disabilities in Sweden. The methodological issues with sampling as described in these two studies are correlated with a high level of bias and, therefore, a low level of reliability. Some of the methodological issues described

in previous research are addressed in the current study by using a national sample of registered criminal cases of violence and sexual offences in Norway. In the last decades, there has been a strong political will to prevent and reduce violence and sexual offences in Norway. As a result of the political initiative in this area, there has been a focus on improving the quality in the investigation of these cases in the general population. Crime statistics show that the number of investigated sexual offences increased by 16% from 2016 to 2017 and 20% of the investigated cases ended with a decision to prosecute. In the same period, investigation of violence and abuse, including domestic violence, increased by 5% (Statistics Norway, 2018a). Although the statistics show an increase in investigated cases in general, there are no official crime statistics in Norway addressing violence and abuse against people with disabilities. Keeping in mind the increased risk for victimization addressed in several studies, important facts about this phenomenon could be revealed with better insight into investigated crime against this group.

To add knowledge about violence and sexual offences against people with disabilities, the current study analyses crime statistics from the Norwegian Electronic Registration System (STRASAK). The sample used is based upon registry data from STRASAK, which collates criminal statistics from all police districts in Norway (*n* = 12). The study aimed to present a representative overview from a Norwegian national sample of investigated cases involving violence against and sexual abuse of people with disability. The term "people with disability" is used throughout this article and refers to the description of disability status according to the *Norwegian Criminal Procedure Act*. The understanding of the term disability in the *Criminal Procedure Act Act* refers to people with intellectual disability and people with disability in need of similar support. This definition includes people with mental disorders, dementia, ADHD and autism.

The objective in this study was more specifically to describe crime type, case characteristics and the judicial process through the police investigation to the prosecutor's decision of whether to prosecute and the sanctions resulting from prosecution. The following research questions were addressed. What are the case characteristics of violence against and sexual abuse of people with disability registered in the Norwegian Electronic Registration System? What characterizes the judicial process and the formal sanctions in these cases?

2 | METHODS

2.1 | Sample

The sample in the present study comprises register data extracted from the Norwegian Electronic Registration System (STRASAK). The inclusion criterion for the data was disability status and (a) sexual offences (The General Civil Penal Code paragraphs 291–320) and (b) violence (The General Civil Penal Code paragraphs 271–288).

STRASAK is the Norwegian Criminal data registry managed by the National Criminal Investigation Service (NCIS) and collates

information on all offences reported to the police from all police districts in Norway. In STRASAK, offences are defined as the acts described in the General Civil Penal Code. All offences are registered as one case with a registration number. The registration number identifies one suspect and one offence against one alleged victim. This means that cases with the same registration number point to the same suspect but are different offences against one alleged victim.

The term disability status is based on the description in *The Criminal Procedure Act* and includes people with intellectual disabilities, physical impairments, mental disorders, autism and ADHD. *The Criminal Procedure Act* states that people with a disability are entitled to be interviewed by a specially trained police officer. In all cases where a decision to question the alleged victim is made, the responsible police officer must consider whether the alleged victim has a disability. The decision to add the mode disability status is made early in the investigation process and often before a diagnosis is formally confirmed.

Other variables included in the data were the police district, age of the alleged victim, gender of the alleged victim, date the case was registered, date the case ended, number of investigation days, number of days from when the investigation ended until a prosecutor's decision was made and the total number of days from the case being registered to a prosecutor's decision.

Data from the period October 2015 to December 2017 were selected due to the implementation in October 2015 of the new General Civil Penal Code and the new *Criminal Procedure Act in Norway*. The new *Criminal Procedure Act* included changes such as changing the responsibility for the investigative interviews from the court to the police and implementing mandatory use of Barnahus when interviewing people with disabilities. Barnahus (Children's House) is a part of the judicial system in Norway and facilitates investigative interviews with children and people with disabilities.

The data set contained 231 offences. The complete data set was received from NCIS in April 2018. Duplicates were removed (i.e. cases with the same birth date and registration date). The final list included 175 alleged victims, across 74 cases. The data were analysed using SPSS version 24.

2.2 | Data collection procedure

This study was granted access to information from STRASAK by the State Attorney, the Police Directorate and the Norwegian Data Protection Authority. NCIS was contacted to request information according to the inclusion criteria described and extract the data from STRASAK.

STRASAK uses a classification system that largely follows the structure and legal terms of the current penal code (Statistics Norway, 2018b). Offences are registered using a pre-structured set of codes known as the "STRASAK codes" or "statistical groups". STRASAK also contains several modes, one of which is disability status. These modes make it possible to narrow or expand a data search in the registry. The modes registered for a case are decided

during the investigation process and, therefore, vary from case to case.

ARID

To make sure that essential modes and statistical groups were included in the data, the authors discussed and received feedback from NCIS on variables before data were collected from STRASAK.

2.3 | Sanctions

Statistics on criminal sanctions are registered in the criminal record registry. This register is to provide an overview of the formal punishment, frequencies and sentencing basis for different types of offences in Norway. The register contains information only on offences that have resulted in a formal penal sanction. The list of 175 offences obtained from STRASAK all had a unique register number. The penal sanction for each of the cases could, therefore, be retrieved from NCIS, which was carried out at the beginning of February 2018.

2.4 | Ethical considerations

The sample does not contain any personal data. The relatively small sample and the nature of the case and disability status information means there is a greater risk of a person being indirectly identified. Therefore, information on the police district, which can be understood to be a geographical affiliation, was removed from the analysis to limit the risk of potential indirect identification. Ethical approval was granted by the Council for Confidentiality and Research. All researchers with access to the registry data in this study signed the state attorney's confidentiality declaration.

3 | RESULTS

3.1 | Characteristics of alleged victims

The total number of alleged victims in this study was 175 across 74 cases, as seen in Table 1. None of the alleged victims was registered as victims of offences in both of the two criminal types, violence or sexual offences.

In one case, there were 71 alleged victims. All of the victims in this case were young boys of 6–14 years of age (M = 8.4, SD = 2.3). The large number of alleged victims in this specific case, their young age and the fact that all were boys affects the mean age and the gender distribution in the total sample of 175 alleged victims. Further analysis is, for that reason, computed with n = 104 alleged victims across 73 cases.

The mean age in the sample of 104 alleged victims was 25.8 years (*SD* = 16.3, age range: 1–83 years). The majority of the alleged victims (71.2%, *n* = 74) were female and 28.2% (*n* = 30) were male. Moreover, 59% (*n* = 61) of the female alleged victims were victims of a sexual offence, whereas 17% (*n* = 18) of the alleged victims within this criminal type were male. A chi-square test of independence was calculated comparing gender and the two types of crime analysed in this study. A significant association was found (χ^2 (1, 104) = 5.88, *p* = .02), showing that females are more likely to be victims of sexual

HILEY-JARID

TABLE 1	Violence and sexual offenses across cases and victims
---------	---

Types of crime	Cases		Victims	
	n	%	n	%
Murder (§275)	2	2.7	2	1.1
Aggravated assault (§272)	1	1.4	1	0.6
Aggravated abuse in close relation (§283) ^a	6	8.1	10	5.7
Assault (§273)	9	12.3	10	5.7
Abuse in close relation (§282) ^a	2	2.7	2	1.1
Total	20	27.2	25	14.2
Sexual offenses (§291-320)	п	%	n	%
Incest (§312)	2	2.8	3	1.7
Abuse of unequal power relations (§295) ^b	15	20.3	29	16.6
Pornography (§317)	1	1.4	71	40.6
Sex act performed without consent (§297)	3	4	3	1.7
Sexually offensive conduct in public or without consent (§298)	6	8.1	7	4
Sexual activity with a child between 14 and 16 years (§302)	9	12.2	19	11.9
Sexual assault (§291) ^c	11	14.9	11	6.3
Sexual assault on a child under 14 years of age (§299)	7	9.5	7	4
Total	54	73.2	150	85.8

^aAggravated abuse and abuse in close relations include domestic violence.

^bUnequal power relations include abuse of position in trust, dependent relationship or relationship of trust, exploiting a person's mental illness or intellectual disability, or exploiting a person under the age of 18 in a vulnerable life situation to obtain sexual activity.

^cSexual assault involves intercourse by insertion of penis or object into the vagina, anus or mouth, obtained by threats, violence or exploiting an unconscious person.

offences than males. The proportions for male and female alleged victims of violence were evenly distributed at 13% (n = 13) female and 12% (n = 12) male.

The penal code stipulates that all sexual acts with a child aged 14 or younger are defined as rape. The age limit for sexual consent in Norway is 16 years of age. The penal code defines a sexual act differently for victims below and above the age of consent. The sample was divided into three age bands (\geq 14, 15–16, 17 \leq) to reflect the penal code's paragraphs relating to age. Overall, 28% (n = 29) of the alleged victims of both sexual offence and violence were 14 years or younger at the time the suspected incident occurred. However, 7.6% (n = 8) were between 14 and 16 years of age, and 64% (n = 67) were aged 17 or older. None of the alleged victims in the cases concerning abuse of unequal power relations were under the age of consent (i.e. 16 years of age).

3.2 | Characteristics of types of crime

Table 1 shows criminal acts divided into violence and sexual offences as defined by the penal code. The data show, across violence and sexual offences, a preponderance of sexual offences, 73.2% (n = 54) involving 76% (n = 79) victims. Additionally, a relatively low number of violence cases, 27.2% (n = 20) with 24% (n = 25) victims. Under the category violence, aggravated abuse and abuse in close relations comprise 40% (n = 8) of the cases in this type of crime.

In total, abuse of unequal power relations is the crime with the highest number of cases.

(n = 15, 20.3%) followed by sexual assault (n = 11, 14.9%), assault (n = 9, 12.2%) and sexual activity involving a child of between 14 and 16 years of age (n = 9, 12.2%).

3.3 | Alleged perpetrators

According to the registration system in STRASAK, offences are recorded as one case with one alleged victims. The registration number in each case refers to one suspect, which means that registered cases with the same number refer to the same suspect. In this sample, the total number of alleged perpetrators is the same as the number of registered cases with a unique registration numbers n = 74. The alleged perpetrator has more than one victim in criminal acts according to four paragraphs, see Table 1. There is no case in this sample in which an alleged perpetrator is registered with the same registration number across the two different criminal types, violence and sexual offences.

3.4 | Judicial process

The judicial process in Norway consists of two stages: the police investigation and the court hearing. Police investigations, including all cases (n = 74) in this study, took an average of 181 days per case. It took an average of 70 days per case from an investigation being

ÅKER AND JOHNSON

completed to prosecutors deciding whether to prosecute. This, however, had a range of between 1 to 475 days. The number of days from a case being registered by the police until a prosecutor's decision to prosecute was made was, on average, 253 days. Moreover, 74% (n = 55) of the 74 cases ended with a decision to prosecute. In the 55 cases which ended with a decision to prosecute, 43 (78%) of the cases were sexual offences, and 12 (22%) were violence cases.

3.5 | Sanctions following prosecution

Table 2 provides an overview of the sanctions for the criminal cases (n = 74) included in this study. The table shows that three cases were appealed. They are included in the table to show that the alleged perpetrator initially had been convicted. The total of eight cases (10.8%) ended with unconditional imprisonment. Seven of the cases involved sexual offences against females and one case involved violence against a male victim. Figure 1 illustrates the types of crime that led to unconditional imprisonment. Sanctions varied from 30 days to 8 years for these eight cases. In three cases, the accused was found guilty of several criminal acts in addition to the offence included in this study. In eight cases, the conviction included criminal injuries compensation, and in five cases, the sentence included a period of probation in addition to suspended sentences. In eight cases involving both sexual abuse and violence, the information about formal sanctions was missing in the data set received from NCIS. At the time information on sanctions was retrieved from NCIS, 47% of the cases had not been closed (n = 35). In the cases not yet closed, six cases (17%) were registered in 2015, 20 cases (57%) in 2016 and nine cases (25.7%) in 2017.

4 | DISCUSSION

The present study describes the characteristics of police-investigated cases, and the formal sanctions following prosecution were

TABLE 2 Formal sanctions in criminal cases

Sentencing	Ν	%
Unconditional imprisonment ^a	8	10.8
Suspended sentence	3	4
Fine	5	6.8
Decision not to prosecute	2	2.7
Appeal	3	4
Acquittal	3	4
Juvenile punishment	2	2.7
Not yet closed	35	47.3
Cased dropped	5	6.8
Missing	8	10.8
Total	74	99.9

^aOne confession led to unconditional imprisonment and criminal injury compensation. Unconditional imprisonment means that the sentence has to be served in prison. JARID

bild-WILEY-

people with disabilities are alleged victims of violence and sexual abuse. The victims of the majority of these cases are young, female adults who have been subjected to sexual offences. To investigate a case, from the case was registered to a decision to prosecute was made, it took the police approximately eight months. A large proportion of the cases were prosecuted, although only one out of ten of these ended with unconditional imprisonment. In light of official crime statistics from Norway, one out of ten is a low number since the crime statistics reveal that one out of four of the prosecuted cases involving sexual abuse and violence ends with unconditional imprisonment (Statistics Norway, 2018a).

Moreover, across the two criminal types against people with disabilities that are discussed in this study (i.e. violence and sexual offences), the most commonly committed crimes were sexual offences. These finding are similar to the results reported in two former studies that use registry data (Hershkowitz et al., 2007; Nixon, 2016) which report that sexual abuse is the most common crime against people with disability. In contrary, two meta-analyses that intend to estimate prevalence and risk of violence revealed that the type of crime adults (Hughes et al., 2012) and children (Jones et al., 2012) with disabilities are most exposed to is violence. These contradictory findings indicate that cohort or cross-sectional studies and studies using registry data describe crime against people with disability differently.

The low number of violence cases in registry data compared with prevalence studies might also reflect a bias in the field. Some studies suggest that there is a tendency in child protection services to overempathize with and be more tolerant of parents who have a child with a disability, especially when it comes to neglect and physical abuse (Taylor et al., 2016). The tendency to over-empathize may lead to fewer cases registered by child protection services and services for people with disabilities, which can result in fewer cases being reported to the police. This bias might partially explain the fewer cases involving violence in registry data. Other explanations might relate to alleged victims being dependent on others to report a crime to the police and prejudiced attitudes about people with disabilities and their lack of credibility within the criminal justice system (Beckene et al., 2017; Murphy et al., 2016).

Furthermore, the results in the present study show that a substantial proportion of the suspects were investigated for violating the paragraph that relates to abusing a relationship of trust and dependent relationships. Similar findings were reported in studies that analyse the relationship between victim and suspect. For example, a Dutch study conducted by Van Den Bergh and Hoekman (2006) reports two-fifths of suspects being a friend or acquaintance. A study from the United States also reports that someone the victim knew well conducted 40% of crimes against people with intellectual disabilities (Harrell, 2012). Similarly, as with sexual offences, aggravated abuse and abuse in close relations involve personal relationships and relationships of trust. In the present study, these two criminal acts, within the category of violence, have the highest number of victims and might add to the knowledge pointing to dependency as a risk factor for victimization.



FIGURE 1 Types of crime leading to unconditional imprisonment. *length of custodial sentences

Furthermore, about one-third of the victims in this study (putting aside the case with 71 alleged victims under 14 years of age) were children under 16 years of age. This finding can indicate that these cases never meet the prerequisites for further investigation. It is of great importance, taking into account our knowledge of typically developed children, their vulnerability and challenges in the criminal justice system (Cashmore, Taylor, & Parkinson, 2017), that we acquire more knowledge about children with disabilities meeting with the system. The need for more knowledge is also applicable when it comes to gender differences. This study alludes to the understanding that women are more vulnerable for sexual exploitation than men. However, these findings vary across studies (Hughes et al., 2011) and more research is needed to explore these conflicting results.

The overall results show that 74% of the cases end up with a prosecution. Similar findings are reported in a study from the Netherlands, where 72% of the cases were sent to the public prosecutor (Van Den Bergh & Hoekman, 2006). These findings indicate that the judicial process and police investigation end with a decision to prosecute. However, the general picture in Norway, despite the increased attention towards fighting against violence and sexual offences, shows that few cases are investigated and even fewer lead to prosecution (Statistics Norway, 2018a, 2018b). The high number of prosecutions in this study must be seen in relation to the sample which included only cases in which a decision on further investigation had been made. Consequently, the results say nothing about the possible discrepancy between reported cases, investigated cases and prosecutions, but might indicate that investigations of cases involving a person with disabilities have strong evidence, which in turn leads to a decision to prosecute.

The present study is one of few that use national register data to describe the characteristics and the judicial process for people with disabilities who are victims of violence and sexual abuse. There are, however, some limitations that should be mentioned. In this sample, the Criminal Procedure Act refers to people with intellectual disability and people with a disability in need of similar support. The understanding of this definition is unclear. Hence, the nature of the disability can, therefore, range from persons with physical impairments without cognitive impairment to persons with a moderate to severe intellectual disability. As a result, the findings in this study can represent a very heterogeneous group and point back to a common methodological challenge highlighted in this research field. Despite the methodological challenges, it has been argued that more research must be carried out in this field. Furthermore, data were collected in a narrow time span, and the large number of cases not yet closed (47.3%) might have been different if the time span had been extended. On the other hand, official crime statistics in Norway show that about 50% of violence and sexual offence cases remain unsolved (Statistics Norway, 2018a). The number of unsolved cases in the crime statistics and cases not yet closed in the current study might be interpreted as similar numbers and can indicate that time would not affect the number of cases not yet closed.

The results from the current study add new information to the research field by presenting a national overview of police-investigated criminal cases against people with disability. Access to the Norwegian criminal data record based on victim's disability status and type of crime makes this study unique. Findings that stand out are the low frequency of cases involving violence in the register data. This is alarming, in the light of our knowledge of the heightened risk of this type of crime against people with disabilities. The absence of cases relating to children with disabilities is also of great concern. Further research is, therefore, needed to address these important issues to be able to secure the rule of law for this vulnerable group.
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors wish to thank Børge Strømgren and Tonje Gundersen for their helpful guidance and Svein Christian Grendal, Thomas Hauge, Eyvind Aavatsmark Berg, Marit Sulander, Maja Pedersen Kirkerød and Nina Elisabeth Holth at NCIS for their assistance with data collection. This project has been made possible by the Norwegian ExtraFoundation for Health and Rehabilitation. National Criminal Investigation Service, Oslo, Norway, provided us with data from the police electronic registration system. This project has been made possible by the Norwegian Extra Foundation for Health and Rehabilitation. The National Criminal Investigation Service, Oslo, Norway, provided us with data from the police electronic registration system.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

No conflict of interest.

ORCID

Tone H. Åker ២ https://orcid.org/0000-0001-6217-7694

REFERENCES

- Beckene, T., Forrester-Jones, R., & Murphy, G. H. (2017). Experiences of going to court: Witnesses with intellectual disabilities and their carers speak up. Journal of Applied Research in Intellectual Disabilities, 31, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1111/jar.12334
- Cashmore, J., Taylor, A., & Parkinson, P. (2017). The characteristics of reports to the police of child sexual abuse and the likelihood of cases proceeding to prosecution after delays in reporting. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 74, 49–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2017.07.006
- Cederborg, A.-C., & Lamb, M. (2008). Interviewing alleged victims with intellectual disabilities. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*, 52, 49–58. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2788.2007.00976.x
- Fogden, B. C., Thomas, S. D. M., Daffern, M., & Ogloff, J. R. P. (2016). Crime and victimisation in people with intellectual disability: A case linkage study. *BMC Psychiatry*, 16, 2–9. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s12888-016-0869-7
- Fry, D., Lannen, P., Vanderminden, J., Cameron, A., & Casey, T. (2017). Child protection and disability. Practical challenges for research. Edingburgh: Dunedin Academic Press.
- Harrell, E. (2012). *Crime against persons with disabilities*, 2009–2011. Retrieved from Center for victim research repository website https ://www.bjs.gov/content/pub/pdf/capd0911st.pdf
- Hershkowitz, I., Lamb, M. E., & Horowitz, D. (2007). Victimization of children with disabilities. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 77, 629–635. https://doi.org/10.1037/0002-9432.77.4.629
- Hughes, K., Bellis, M. A., Jones, L., Wood, S., Bates, G., Eckley, L., ... Officer, A. (2012). Prevalence and risk of violence against adults with disabilities: A systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. *The Lancet*, 379, 1621–1629. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0140-6736(11)61851-5
- Hughes, R. B., Lund, E. M., Gabrielli, J., Powers, L. E., & Curry, M. A. (2011). Prevalence of interpersonal violence against community-living adults

with disabilities: A literature review. Rehabilitation Psychology, 56, 302-319. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0025620

Jones, L., Bellis, M. A., Wood, S., Hughes, K., McCoy, E., Eckley, L., ... Officer, A. (2012). Prevalence and risk of violence against children with disabilities: A systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. *The Lancet*, 380, 899–907. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0140-6736(12)60692-8

ARID

- Kvam, M. H. (2000). Is sexual abuse of children with disabilities disclosed? a retrospective analysis of child disability and the likelihood of sexual abuse among those attending Norwegian hospitals. *Child Abuse and Neglect*, 24, 1073–1048. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0145-2134(00)00159-9
- Murphy, G. H., Carr, A., Linehan, C., O'Reilly, G., Noonon Walsh, P., & McEvoy, J. (2016). Sexual relationships and adults with intellectual disabilities. In A. Carr, C. Linehan, A. O'Reilly, P. N. Walsh & J. McEvoy (Eds.), The handbook of intellectual and clinical psychology and practice (pp. 731–759). London, UK: Routledge.
- Nettelbeck, T., & Wilson, C. (2001). Criminal victimization of persons with mental retardation: The influence of interpersonal competence on risk. *International Review of Research in Mental Retardation*, 24, 137–169. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0074-7750(01)80008-2
- Nixon, H. (2016). Intellectual Disability, Criminal offending and victimization. Unpublished doctoral dissertation. Monash University. Australia.
- Olafson, E. (2012). A call for field-relevant research about child forensic interviewing for child protection. *Journal of Child Sexual Abuse*, 21, 109–129. https://doi.org/10.1080/10538712.2012.642469
- Petersilia, J. R. (2001). Crime victims with developmental disabilities. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, 28, 655-694. https://doi. org/10.1177/009385480102800601
- Pillay, A. L. (2012). The rape survivor with an intellectual disability vs. the court. South African Journal of Psychology, 42, 312–322.
- Platt, L., Powers, L., Leotti, S., Hughes, R. B., Robinson-Whelen, S., Osburn, S., ... Lund, E. M. (2017). The role of gender in violence experienced by adults with developmental disabilities. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 32, 101–129. https://doi.org/10.1177/08862 60515585534
- Statistics Norway (2018a). Offences investigated. Retrieved from https ://www.ssb.no/en/sosiale-forhold-og-kriminalitet/statistikker/lovbr udde
- Statistics Norway (2018b). Offences reported to the police. Retrieved from https://www.ssb.no/en/sosiale-forhold-og-kriminalitet/statistikker/ lovbrudda
- Taylor, J., Stalker, K., & Stewart, A. (2016). Disabled children and the child protection system: a cause for concern. *Child Abuse Review*, 25, 60– 73. https://doi.org/10.1002/car.2386
- Van Den Bergh, P. M., & Hoekman, J. (2006). Sexual offences in police reports and court dossiers: a case-file study. *Journal of Applied Research in Intellectual Disabilities*, 19, 374–382. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1468-3148.2006.00291.x
- Wilson, C., & Brewer, N. (1992). The incidence of criminal victimisation of individuals with an intellectual disability. *Australian Psychologist*, 27, 114–117. https://doi.org/10.1080/00050069208257591

How to cite this article: Åker TH, Johnson MS. Sexual abuse and violence against people with intellectual disability and physical impairments: Characteristics of police-investigated cases in a Norwegian national sample. *J Appl Res Intellect Disabil.* 2020;33:139–145. https://doi.org/10.1111/jar.12656

Chapter 4. Investigative interviews of people with disabilities

The witness testimony of an alleged victim is an important and influential piece of evidence in a criminal case (Bjerknes & Fahsing, 2018). Testimonies can be particularly crucial in cases of physical and sexual abuse, as these crimes often lack physical evidence and eyewitnesses (Pipe et al., 2013). Scholars have for decades questioned how well a person can recall memories and provide accurate information about past events. A witness's competence to tell the truth and provide an accurate account is even more complicated where the witness has a disability, particularly a cognitive impairment. In this chapter I will present an overview of topics that are central to investigative interviews of people with disabilities (PWD). These include memory features, suggestibility, and language and social skills, and how these affect PWD performance as an eyewitness. An outline of best-practice recommendations, the use of protocols, special measures and regulations in the Norwegian jurisdiction is given at the end of the chapter.

One of the first studies addressing people with intellectual disabilities (PWID) as witnesses is Gudjonsson and Gunn (1982). They published a case report of a young girl who had an IQ score in the moderate intellectual disability range (IQ score 39-49), who had been sexually abused. The judge referred her to a psychological examination to assess her capability to report the incident accurately. Tests carried out during the examination assessed whether she was able to respond correctly to open-ended questions (e.g. tell me what happened) and whether suggestive questions (e.g. you didn't say no, did you?) influenced her report. She provided a reasonably accurate report when asked open-ended questions, but was heavily influenced by suggestive questions that anticipated or suggested an expected answer. This study, even though it was a case study and was conducted nearly 40 years ago, indicated that PWID could provide accurate accounts where asked the right type of questions. Studies published since then have brought further optimism to PWIDs' ability to provide an accurate and reliable account.

A prejudiced understanding of PWIDs' credibility has led to increased research into their competence as witnesses. Studies published in the late 1990s, for example, examined the performance of children with intellectual disabilities (CWID) in recalling witnessed events (Dent, 1986; Henry & Gudjonsson, 1999; Jens et al., 1990). These studies assessed the relation between

question types and accuracy, and revealed that CWID provided less complete and less accurate accounts than chronological age-matched control groups. No consistent pattern of question and report accuracy was, however, found across these early studies, this inconsistency leading to discussions on research design (Henry & Gudjonsson, 1999). Scholars argued that studies should, to provide a better understanding of the factors that can influence CWIDs' ability to provide accurate accounts, be based on children participating in or observing an event, and include both mental age-matched and chronological age-matched control groups (Agnew & Powell, 2004; Henry & Gudjonsson, 1999). Later studies used both mental age-matched and chronological age-matched control groups when assessing accuracy and question types, more robust research design achieving more consistent patterns. CWID, when responding to open questions in interviews, are shown to be as accurate as their mental age-matched and chronological age-matched peers on a witnessed event (Agnew & Powell, 2004; Gudjonsson & Henry, 2003). They, however, often provide less information than their chronological age-matched peers (Agnew & Powell, 2004; Brown et al., 2017; Brown et al., 2015; Gudjonsson & Henry, 2003; Hershkowitz, 2018).

The consensus today is that PWID can be reliable witnesses and that their accuracy is comparable to that of mental age-matched peers (Hershkowitz, 2018; Lamb et al., 2018a). Disabilities that involve cognitive impairments such as intellectual disabilities (ID) and autism will, however, require developmentally sensitive communication strategies if accurate accounts are to be secured (Brown et al., 2017; Maras & Bowler, 2014). The psychological factors that affect the accuracy of eyewitness performance are related to cognitive functioning. These include memory capacity, language skills, personal traits (suggestibility, compliance, acquiescence) and mental state (anxiety, depression, post-traumatic stress disorder) (Gudjonsson, 2003). Psychological factors that affect accuracy are debated in all studies that examine how the credibility of a witness is perceived. Assessing a person's credibility is even more complicated when the witness has a cognitive impairment. Areas which represent a challenge for people with cognitive impairments, as witnesses in criminal cases, include memory, suggestibility, language and social skills. These are briefly presented below.

Memory in people with intellectual disabilities and autism

Knowledge about a person's ability to accurately remember experienced events is an important aspect of witness accounts, and has been studied and debated. A person's memory, in terms of their ability to remember and to report accurate information about experienced events, is referred to as *episodic memory*. Episodic memory relates to a number of other memory processes (Baddeley et al., 2009), and is discussed explicitly in the context of an investigative interview (LaRooy et al., 2011). Episodic memory is, in turn, related to other processes such as working *memory*, this memory described as being a model of three components, 1) the phonological loop, 2) the visuospatial sketchpad and 3) the central executive (Baddeley et al., 2009). These three components can be explained as involving the storage and encoding of information, and as controlling and regulating the processes involved (Baddeley et al., 2009; Schuchardt et al., 2010). Working memory is important in language and comprehension skill learning processes, and is a core component in the development and adaption of investigative interview techniques for PWID (Brown et al., 2017). Henry and MacLean (2002), for example, tested and compared working memory in three groups of children. One group had mild to moderate intellectual disabilities (General Conceptual Ability = 57.2, SD = 11.7, range = 40-70) and ages of 11-12. The next group was made up of chronological age-matched peers with average intellectual ability (General Conceptual Ability =103.8, SD = 9.3, Range = 84-123). The third group was made up of mental age-matched peers of 7-8 years of age and average intellectual abilities (General Conceptual Ability = 101.0, SD = 12.3, range 82 - 136). The results revealed that the performance of children with intellectual disabilities was significantly lower than the chronological age-matched group. Children with ID, however, performed as well as their mental age-matched peers. Another study assessed working memory functions in children with different degrees of intellectual disability (Schuchardt et al., 2010). This showed a relation between working memory and degree of intellectual disability. Children with mild ID performed better than children with moderate ID. Both groups, however, performed as well as the mental age-matched control group, but less well than children with average intellectual abilities (Schuchardt et al., 2010). Such studies have shown that PWID have impairments in the central memory processes that are involved in the recall of experienced events, and that these impairments are not found in the general population. They also show that mental age is a suitable parameter when discussing PWID memory capacity (Henry, 2001; Henry et al., 2010; Henry & MacLean, 2002; Schuchardt et al., 2010).

People with autism (PWA) may have a different memory profile than PWID. The memory processes that are considered to be diminished in PWA are memory of faces, and prospective and associative memory of names and people (Bordignon et al., 2015). Autobiographical memory of personally experienced events, including episodic memories, also seem to be impaired in PWA (Bordignon et al., 2015; Soper et al., 2018). Impairment of autobiographical memory is, to some degree, explained by PWAs' lack of understanding of social communication and interaction, and by a diminished understanding of self-identity (Crane & Maras, 2018). All these factors are key elements in the diagnostic criteria for autism (World Health Organization, 2019).

Memory deficits found in PWID and PWA that relate to language, communication and social competence will affect their ability to report experienced events. Such deficits are challenging when PWD are being questioned as witnesses in criminal cases. These also are an essential element of research, into the development of knowledge on PWDs' ability to be a credible witness.

Suggestibility

One reason why PWD are seen to be unreliable witnesses is suggestibility and the inability of PWD to resist interrogative pressure such as negative feedback and suggestive questions. This includes the interviewer presenting information not revealed by the interviewee (Ridley et al., 2013). Studies have, however, shown inconsistency in the suggestibility findings and differences between typically developing children and children with intellectual disability. Some studies report no differences between the groups (Henry & Gudjonsson, 1999; Robinson & McGuire, 2006). Others show a greater risk of suggestibility for children with ID than chronological age-matched children (Henry & Gudjonsson, 2003, 2007; Young et al., 2003). There are, in general, few studies of adults with disabilities. One study that compared children and adults with disabilities found that adults with disabilities were slightly more vulnerable to suggestibility due to a significantly poorer immediate recall task score (Gudjonsson & Henry, 2003). There were large differences in the suggestibility scores of the adults who participated, which indicates that immediate recall varies among adults with ID.

A recent meta-analytic review found PWID to be more susceptible to suggestibility and false memories than the general population (Griego et al., 2019). It also found that PWA with

average intellectual functioning showed a lower suggestibility and were less likely to develop false memories than the general population (Griego et al., 2019). This study supports the notion that PWID are susceptible to interrogative pressure, while PWA might be more resistant.

More recent research includes social and psychological factors into the definition of suggestibility, which are in addition to cognitive mechanisms such as memory (Ceci et al., 2016). Social and psychological factors can include the application of pressure to misreport despite unaffected memory processes. This can be due to an eagerness to please others and agreeing or saying yes to a question regardless of content. Explanations of PWID and PWA eagerness to please and to agree with suggestions, are based on arguments such as dependency on others, lack of conversational experience, inadequate or poor social skills and a desire to hide one's limitations (Clare & Gudjonsson, 1995; Finlay & Lyons, 2002; Sigelman et al., 1981). The detrimental effect of social and psychological factors such as these can, however, be reduced. Research has demonstrated that using specific question types, such as open-ended questions, diminishes the risk of reporting inaccurate information during an interview (Berg et al., 2019; Brown et al., 2015).

Language and communication skills

Language and communication deficits are a vital part of the PWID and PWA diagnostic criteria (World Health Organization, 2019). One of the main components of language is receptive language, which relates to understanding and comprehending speech. Another main component is expressive language, which relates to the production of speech and communication (Sigafoos et al., 2016). Communication is a general term which involves the sending and receipt of a message. It can also include other communication modes such as sign, picture and body language (Braithwaite & Thompson, 2000; Sigafoos et al., 2016). Participants in PWID and PWA investigative interview studies have verbal language and communication skills. The challenges that language and communication impairments present in interviewing PWID and PWA and that have been discussed, relate to verbal language. More knowledge on investigative interviews that use other language modes are required, but is beyond the scope of this thesis.

PWID and PWA have a range of language and communication deficits. Each PWID or PWA entering an investigative interview therefore may have a unique set of strengths and weaknesses. Mental age is often used to understand the level of PWID and PWA language and communications skills (Carr & O'Reilly, 2016), which is a feasible measure. Studies of PWID and PWA language and communication profiles, however, show a large variability within a diagnostic group (Abbeduto et al., 2007; Matson et al., 2012; Roberts et al., 2007). This variability includes differences in receptive and expressive language skills, and the ability to use advanced vocabulary but not understand the meaning of what is being communicated (Sigafoos et al., 2016). Using mental age as an indicator of language abilities may not, however, reveal these discrepancies. Highly developed expressive language skills combined with poor receptive language skills may, for example, lead an interviewer to use language that is too complicated. Studies that assess the linguistic complexity used when questioning children show that complex language influences children's accounts (Andrews & Lamb, 2017). This includes children being more uncertain, having fewer responses and giving more self-contradictory answers (Andrews & Lamb, 2017). There are no studies that explicitly examine linguistic complexity when questioning PWID and PWA. There is a relation between intellectual functioning, language and communication skills, and we therefore anticipate similar challenges in these groups (Sigafoos et al., 2016).

Best practice recommendations when interviewing people with disabilities

Investigations of violence against and the sexual abuse of people with disabilities face the same challenges as any other physical and sexual abuse case. Medical evidence is often inconclusive, and there is a lack of other technical evidence (Pipe et al., 2013). This means that the investigative interview and the information revealed in this interview may be the most important evidence on which a decision to investigate further is based. A fair amount of research has therefore been conducted into how investigative interviews of PWD are performed, to allow recommendations to be made and procedures to be developed that can enhance the quality of an account, and strengthen it as evidence in the legal context.

The consensus today among researchers and practitioners is that PWD can provide accurate accounts (Lamb et al., 2018a). The type of questions used in interviews, however, affects the credibility of the information revealed (Brown & Lamb, 2015; Brown et al., 2017). Gudjonsson and Gunn (1982) suggested, as described earlier, that open-ended questions produce

more reliable answers that contain fewer errors. Suggestive questions that, for example, introduce the witness to information and then ask a question related to that information, were difficult for the witness to answer and resulted in incorrect answers. Later studies have elaborated on these assumptions and the relationship between types of question, the accuracy of the information revealed and the level of intellectual functioning.

Agnew and Powell (2004) assessed the influence of intellectual functioning on a child's recall of an experienced event, when asked free-recall and cued-recall questions (e.g. Tell me more about the car) and forced-choice questions (e.g. Was the car red or blue). They compared the accuracy of the responses of children with moderate and mild ID with those of typically developing children, matched by mental age and chronological age. The results showed that children with moderate ID recalled less correct information than the other groups when asked cued-recall and forced-choice questions. Children with mild ID recalled more correct information than children with moderate ID, but less correct information than the typically developing children, all children being asked the same questions. These results suggest that intellectual functioning influences the accuracy of the information revealed. The accuracy of the information was not, however, significant across groups when free recall or open-ended questions were asked.

The relationship between intellectual functioning, question types and children's recall in an interview has been more recently addressed in a study conducted by Brown et al. (2017). The results reveal that children with moderate ID were asked more questions. They were also asked more option-posing questions than typically developing children and children with mild ID. This indicates that intellectual functioning affects the type of questions asked during an interview. Studies have reported that PWID recall less information and are asked more suggestive questions such as option-posing questions. Several studies have, however, shown that response accuracy to open-ended questions is high regardless of intellectual functioning (Gudjonsson & Henry, 2003; Henry & Gudjonsson, 1999, 2007). One of the first studies that reported a high level of accuracy regardless of intellectual functioning was Henry and Gudjonsson (1999). They interviewed children with moderate and mild ID and typically developing children who were their mental age and chronological age-matched peers. All the children who participated watched a staged event, accuracy being assessed in terms of the proportion of correct information and total recall. This revealed that children with ID were as accurate as their peers when responding to open-ended questions. The children with ID, however, performed less well than other groups when asked misleading questions (closed yes/no questions). This indicates that children with ID were more vulnerable to suggestibility. Similar results (high level of accuracy to open-ended questions and vulnerability to suggestive questions) has been seen in later studies that assess investigative interviews of people with ID (Bowles & Sharman, 2014a, 2014b; Brown et al., 2017; Brown et al., 2015; Gudjonsson & Henry, 2003; Henry & Gudjonsson, 2007; Lamb et al., 2018a; Morrison et al., 2019; Ternes & Yuille, 2008; Wyman et al., 2018).

These studies form the research knowledge on which best-practice recommendations for interviewing PWID are based. It is furthermore recommended that PWA are questioned in a similar way to PWID, even though they may not have an intellectual disability. This recommendation is based on research into PWA witness testimonies that indicate high PWA accuracy to open-ended questions, and a PWA vulnerability to inaccurate responses when asked misleading or suggestive questions (Almeida et al., 2018; Maras & Bowler, 2014). The recommendation to use open-ended questions and avoid suggestive questions also apply to the interviewing of people in general. The interviewer, however, needs to know how disability and intellectual functioning affect communicative interaction, and the information revealed in an interview. One variable is an awareness of question types. Other aspects include the use of simple language, shorter sentences, lengthy pauses and a focus on one concept in each question. These may play an even more crucial role in increasing the ability of PWD to report accurately (Cooper & Northon, 2017; Lamb et al., 2018a).

Protocols when interviewing people with disabilities

Protocols have been developed based on the research described above, to enhance interviewer behaviour. Studies have shown that following a protocol helps the interviewer employ recommended interview practices, this leading for example to an increase in the use of open-ended questions and a reduction in the number of suggestive questions (Benia et al., 2015). A protocol can also help the interviewer follow general recommendations such as introducing themselves, building rapport with the interviewee, outlining ground rules and explaining the purpose of the interview (Lamb et al., 2018e). A number of protocols have been developed such as, Achieving Best Evidence (Home Office, 2011), Extended Forensic Interview (Carnes et al., 1999) and The National Institute of Child Health and Human Development (NICHD) protocol. The NICHD protocol is (to date) the only protocol that is based on extensive research conducted across a number of countries and jurisdictions. It is considered to be the 'gold standard' of child and PWD interviews (La Rooy, 2015). The NICHD protocol was developed for questioning children. Several studies have, however, shown that it is equally beneficial in interviewing PWD (Almeida et al., 2018; Brown et al., 2018; Brown et al., 2017; Brown et al., 2015).

Interview protocols have been shown to improve the use of recommended questioning strategies (Lamb et al., 2018e). A criticism that has been raised of protocols is, however, the sole focus on enhancing cognitive processes, and the lack of social support during the interview (Gamst, 2005; Langballe, 2007; Saywitz et al., 2015). Focusing too much in an investigative interview on cognitive processes, can be at the expense of other variables that influence the interaction between the interviewer and the interviewee (Saywitz et al., 2015). This includes factors such as body-language, empathy, eye contact, tone of voice and personality. Interviewer personal characteristics such as emotional intelligence, agreeableness, cognitive abilities and self-control are also shown to have an effect on interviewer behaviour (Lafontaine & Cyr, 2017; Melinder & Gilstrap, 2009). Emotional intelligence seems to improve adherence to best practice recommendations and to protocols in interviews of children in a sexual abuse context. This is, in turn, relates to emphatic behaviour (Lafontaine & Cyr, 2017). Empathy in terms of the interviewer's ability to build rapport and provide support during an interview, has recently been in focus (Dando & Oxburgh, 2016; Jakobsen, 2019; Risan et al., 2020; Saywitz et al., 2019). It has also been implemented with success in the revised NICHD protocol (Ahern et al., 2014; Blasbalg et al., 2018; Blasbalg et al., 2019; Hershkowitz et al., 2017). The revised NICHD protocol now includes recommendations on how to provide support during an interview (Hershkowitz et al., 2017; Lamb et al., 2018b). The recommendations involve the use of strategies such as using the interviewee's name, offering help and acknowledging that the conversation is challenging. Studies in which the revised NICHD protocol is used show that increased supportiveness can reduce reluctance and increase informativeness (Blasbalg et al., 2019). Similar supportive strategies are described in studies of how Norwegian police officers encounter traumatised victims (Jakobsen, 2019; Risan et al., 2016; Risan et al., 2020). Studies show that securing the witness's well-being by acknowledging the witness's emotions is important in an interview, and facilitates communication between the witness and the interviewer (Saywitz et al., 2019). It seems clear that supportive interviewer behaviour is as important in a qualitatively good interview as the well-established notion of question types.

Another challenge that is evident in studies of the benefits of using protocols, is that interviewers can increase the level of recommended questions, but that their skills levels drop over time (Dion & Cyr, 2008; Lamb et al., 2018d; Lamb, Sternberg, et al., 2002a). Studies suggest that ongoing feedback and supervision is therefore necessary if a high level of recommended questioning strategies is to be maintained (Lamb, Sternberg, et al., 2002b; Powell, 2008). I will therefore provide a broader discussion of this topic in chapter 9, based on the complexity of conducting investigative interviews of PWID and the low maintenance of interviewer skills after training and supervision.

Special measures for victims with disabilities in physical and sexual abuse cases

Special measures to secure the rule of law for vulnerable witnesses such as people with disabilities (PWD), are implemented world-wide. Measures include the use of video-recorded evidence in-chief, the use of organisations such as Barnahus, giving evidence in private, the use of special communication aids and the presence of a supportive adult during legal processes. Special measures vary across jurisdictions. They are, however, all designed to improve the reliability of the evidence and the experience of the complainant within the judicial process, without this compromising the fairness of the trial for the accused (Home Office, 2011; Westera et al., 2020). Structural changes and new regulations that describe and implement special measures have raised some concerns (Westera et al., 2013). One concern, based on data from New Zealand, is whether measures such as the use of video-recorded evidence of chief, secures the adversarial justice system (Westera et al., 2013). Legal professionals were concerned that video-recorded evidence would limit the defendant's right to question the information revealed in the recorded video. A study from Australia, however, shows that legal professionals are today satisfied with and have accepted the implementation of video-recorded evidence in investigative interviews of children (Westera et al., 2020). They furthermore recognise that this reduces witnesses stress, and enhances the completeness of the account. Similar opinions on video recorded evidence in the judicial process of vulnerable witnesses are reported by legal

professionals in Norway (Olsen et al., 2018). Few studies have assessed special measures, and even fewer have addressed special measures for PWID. We can, however, anticipate that the use of video-recorded evidence is considered to strengthen both children's and PWID's rule of law, as jurisdictions around the world use this type of measure today.

The most ground-breaking special measure implemented in Norway is the use of Barnahus (Children's House). Barnahus is a part of Norway's judicial system, its designated aim being to facilitate the investigation process in cases of sexual abuse and violence that involve vulnerable witnesses. Such a large structural change, which includes the involvement of other professions such as social workers and health professionals in the investigative processes, raised discussions of who were best suited to conduct investigative interviews of children and PWID (Justis- og beredskapsdepartementet, 2012). Psychologists advocated that they were trained to talk to children and so, based on their knowledge of developmental psychology, had the skills required to conduct such interviews (Justis- og beredskapsdepartementet, 2012). Police officers, on the other hand, were concerned that the goals of an investigative interview are different from those of a therapeutic conversation. Knowledge of previous criminal cases had also revealed that false testimonies had been obtained from children where therapeutic techniques had been used in interviews (Justis- og beredskapsdepartementet, 2012; Lamb et al., 2018c). A broad examination lead by experts in this field concluded and recommended that specially trained police officers should conduct investigative interviews of children and PWID in Norway (Justis- og beredskapsdepartementet, 2012). Other countries such as Finland have chosen another approach, such interviews being conducted by specially trained psychologists (Korkman et al., 2017). Evaluation reports today show that there is a fruitful cooperation between police officers and Barnahus employees in Norway, and that Barnahus is a well-functioning part of the justice system in cases involving children (Stefansen et al., 2012). PWID needs are not known, as evaluation reports and studies that assess how Barnahus has affected investigation processes in Norway, have not included information about this specific group (Bakketeig et al., 2012; Stefansen et al., 2012).

Other special measures such as special communication aids, which includes the use of intermediaries and supportive adults, can be used in Norway. These measures are, however, far more common in countries such as the UK (Olsen et al., 2018; Wurtzel & Marchant, 2017). There have, so far, only been a few studies that have addressed the use of intermediaries as a

special measure in investigation processes that involve PWD (Henry et al., 2017; Hepner et al., 2015). The role of an intermediary is to ensure that communication with vulnerable witnesses in a police interview is as 'complete, accurate and coherent as possible' (Cooper, 2014). Intermediaries are psychologists, speech therapists or those with a similar education. Evaluations carried out in England and Wales have shown that the use of intermediaries has had a positive effect, and therefore are widely used (Cooper, 2014). Other countries such as Australia have argued for the need of a similar Intermediary Scheme to support PWID during investigative interviews (Hepner et al., 2015). One study compared the affect of the use of intermediaries on the accounts of children with autism with the accounts of typically developing children (Henry et al., 2017). This study did not support the positive affect found in evaluation reports on the witness accounts of children with autism. Typically developing children, however, seemed to benefit in this study from the use of an intermediary (Henry et al., 2017). This may indicate that the intermediary scheme may be beneficial to some extent. More research into this is, however, needed. There is a lack of studies that assess how this special measure affects the PWID's ability to provide a more complete, accurate and coherent account.

Another language and communication aid used to facilitate memory and the completeness and accuracy of PWID accounts, is the use of drawings. There are few studies that assess drawings as an aid to PWID in investigative interviews, but also in the field in general. Some studies have assessed drawings as enhancing witness information retrieval in typically developing children and children with autism, the results also showing that this technique may be beneficial for children with autism (Mattison et al., 2015; Mattison et al., 2018). The results, however, also show small differences in mean accuracy scores between drawing conditions and control conditions, and can be a reason why other studies do not report the same benefits for children with autism (Henry et al., 2017). We can anticipate that PWID will also benefit from such aids, despite the lack of studies of PWID. Studies of PWA and older witnesses have, however, shown that drawing can assist memory retrieval (Dando, 2013; Dando et al., 2020; Mattison et al., 2018). A question that remains to be answered is whether the so far small positive benefits of using such aids outweighs the negative aspects of the quality of testimonies as judged in a court of law. Despite the lack of robust evidence and scholarly discussions of the special measures implemented for PWID, the increased focus on their special needs must be said to have had a positive effect (Cooper, 2018).

Regulations for investigative interviews of people with disabilities in Norway

Jurisdictions in countries such as England and Wales acknowledged, as early as 1999, that vulnerable witnesses such as children and people with disabilities (PWD) required special measures when progressing through the judicial system (Cooper & Northon, 2017). The new Penal Code introduced in Norway in 2015 therefore also introduced major changes to the judicial process, in sexual abuse and violence cases that involve vulnerable witnesses. Important changes included changing responsibility for investigative interviews from the court to the police, and implementing mandatory use of Barnahus (Children's house) when interviewing children and PWD. Barnahus is a part of Norway's judicial system, and is responsible for facilitating the legal process in investigative interviews of children and PWD who are suspected victims of physical or sexual abuse. Barnahus staff are responsible for ensuring that children and PWD receive the support they require before, during and after an interview. This support includes providing adapted information to the interviewee, cooperating with the police during the interview to ensure that the questions asked are at an appropriate cognitive level, and assessing the provision of necessary health care services to the alleged victim (Politidirektoratet et al., 2016).

Additional changes implemented by the new penal code include that interviews of vulnerable witnesses are required to be conducted by specially trained police officers, and that video-recorded interviews are accepted in court as evidence-in-chief. The Criminal Procedure Act stipulates that vulnerable witnesses must be interviewed by specially trained police officers, and acknowledges the complexity of interviewing children and adults who require special measures. In Norway, a specially trained police officer has a Bachelor degree in Police Studies, and has completed a two-level formal education in police interviewing called KREATIV (based on the British Peace Model for investigative interviews) and a special educational program that specifically addresses investigative interviews of children and PWD (Jakobsen et al., 2016). A model called The Sequential Interview model (SI) has been developed in Norway for interviewing vulnerable witnesses, and was implemented in 2015 (Langballe & Davik, 2017).

The Sequential Interview model

All investigative interviews of alleged victims in vulnerable groups, including preschool children and PWD, use an investigative interview method that was developed in 2012 by a group that included police investigators from the National Criminal Investigation Service (NCIS), a psychologist, and a leader of one of the Barnahus (Justis- og beredskapsdepartementet, 2012; Langballe & Davik, 2017). The Sequential Interview (SI) model is, according to the developers (Langballe & Davik, 2017), a revised version of the Extended Forensic Interview model (EFI) which was developed by the National Children's Advocacy Center (Carnes et al., 2001; Carnes et al., 1999), and was designed to meet the needs of children who are reluctant to reveal abuse where there are strong physical indications that abuse has occurred (Carnes et al., 2001; Carnes et al., 1999). The SI model emphasises preparation prior to the interview, including interdisciplinary collaboration and meetings with legal participants and other professionals. The use of extensive breaks between sessions and the use of props and toys during the interview, are also highlighted as being important features of the SI model (Langballe & Davik, 2017).

The SI model was inspired by the EFI model, but is also based on the Dialogical Communication Method (DCM), which is the standard model for the investigative interviewing of children in Norway (Gamst, 2017; Gamst & Langballe, 2004). Table 2 shows that DCM is divided into seven phases and shows the specific aims or objectives of each phase (Gamst, 2017).

Table 2

The Dialogical Communication Model

Phase	Aim/objective		
1. The preparatory phase	Reduce stress and prepare the interviewer and the interviewee for the interview		
2. The rapport phase	Establish contact between the interviewer and the interviewee		
3. The preliminary phase	The interviewer starts to motivate the child to talk. Explains the rules for the conversation		
4. Introduction to the focused subject	Introduces the focused theme		
5. Free narrative	Obtain as much information as possible based on the interviewee's spontaneous speech		
6. The Probing phase	Collect more details about the interviewee's experiences		
7. Closing the interview	End the interview in a positive manner		
Note. The illustration of the model is add	unted from Gamst 2017		

Note. The illustration of the model is adapted from Gamst 2017.

The SI model and the DCM model use the same structure. The SI model, however, features breaks and facilitates collaboration between the interviewer and Barnahus staff during breaks. The description of the SI model shows that interviews should consist of three sessions with breaks during and between each session. The number of sessions and breaks is flexible in the SI model, and are set by the interviewer in consultation with the police lawyer and Barnahus counsellor. The first scheduled break takes place after the third phase of the interview and usually lasts for 45-60 minutes. A final break of five to ten minutes is taken before the interview ends, to provide the legal representatives with time to formulate any remaining questions that the interviewer wishes to ask the interviewee. The SI model also encourages the use of props such as puzzles, drawings, books and other objects, to draw the interviewee into talking. The props can also be used to determine the interviewee's knowledge of abstract concepts such as colours, shapes and quantities (Langballe & Davik, 2017). The Norwegian SI model appears to have no written protocol. One recent publication analyses investigative interviews of typically developing preschool children in which the SI model was used (Baugerud et al., 2020). No studies in Norway have, however, analysed investigative interviews of PWD. Nor have any studies been carried out to evaluate whether the SI model can improve questioning strategies in the interviewing of this group. The study in the next chapter therefore was designed to address these questions. It is the first study in Norway to analyse real-life investigative interviews of PWD.

Chapter 5. Interviewing alleged victims with intellectual disabilities and autism: A field study of police-investigated cases of physical and sexual abuse in a Norwegian national sample

Tone H. Åker and Miriam S. Johnson OsloMet – Oslo Metropolitan University

Department of Behavioural Sciences, OsloMet - Oslo Metropolitan University

Published in Journal of Intellectual Disability Research

DOI: https://doi.org/10.1111/jir.12771

used in investigative interviews of these groups of

alleged victims. Methods A national sample of transcribed investigative interviews (N = 96) of alleged victims with mild ID (n = 48, age 5–70 years old), moderate ID (n = 18, age 14-43 years old) and autism (n = 16, 16)age 5-50 years old) was analysed.

Background People with intellectual disabilities

physical and sexual abuse. This study uses

(IDs) or autism are at great risk of being victims of

transcriptions of real-life investigative interviews to

examine the interview techniques (e.g. question type)

Results The study shows a preponderance of alleged sexual offences (70.7%) and reveals that open-ended questions account for only 2.6% of the total number of questions asked. The interviewers relied heavily on yes/no (53.4%) and directive questions (32.2%). Suggestive questions (8.6%) were frequently used. *Conclusions* The use of question type varied considerably within and across the diagnostic group. The study reveals the need for a more in-depth analysis of variables that influence investigative interviews of people with cognitive impairments.

Correspondence: Mrs Tone Hee Åker, Department of Behavioural Sciences, OsloMet - Oslo Metropolitan University, PO box 4 St. Olavs plass, NO-0130 Oslo, Norway. (e-mail: taker@oslomet.no)

Keywords Autism, Crime victims, Intellectual disabilities, Investigative interviews, Physical and sexual abuse

People with disabilities, such as intellectual disabilities (PWID) and autism (PWA), are more exposed to physical and sexual abuse than the general population (Mandell et al. 2005; Hershkowitz et al. 2007; Hughes et al. 2012; Jones et al. 2012; Nixon et al. 2017). PWID are characterised by deficits in intellectual functioning, social and adaptive domains such as language comprehension, memory skills and weaker comprehension of social demands (World Health Organization 2019). Similarly, PWA have deficits in social and adaptive domains, and many have cognitive delays (Howlin 2000; Kasari et al. 2013). However, cognitive delays are not a part of the diagnostic features of autism (World Health Organization 2019). Research indicates that these groups of victims encounter barriers in their interaction with the criminal justice system, particularly during police investigation, owing to impairments according to their diagnosis (Petersilia 2001; Crane et al. 2016; Beckene et al. 2017; Carlin 2018; Olsen et al. 2018). Scholars have therefore developed best-practice recommendations to safeguard the robust witness testimonies of PWID and PWA when entering the

Journal of Intellectual Disability Research

I

Interviewing alleged victims with mild and moderate intellectual disabilities and autism: A field study of police-investigated cases of physical and sexual abuse in a Norwegian national sample

Journal of Intellectual Disability Research

Published on behalf of mencap and in association with IASSID

T. H. Åker 厄 & M. S. Johnson

Abstract

Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Behavioural Sciences, OsloMet - Oslo Metropolitan University, Oslo, Norway

doi: 10.1111/jir.12771

^{© 2020} The Authors. Journal of Intellectual Disability Research published by MENCAP and International Association of the Scientific Study of Intellectual and Developmental Disibilities and John Wiley & Sons Ltd This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution

and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

T. H. Åker & M. S. Johnson • Interviewing people with disabilities

criminal justice system as alleged victims of abuse (Bull 2010; Wyman *et al.* 2018; Lamb *et al.* 2018b; Morrison *et al.* 2019; Maras *et al.* 2020).

Witness testimony is essential evidence in physical and sexual abuse cases because such crimes often lack physical evidence and other eyewitnesses (Pipe et al. 2013; Westera and Kebbell 2014). A complete and accurate testimony is considered necessary in such cases to ensure that the criminal justice system responds appropriately to the complaints (Westera and Kebbell 2014). This evidence may stand or fall on the completeness and credibility of a witness account (Brown et al. 2018; Lamb et al. 2018a). The quality of the interview techniques used in investigative interviews of PWID and PWA is therefore frequently referred to as a challenge in discussions of witness credibility. Additionally, studies have shown a relationship between the question types used and the accuracy of the witness account, for both PWID (Agnew and Powell 2004; Ternes and Yuille 2008; Gudjonsson and Joyce 2011; Brown and Lamb 2015; Brown et al. 2017; Lamb et al. 2018b; Morrison et al. 2019) and PWA (Maras and Bowler 2014; Almeida et al. 2018). The majority of these studies have, however, been conducted with children with or without ID in experimental settings (e.g. watching staged events or videos followed by an interview) (Agnew and Powell 2004; Brown et al. 2017; Almeida et al. 2018; Lamb et al. 2018b). Some studies have examined interviews of adults with ID and autism in an experimental setting. However, very few studies have analysed real-life investigative interviews with these groups (Gudjonsson et al. 2000; Ternes and Yuille 2008; Maras and Bowler 2014; Hershkowitz 2018; Norris et al. 2020). The current study adds to the research field by analysing how investigative interviews of adults and children with ID and autism are performed.

Best-practice recommendations for investigative interviewing are based on studies examining question types and interview protocols that are developed to enhance interview quality in investigative interviews. Studies and protocols generally recommend the use of both open-ended and directive questions (Brown *et al.* 2017; Almeida *et al.* 2018; Lamb *et al.* 2018b). Open-ended questions (e.g. 'tell me what happened') facilitate free narratives, which improves witness credibility and the accuracy of the account (Agnew and Powell 2004; Brown *et al.* 2017). Studies furthermore indicate that PWID and PWA disclose more information when responding to directive questions (e.g. 'what happened in the bedroom?') compared with open-ended questions (Agnew and Powell 2004; Almeida *et al.* 2018). This seems to be even more evident for individuals with moderate ID (Brown *et al.* 2012, 2017). Reliance on open-ended and directive questions is a core recommendation in protocols such as the National Institute of Child Health and Human Development Protocol (NICHD) (Lamb 1996), Achieving Best Evidence (ABE) (Home Office 2011) and the Norwegian Sequential Interview Model (SI) (Langballe and Davik 2017).

Research on question types and recommendations referred to above is mainly based on experimental analogue studies. Knowledge of how questions are distributed in experimental studies builds a basic level of understanding of how they may be mirrored in real-life investigative interviews. Experimental studies of interviews of children with ID following the NICHD protocol show that 33% (mild ID, IQ score between 50 and 69) and 29% (moderate ID, IQ score between 35 and 49) of questions are open-ended (Brown et al. 2017). Almeida et al. (2018), who also used the NICHD protocol, reported that more than half of all questions were open-ended when questioning PWA. The proportion of directive questions in the same experimental studies was 34% (mild ID) and 32% (moderate ID) (Brown et al. 2017) and 18.6% for PWA (Almeida et al. 2018). The proportion of question types displayed in these studies following the NICHD protocol may indicate what to expect in real-life interviews if the NICHD protocol is followed. This is illustrated in one of the very few studies of real-life investigative interviews of adults with mild and moderate ID using the NICHD protocol (Hershkowitz 2018). The study reported that more than three-quarters of all interviewer questions were recommended questions (i.e. open-ended or directive questions) (Hershkowitz 2018). The experimental studies and the study of real-life interviews also found that people with mild ID were asked a higher proportion of open-ended questions than people with moderate ID (Agnew and Powell 2004; Brown et al. 2017; Hershkowitz 2018). People with moderate ID were also asked a slightly higher proportion of directive questions, which indicates that the interviewer adapts question types to the interviewees' cognitive abilities.

T. H. Åker & M. S. Johnson • Interviewing people with disabilities

Other challenges when interviewing adults with disabilities include suggestibility (e.g. Tully and Cahill 1984, cited in Gudjonsson 2003), increased responsiveness to yes/no questions and their susceptibility to acquiescence (yea-saying) (Finlay and Lyons 2002; Gudjonsson and Joyce 2011; Stancliffe et al. 2015). Scholars suggest that yes/no questions might be challenging for PWID due to suggestibility, complex language and the type of judgements that these types of questions require (Finlay and Lyons 2002; Funazaki and Oi 2013). Suggestibility in terms of giving in to suggestive questions and coping with interrogative pressure may be challenging for PWID, partly due to their reduced or impaired memory capacity (Gudjonsson and Henry 2003; Henry et al. 2017). PWA are reported to be more resistant in terms of suggestibility (Griego et al. 2019) but may be vulnerable to compliance in terms of a tendency to agree to the request of others (Chandler et al. 2019). Yes/no and suggestive questions must, therefore, be used cautiously when interviewing PWID and PWA, to ensure their ability to provide an accurate account (Gudjonsson et al. 2000; Finlay and Lyons 2002).

When calling for changes to secure account credibility and accuracy in interviews with PWID and PWA, describing the problem in the criminal justice system is vital, as is pointed out by leading scholars in the field (Petersilia 2001; Lamb *et al.* 2018b). Because this study uses data from the Norwegian criminal justice system, case characteristics from a national sample will add valuable information to this field of research.

There is, as previously described, a gap in the existing knowledge of investigative interviews of PWID and PWA. The gap arises from the lack of studies describing case characteristics of the problem in the criminal justice system as well as the lack of research regarding how real-life investigative interviews are performed. We therefore conducted a national field study in which case characteristics were described, and the question types used in transcripts of real-life cases were analysed. The following research questions were addressed: What characterises the physical and sexual abuse cases of alleged victims with mild and moderate ID and autism investigated by the police in a Norwegian national sample? What question types are used in investigative interviews of these groups?

Method

Sample

The national sample consisted of 96 transcripts of real-life investigative interviews of alleged victims of physical and sexual abuse with mild and moderate ID and autism. The interviews were conducted in the period from October 2015 to December 2017. The total sample of N = 96 interviews included 14 second interviews of the same person. Two of the victims were interviewed four times, resulting in a total of N = 82 interviewees. Table 1 provides an overview of the sample according to diagnosis, type of crime, age and the victim's relation to the alleged suspect.

Transcriptions

In accordance with the Norwegian regulations on investigative interviews of PWID and PWA, the prosecuting officer decides whether to transcribe an interview if the information disclosed is such that it implies a criminal act has taken place. The regulations also allow the prosecuting officer to decide that only

Table 1 Characteristics of the sample across diagnosis age (M, SD),age group, type of abuse and relation to alleged perpetrator

	Mild (n = 4	DAutism $(n = 16)$				
Age, M (SD) Range	22.3 (11.1)26.0 (9.0) 5–70 14–43				18.7 (13.4) 5–50	
	Age group Age group				Age group	
	>16	6≤	>16	l6≤	>16	l6≤
Gender						
Female	2	32	2	11	I.	T
Male	7	7	_	5	8	6
Abuse type						
Violence	7	7	I.	—	7	2
Sexual abuse	2	32	I	16	2	5
Relation to alleged perpetrator	r					
Familial	5	12	2	2	6	I.
Friends and acquaintances	s 3	18	_	9	2	4
Abuse of power relations	1	5	—	3	1	I.
Strangers	_	4	_	2	_	1

Note. Abuse of power relations is staff-client relations. Age limit for sexual consent in Norway is 16 years.

T. H. Åker & M. S. Johnson • Interviewing people with disabilities

certain parts of the interview are to be transcribed. The sample includes interviews that consist of a transcription of the substantive phase of the interview, in cases carried forward to prosecution. The police transcription service transcribed the interviews.

The Norwegian judicial context

According to the General Civil Penal Code and the Criminal Procedure Act, all vulnerable witnesses, including PWID and PWA, are entitled to be questioned at a Norwegian Barnahus (Children's House). This is a part of the judicial sector and has been developed to facilitate investigative interviews of vulnerable witnesses (Johansson et al. 2017). The investigative interviews were conducted by experienced police investigators who hold a bachelor's degree from the Norwegian Police University and formal specialisation and training in performing investigative interviews of vulnerable alleged victims of abuse (for a detailed description of level of education, see Jakobsen et al. 2016). All the interviews took place in the period from October 2015 to December 2017. This period was selected owing to the implementation of a new General Civil Penal Code and a new Criminal Procedure Act in October 2015. The new Criminal Procedure Act included extensive changes, such as transferring the responsibility for investigative interviews from the courts to the police and the introduction of the mandatory use of Barnahus when interviewing vulnerable witnesses.

The Sequential Interview Model

In Norway, investigative interviews of vulnerable groups of alleged victims, including PWID and PWA, follow an investigative interview method developed in 2012 by police investigators from the National Criminal Investigation Service (NCIS), a psychologist and a Barnahus leader of one of the Barnahus in Norway in 2012 (Justis- og beredskapsdepartementet 2012). According to the developers, SI is a revised version of the Extended Forensic Interview model (EFI) developed by the National Children's Advocacy Center (Carnes *et al.* 1999, 2001) (for a more detailed description of SI, see Langballe and Davik 2017; Baugerud *et al.* 2020). SI splits the interview into two to three sessions, follows a funnel approach and uses multiple interviews. This model encourages the use of open-ended questions and free narratives. Directive questions are recommended to be introduced when the free narratives are completed. The model aims to limit the usage of option-posing and yes/no questions and to avoid the use of suggestive or leading questions (Baugerud *et al.* 2020). SI was implemented by the Norwegian police in 2015.

Procedure

The State Attorney, the Police Directorate and the Norwegian Data Protection Authority granted us permission to contact all the police districts in Norway (N = 12), including the Barnahus. The Chief of Police in each police district was contacted, and the following information was requested: (1) a copy of all transcribed investigative interviews conducted with PWID and PWA alleged victims of sexual abuse (The General Civil Penal Code (291-320) and/or physical abuse (§271-288) for the period October 2015 to December 2017; (2) descriptive information about the criminal case including age and gender of the alleged victim, type of crime (i.e. sexual or physical abuse) and the relationship to the alleged perpetrators; and (3) information that could confirm the diagnosis of the interviewees.

Information of disabilities is registered in criminal cases in Norway prior to the investigative interview, as required by the Criminal Procedure Act §239. Norwegian regulations also require a diagnosis to be made by a specialist, in agreement with the *International Classification of Diseases* (ICD-10). In this study, confirmation of diagnosis was provided by authorised health personnel and collected by the police.

Data coding

Interviewer questions and utterances in the substantive phase of the interviews (in which the alleged victim is encouraged to talk about the investigated incident) were coded as facilitators, open-ended, directive, yes/no, forced-choice and suggestive questions under the predetermined categories provided in Table 2. The coding scheme used in this study has been used in previous national studies of investigative interviews of typically developed children (Thoresen *et al.* 2009; Johnson *et al.* 2015) and is similar to the coding scheme used in comparable studies, for example, Lamb (1996). All exchanges on neutral topics (e.g. talking about the

T. H. Åker & M. S. Johnson • Interviewing people with disabilities

Table 2 Question type coding

5

Question type	Explanation	Example
Invitations	Questions or prompts allowing the alleged victim to recall a tell about the incident in a free narrative	nd'Tell me what happened', 'You, told me you stayed in your house, tell me more about the house'
Directive questions	Questions aiming to provide more specific details about t investigative incident	he ['] Where was his clothes?', 'What did you feel when he touched you?'
Option-posin questions	g Questions that give the alleged victim explicit options fro which to choose from	om'Were the pants on or off?', 'Did he stand behind or in front of you?'
Yes\no	Questions or utterances where the alleged victims have	
questions	implicit or explicit choice to answer yes or no. Incluc utterances where the interviewer seeks to get confirmati about statements the alleged victim has told about	
Suggestive questions/ statements	Questions or utterances where the interviewer introduc either topics or themes that the alleged victim has not to about, or they assume details that have not been reveal	oldnot like, tell me about it', 'I guess he was angry, is that
	earlier in the statement. Includes questions where t interviewer asks the alleged victim to speculate in oth persons' intentions	, , , , ,
Facilitators	Utterances designed to facilitate the communication with being suggestive	out'mmh', 'ok', 'I understand'.

interviewe's pet or leisure activities during the interview) and closure of the interview were excluded from the coding.

Inter-rater reliability

The second author (M. S. J.) trained the first author (T. H. Å.), who coded all the transcripts. Before the transcripts were coded, the first and second authors established inter-rater reliability on a separate set of transcripts until they reached 90% agreement on question types. The maintenance of a high level of reliability was ensured by the second author coding 20 randomly selected transcripts (20.8%) of the current sample of transcripts and kappa statistics being calculated for the overall agreement of question types between the two coders ($\kappa = 0.93$). Disagreement was resolved by the first author.

Analytic strategy

A one-way repeated measures analysis of variance (ANOVA) was conducted to calculate possible variances in questioning types used, where the diagnostic group was the between-subject variable (mild ID, moderate ID and autism). Initial analysis was performed using all questions asked with and without facilitators as the within-subject variable. The proportion of different question types described in Table 3 was used as the within-subject variable, to analyse possible variances across diagnostic groups and the question types used. Additional analysis was computed using gender, type of crime, age group, relation to the alleged perpetrator and diagnostic group, with the diagnostic group as the within-subject variable. When assumptions of sphericity were violated (Mauchley's test), degrees of freedom were corrected using Greenhouse–Geisser estimates of sphericity. SPSS version 26 was used.

Ethical considerations

Ethical approval was granted by the Council for Confidentiality and Research. Further approval was granted by the State Attorney, the Police Directorate and the Norwegian Data Protection Authority. Both authors signed the State Attorney's confidentiality declaration.

Results

Case characteristics

Case characteristics are based on information from N = 82 interviews. Fourteen interviews were repeated

© 2020 The Authors. Journal of Intellectual Disability Research published by MENCAP and International Association of the Scientific Study of Intellectual and Developmental Disibilities and John Wiley & Sons Ltd

50

T. H. Åker & M. S. Johnson • Interviewing people with disabilities

	Mild ID		Moderate ID		Autism		
	M (SD)	Min-max	M (SD)	Min-max	M (SD)	Min-max	
Total questions posed Proportion of total questions	263.8 (157.6) 25–790 % (SD)		355.0 (391.2) % (SD)	73–1907	223.8 (151.4) 44–577 % (SD)		
Open-ended	3.2 (2.2)	0–9	3.1 (2.7)	0–9	2.6 (2.5)	0—9	
Directive	35.4 (8.5)	18-56	32 (11)	3–50	33.2 (14.1)	0–58	
Yes/no	47.6 (12)	9–69	50.7 (17.9)	3—95	50.3 (14.2)	23-79	
Option posing	4.2 (3.1)	0-13	3.2 (1.8)	0-6.5	4.0 (3.7)	1-17	
Suggestive	9.4 (7.4)	I38	10.6 (12.8)	0-57	9.5 (9.3)	I-35	

Table 3 Total number and proportions of question types posed by interviewer to alleged victim

interviews of the same person, regarding the same case. Two of the alleged victims were interviewed four times. Case characteristics based on the total sample of interviews (N = 82) show that 70.7% (n = 58) of the cases involved allegations of sexual abuse and 29.3% (n = 24) of physical abuse. Most of the alleged victims were female victims of sexual abuse (59.8%, n = 49). Information regarding age and gender of the alleged victims, diagnostic group, type of abuse and relation to the alleged perpetrator is presented in Table 1. In 43.9% (n = 36) of the cases, and irrespective of the type of abuse, the alleged perpetrator was a friend or acquaintance, 34.1% (n = 28) being familial and 13.4% (n = 11) being abuse in a power relation. In seven cases (8.5%), the alleged perpetrators were unknown to the alleged victim.

Question strategies used in the investigative interviews

A total of 66 813 (M = 695.9, SD = 397.5) questions/utterances were identified across the sample of investigative interviews (N = 96). A total of 40 308 (M = 419.9, SD = 243.8) of the interviewer utterances were facilitators. The remaining question types across diagnostic groups are presented in Table 3, where both the total number of questions and the proportion of the total number of questions are provided.

The question types used in the total sample (N = 96), facilitators excluded, showed that 2.6% (698) of the questions were open-ended. Directive questions accounted for 32.2% (8522) of the

questions asked. Yes/no questions were the most frequent, at 53.4% (14 160). Moreover, 3.3% (880) of the questions were forced-choice questions, and 8.6% (2289) were suggestive questions.

The repeated measures ANOVA (using the diagnostic group as the between-subject factor and the total number of questions asked with and without facilitators as the within-subject factor) did not reveal any main effect, $F_{2,93} = 1.069$, p = 0.348. The results suggest no statistically significant differences in the number of questions posed across groups. Further analysis was computed without facilitators, as carried out in similar studies (Hershkowitz 2018). Analysis exploring whether question strategies (the proportion of question types) differed across diagnostic groups did not show any statistically significant main effects, $F_{3.662,170.29} = 0.543$, p = 0.689. This indicates no variance in questioning strategies across diagnostic groups.

Supplementary analyses were carried out to further expand our understanding of how investigative interviews with PWID and PWA are performed. The repeated measures ANOVA (within-subject factor; the proportion of question types, between-subject factor; diagnostic group) did not reveal any statistically significant main effects when controlling for gender, type of crime, age group or relation to perpetrator. The overall analysis suggests no statistically significant effect on the number of questions posed and question types used across diagnostic groups.

We found a relatively high proportion of suggestive questions (8.6%). Such questions are not

T. H. Åker & M. S. Johnson • Interviewing people with disabilities

recommended for use in investigative interviews. However, according to a 'funnel' interview approach, suggestive questions might appear towards the end of an investigative interview (Brown and Lamb 2019). In addition, we were interested in whether these questions were asked at the beginning or the end of the interview (see Wolfman et al. 2016 for a similar procedure). We therefore examined the number of questions asked before the first suggestive question was asked. On average, the interviewers asked $M = 42.7 \text{ (SD} = 44.6), \min = 0 \text{ and } \max = 206,$ questions before asking the first suggestive question. In all interviews, 15.5% of the total number of questions posed were asked before the first suggestive question. In only seven of the interviews were 50% or more of the total number of questions asked prior to the first suggestive question. Figure 1 depicts the number of questions asked before the first suggestive question in relation to the total number of questions (without facilitators) in each interview. The case with the highest number of questions was windsorised to facilitate the visual analysis of Fig. 1.

Discussion

This study examined transcripts of real-life investigative interviews in physical or sexual abuse cases involving alleged victims with mild and moderate ID and PWA. The study describes case characteristics and the question strategies used in police-investigated cases. In general, the findings reveal that the majority of victims were female in their early twenties and were victims of sexual abuse perpetrated by someone they knew. These findings are similar to those of other studies in the field; Van Den Bergh and Hoekman (2006) found that the majority of victims in their study were female in their twenties who were alleged victims of sexual abuse. PWID's vulnerability to being sexually exploited regardless of gender was also reported by Nixon *et al.* (2017).

The findings of the current study furthermore indicate that the questioning strategies used by Norwegian police investigators when interviewing PWID and PWA are not in accordance with best-practice recommendations. The low proportion of open-ended questions (2.6%) in the interviews presents grounds for concern. The proportion of open-ended questions is low compared with that of studies using the NICHD protocol, where 30-50% of the questions are reported to be open-ended (Brown et al. 2017; Almeida et al. 2018). The proportion of directive and open-ended questions, when collapsed into one category and which then represents the most recommended types of questions, also remains low. In this study, the use of directive and open-ended questions is 34.8%. Hershkowitz (2018), for example, reported as many as 80% of the questions to be directive and open-ended in the substantive phase of the interview of people with mild and moderate ID. The results of this study further show that the investigative interviewers relied heavily on yes/no questions. This type of question is challenging because PWID and PWA with cognitive delays strive to answer such questions due to their susceptibility to acquiescence (Finlay and Lyons 2002; Funazaki and Oi 2013). Some studies, however, suggest that PWA without cognitive delays provided more adequate responses to yes/no questions compared with direct questions (Oi 2010). Additionally, yes/no questions



Figure I. Occurrence of first leading question.

T. H. Åker & M. S. Johnson • Interviewing people with disabilities

are shown to increase the responsiveness of PWID (Stancliffe *et al.* 2015). This might be an explanation for the extensive use of these questions. Finally, the use of suggestive questions in this study is of great concern. It is known that this type of question can contaminate the interviewee's account and influence the judicial process (Cederborg and Gumpert 2009). Suggestive questions are used more frequently in this study (8.6%) than in comparable results reported by Cederborg and Lamb (2008), in which 5.67% of the questions were suggestive.

Conducting investigative interviews with PWID and PWA is, due to their diagnostic features, challenging. Research does indicate that it is feasible to follow best-practice recommendations in interviews. There are, however, only a limited number of studies in this area. The inability to adhere to the recommended practice when conducting investigative interviews is, in general, often explained by poor training and a lack of supervision and feedback (Lamb et al. 2018c). Protocols have therefore been developed to support interviewer behaviour. Studies have shown that these have a positive effect and increase the use of recommended questioning strategies (Dion and Cyr 2008; Lamb et al. 2018c). In Norway, the implementation of the SI model for investigative interviewing of vulnerable victims is not supported by additional field research. No evaluations and assessments of SI have been undertaken when interviewing PWID and PWA, and there is no knowledge of adherence to the method in practice. This means that we lack knowledge of a possible relation between interviewer behaviour and the use of the interview model in interviews of PWID and PWA.

The findings of this study also indicate no adaption of question types to cognitive functioning based on a person's diagnosis. A large variance in the use of recommended question types was, however, seen within and across diagnostic groups. Some of the interviews included in the sample were carried out in accordance with best-practice recommendations. Other interviews almost exclusively relied on yes/no and suggestive questions. This variation may be explained by the complexity of conducting investigative interviews in general, of conducting interviews with this group of alleged victims in particular and their cognitive process competence such as memory capacity, recall and retrieval strategies and language comprehension. Variation in question strategies may also be explained by the large age span in the sample, from young children 5 years of age to older persons aged 70. In Norway, the same interview model is used and recommended for typically developing children, older persons and people with ID and autism. However, we can assume that interview strategies will vary depending on the interviewees' age in addition to cognitive functioning, despite the lack of statistically significant effects. Investigative interviewers may require more sophisticated knowledge of how their communication style affects interviewees and of how to adapt questions to the interviewees' cognitive abilities, such that PWID and PWA are given the greatest opportunity possible to provide an accurate account.

The current study adds to the existing literature by providing one of the few empirical investigations into the field of investigative interviewing of PWID and PWA as alleged victims of sexual and physical abuse. Some limitations need, however, to be taken into consideration. One limitation relates to the nature of field studies in general, which affects the sample. Categorisation of a heterogenous group of people such as the sample in the current study is challenging and was based on available documentation obtained from the police. Although the diagnostic information is from authorised health personnel, lack of details concerning diagnostic features (e.g. IQ scores) may have caused skewness across groups. Additionally, all the cases in the sample were moved forward to prosecution owing to the initial consideration that the interviewee disclosed information about abuse during the interview. This fact may create a different questioning pattern than interviews in which abuse is not disclosed. This must be considered when interpreting the results.

Other limitations relate to the lack of comparison groups and the fact that the analysis is based on transcriptions of investigative interviews. Lack of comparison groups makes it difficult to assess whether the questioning strategies displayed in this study are specific to interviews with PWID and PWA or whether they form a general pattern in the questioning of vulnerable witnesses. Transcriptions are often used in field studies owing to strong restrictions on accessing highly sensitive information (e.g. Wolfman *et al.* 2016; Hershkowitz 2018; Bull 2019) but limit the possibility of analysing other

T. H. Åker & M. S. Johnson • Interviewing people with disabilities

important aspects of an interview such as body language and tone of voice. On the other hand, the sample presents all transcribed interviews that relate to the physical and sexual abuse of this particular group of alleged victims in the specified time period from all police districts in Norway. The interviews were conducted by several different police officers and therefore present a representative picture of how interviews of PWID and PWA are conducted in Norway.

Important aspects of investigative interviews of PWID and PWA in sexual and physical abuse cases in Norway are presented in this paper. One such aspect is the discrepancy between the question strategies used in real-life investigative interviews and best-practice recommendations. The lack of questioning strategy consistency can address several implications in practice and future research. Firstly, some of the data in the current study were collected a short time after the SI model was implemented in Norway. It is necessary to evaluate all of the phases in the SI model, in order to assess whether the interviewers are using the model as it is described and how improvements can be made to increase the use of recommended questioning strategies when interviewing PWID and PWA. Secondly, more knowledge is required of how to assist people with communication difficulties in terms of visual aids such as symbols, notes and drawings, as has been demonstrated in recent publications (Mattison and Dando 2019; Maras et al. 2020). Such aid may also be beneficial for people with severe ID. No individuals with severe ID were identified in the current sample of participants, which may indicate that interviews with this group are not moved forward to prosecution. Studies have furthermore compared questioning strategies used for children and concluded that these are recommendable for PWID and PWA regardless of age (Lamb et al. 2018b). There are more criminal cases within the criminal justice system that involve adult than child victims with disabilities (Van Den Bergh and Hoekman 2006; Nixon et al. 2017). We therefore require more knowledge of how adults with disabilities are questioned in investigative interviews. Finally, crimes against PWID and PWA are underresearched. More knowledge is required throughout the criminal justice system to secure the legal and human rights of this particular group of alleged victims of abuse and to empower the system to meet their individual needs.

Source of funding

This project has been made possible by the Norwegian Extra Foundation for Health and Rehabilitation.

Acknowledgements

The authors wish to thank Børge Strømgren for his helpful guidance and all Police Districts and Barnahus for their assistance with data collection.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- Agnew S. E. & Powell M. B. (2004) The effect of intellectual disability on children's recall of an event across different question types. *Law and Human Behavior* **28**, 273–94.
- Almeida T. S., Lamb M. E. & Weisblatt E. J. (2018) Effects of delay, question type, and socioemotional support on episodic memory retrieval by children with autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders* 49, 1111–30.
- Baugerud G. A., Johnson M. S., Hansen H. B., Magnussen S. & Lamb M. E. (2020) Forensic interviews with preschool children: an analysis of extended interviews in Norway (2015–2017). *Applied Cognitive Psychology*, 1–10.
- Beckene T., Forrester-Jones R. & Murphy G. H. (2017) Experiences of going to court: witnesses with intellectual disabilities and their carers speak up. *Journal of Applied Research in Intellectual Disabilities* **31**, 1–12.
- Brown D. A., Brown E. J., Lewis C. N. & Lamb M. E. (2018) Narrative skill and testimonial accuracy in typically developing children and those with intellectual disabilities. *Applied Cognitive Psychology* **32**, 550–60.
- Brown D. A. & Lamb M. E. (2015) Can children be useful witnesses? It depends how they are questioned. *Child Development Perspectives* 9, 250–5.
- Brown D. A. & Lamb M. E. (2019) Forks in the road, routes chosen, and journeys that beckon: a selective review of scholarship on children's testimony. *Applied Cognitive Psychology* 33, 480–8.
- Brown D. A., Lewis C., Stephens E. & Lamb M. (2017) Interviewers' approaches to questioning vulnerable child witnesses: the influences of developmental level versus intellectual disability status. *Legal and Criminological Psychology* **22**, 332–49.
- Brown D. A., Lewis C. N., Lamb M. E. & Stephens E. (2012) The influences of delay and severity of intellectual disability on event memory in children. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology* 80, 829–41.

© 2020 The Authors. Journal of Intellectual Disability Research published by MENCAP and International Association of the Scientific Study of Intellectual and Developmental Disibilities and John Wiley & Sons Ltd

54

Journal of Intellectual Disability Research

T. H. Åker & M. S. Johnson • Interviewing people with disabilities

- Bull R. (2010) The investigative interviewing of children and other vulnerable witnesses: psychological research and working/professional practice. *Legal and Criminological Psychology* 15, 5–23.
- Bull R. (2019) Investigating the Truth. Selected Works of Ray Bull. Routledge, London and New York.

Carlin M. (2018) Eyewitness memory in children wiht autism spectrum disorder. In: *Memory, Autism Spectrum Disorder, and the Law* (eds J. L. Johnson, G. S. Goodman & P. C. Mundy), pp. 214–29. Wiley Blackwell, West Sussex, USA.

Carnes C. N., Nelson-Gardell D., Wilson C. & Orgassa U. C. (2001) Extended forensic evaluation when sexual abuse is suspected: a multisite field study. *Child Maltreatment* 6, 230–42.

Carnes C. N., Wilson C. & Nelson-Gardell D. (1999) Extended forensic evaluation when sexual abuse is suspected: a model and preliminary data. *Child Maltreatment* **4**, 242–54.

Cederborg A.-C. & Gumpert C. H. (2009) The challenge of assessing credibility when children with intellectual disabilities are alleged victims of abuse. *Scandinavian Journal of Disability Research* **12**, **125**–40.

Cederborg A.-C. & Lamb M. E. (2008) Interviewing alleged victims with intellectual disabilities. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research* **52**, 49–58.

Chandler R. J., Russell A. & Maras K. L. (2019) Compliance in autism: self-report in action. *Autism* 23, 1005–17.

Crane L., Maras K. L., Hawken T., Mulcahy S. & Memon A. (2016) Experiences of autism spectrum disorder and policing in England and Wales: surveying police and the autism community. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders* **46**, 2028–41.

Dion J. & Cyr M. (2008) The use of the NICHD protocol to enhance the quantity of details obtained from children with low verbal abilities in investigative interviews: a pilot study. *Journal of Child Sexual Abuse* **17**, 144–62.

Finlay W. M. L. & Lyons E. (2002) Acquiescence in interviews with people who have mental retardation. *Mental Retardation* **40**, 14–29.

Funazaki Y. & Oi M. (2013) Factors affecting responses of children with autism spectrum disorder to yes/no questions. *Child Language Teaching and Therapy* 29, 245– 59.

Griego A. W., Datzman J. N., Estrada S. M. & Middlebrook S. S. (2019) Suggestibility and false memories in relation to intellectual disability and autism spectrum disorder: a meta-analytic review. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research* 63, 1464–74.

Gudjonsson G. H. (2003) *The Psychology of Interrogations and Confessions: A Handbook.* John Wiley & Sons, Chichester, England.

Gudjonsson G. H. & Henry L. (2003) Child and adult witnesses with intellectual disability: the importance of suggestibility. *Legal and Criminological Psychology* **8**, 241–52.

Gudjonsson G. H. & Joyce T. (2011) Interviewing adults with intellectual disabilities. *Advances in Mental Health and Intellectual Disabilities* **5**, 16–21.

Gudjonsson G. H., Murphy G. H. & Clare I. C. H. (2000) Assessing the capacity of people with intellectual disabilities to be witnesses in court. *Psychological Medicine* **30**, 307–14.

Henry L., Messer D. J., Wilcock R., Nash G., Kirke-Smith M., Hobson Z. *et al.* (2017) Do measures of memory, language, and attention predict eyewitness memory in children with and without autism? *Autism and Developmental Language Impairments* 2, 1–17.

Hershkowitz I. (2018) NICHD-protocol investigations of individuals with intellectual disability: a descriptive analysis. *Psychology, Public Policy, and Law* 24, 393–403.

Hershkowitz I., Lamb M. E. & Horowitz D. (2007) Victimization of children with disabilities. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry* **77**, 629–35.

Home Office (2011) Achieving best evidence in criminal proceedings: guidance on interviewing victims and witnesses and guidance on using special measures. Available at: https://www.cps.gov.uk/sites/default/files/ documents/legal_guidance/best_evidence_in_criminal_ proceedings.pdf

Howlin P. (2000) Autism and intellectual disability: diagnostic and treatment issues. *Journal of the Royal Society of Medicine* **93**, 351–5.

Hughes K., Bellis M. A., Jones L., Wood S., Bates G., Eckley L. *et al.* (2012) Prevalence and risk of violence against adults with disabilities: a systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. *The Lancet* **379**, 1621–9.

Jakobsen K. K., Fashing I. A. & Hjelmsater E. R. A. (2016) Investigative interviewing in Scandinavia – witnesses and victims. In: *International Developments and Practices in Investigative Interviewing and Interrogation* (eds D. Walsh, G. E. Oxburgh, A. D. Redlich & T. Myklebust), pp. 199– 208. Routledge, London and New York.

Johansson S., Stefansen K., Bakketeig E. & Kaldal A. (2017) Collaborating Against Child Abuse: Exploring the Nordic Barnahus Model. Palgrave Macmillan, Cham, Switzerland.

Johnson M., Magnussen S., Thoresen C., Lønnum K., Burrell L. V. & Melinder A. (2015) Best practice recommendations still fail to result in action: a national 10-year follow-up study of investigative interviews in CSA cases. *Applied Cognitive Psychology* 29, 661–8.

Jones L., Bellis M. A., Wood S., Hughes K., McCoy E., Eckley L. *et al.* (2012) Prevalence and risk of violence against children with disabilities: a systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. *The Lancet* 380, 899–907.

Justis- og beredskapsdepartementet (2012) Avhør av særlig sårbare personer. Rapport fra arbeidsgruppen for gjennomgang av regelverket om dommeravhør og

н

T. H. Åker & M. S. Johnson • Interviewing people with disabilities

observasjoner av barn og psykisk utviklingshemmede. Available at: https://www.regjeringen.no/contentassets/ 58bdb19885394a5eb28f21279dfb41ea/rapport_ dommeravhor.pdf

- Kasari C., Brady N., Lord C. & Tager-Flusberg H. (2013) Assessing the minimally verbal school-aged child with autism spectrum disorder. *Autism Research* **6**, 479–93.
- Lamb M. E. (1996) Effects of investigative utterance types on Israeli children's responses. *International Journal of Behavioral Development* 19, 627–38.
- Lamb M. E., Brown D. A., Hershkowitz I., Orbach Y. & Esplin P. W. (2018a) Case-related outcomes when the protocol is used. In: *Tell Me What Happened. Questioning Children about Abuse* (eds M. E. Lamb, D. A. Brown, I. Hershkowitz, Y. Orbach & P. W. Esplin), pp. 213–23. Wiley Blackwell, West Sussex.
- Lamb M. E., Brown D. A., Hershkowitz I., Orbach Y. & Esplin P. W. (2018b) Interviewing children with developmental disabilities. In: *Tell Me What Happened*. *Questioning Children about Abuse* (eds M. E. Lamb, D. A. Brown, I. Hershkowitz, Y. Orbach & P. W. Esplin), (pp.137–160). Wiley Blackwell, West Sussex.
- Lamb M. E., Brown D. A., Hershkowitz I., Orbach Y. & Esplin P. W. (2018c) Training and maintaining good interviewing practice. In: *Tell Me What Happened. Questioning Children about Abuse* (eds M. E. Lamb, D. A. Brown, I. Hershkowitz, Y. Orbach & P. W. Esplin), (pp 201–211). Wiley Blackwell, West Sussex.
- Langballe Å. & Davik T. (2017) Sequential interviews with preschool children in Norwegian Barnahus. In: *Collaborating Against Child Abuse. Exploring the Nordic Barnahusmodel* (eds S. Johansson, K. Stefansen, E. Bakketeig & A. Kaldal), pp. 165–87. Palgrave Macmillan, Switzerland.
- Mandell D. S., Walrath C. M., Manteuffel B., Sgro G. & Pinto-Martin J. A. (2005) The prevalence and correlates of abuse among children with autism served in comprehensive community-based mental health settings. *Child Abuse and Neglect* 29, 1359–72.
- Maras K. L. & Bowler D. M. (2014) Eyewitness testimony in autism spectrum disorder: a review. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders* **44**, 2682–97.
- Maras K. L., Dando C., Stephenson H., Lambrechts A., Anns S. & Gaigg S. (2020) The Witness-Aimed First Account (WAFA): a new technique for interviewing autistic witnesses and victims. *Autism* **24**, 1449–67.

Mattison M. L. A. & Dando C. J. (2019) Police officers' and registered intermediaries' use of drawing during investigative interviews with vulnerable witnesses. *Psychology, Crime & Law* **26**, 167–85.

Morrison J., Forrester-Jones R., Bradshaw J. & Murphy G. (2019) Communication and cross-examination in court for children and adults with intellectual disabilities: a systematic review. *The International Journal of Evidence and Proof* 23, 366–98.

- Nixon M., Thomas S. D., Daffern M. & Ogloff J. R. (2017) Estimating the risk of crime and victimisation in people with intellectual disability: a data-linkage study. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology* **52**, 617–26.
- Norris J. E., Crane L. & Maras K. (2020) Interviewing autistic adults: adaptations to support recall in police, employment, and healthcare interviews. *Autism* **24**, 1506–20.
- Oi M. (2010) Do Japanese children with high-functioning autism spectrum disorder respond differently to Wh-questions and yes/no-questions? *Clinical Linguistics & Phonetics* 24, 691–705.
- Olsen T., Kermit P., Dahl N. C., Søndenaa E. & Envik R. (2018) Rettssikkerhet- likeverd og likeverdigh behandling. Mennesker med kognitive funksjonsnedsettelser i møte med strafferettspleien. Bodø: Nordlandsforskning AS. Available at: http://www.nordlandsforskning.no/getfile. php/1323871-1539586766/Dokumenter/Rapporter/1018/ NF-rapport%205_2018.pdf
- Petersilia J. R. (2001) Crime victims with developmental disabilities. Criminal Justice and Behavior 28, 655–94.
- Pipe M.-E., Lamb M. E., Orbach Y. & Cederborg A. C. (2013) *Child Sexual Abuse: Disclosure, Delay, and Denial.* Psychology Press, Oxon.
- Stancliffe R. J., Tichá R., Larson S. A., Hewitt A. S. & Nord D. (2015) Responsiveness to self-report interview questions by adults with intellectual and developmental disability. *Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities* 53, 163–81.
- Ternes M. & Yuille J. C. (2008) Eyewitness memory and eyewitness identification performance in adults with intellectual disabilities. *Journal of Applied Research in Intellectual Disabilities* **21**, 519–31.
- Thoresen C., Lønnum K., Melinder A. & Magnussen S. (2009) Forensic interviews with children in CSA cases: a large-sample study of Norwegian police interviews. *Applied Cognitive Psychology* **23**, 999–1011.
- Van Den Bergh P. M. & Hoekman J. (2006) Sexual offences in police reports and court dossiers: a case-file study. *Journal of Applied Research in Intellectual Disabilities* 19, 374–82.
- Westera N. J. & Kebbell M. R. (2014) Investigative interviewing in suspected sex offences. In: *Investigative Interviewing* (ed. R. Bull), pp. 1–18. New York, NY, Springer New York.
- Wolfman M., Brown D. A. & Jose P. (2016) Taking stock: evaluating the conduct of forensic interviews with children in New Zealand. *Psychology Crime and Law* 22, 581–98.
- World Health Organization (2019) International statistical classification of disease and related health problems Available at: https://icd.who.int/en
- Wyman J. D., Lavoie J. & Talwar V. (2018) Best practices for interviewing children with intellectual disabilities in maltreatment cases. *Exceptionality* 27, 167–84.

Accepted 11 August 2020

© 2020 The Authors. Journal of Intellectual Disability Research published by MENCAP and International Association of the Scientific Study of Intellectual and Developmental Disibilities and John Wiley & Sons Ltd

56

Chapter 6. Physical and sexual abuse and health care services for people with disabilities

After the investigative interview, Barnahus in Norway has a stated responsibility to assess, offer or secure possible healthcare needs regardless of further investigation steps in the criminal case. Due to the responsibilities related to healthcare needs, in Norway, this is a mandatory part of the process during an investigation of a criminal case related to physical and sexual abuse cases. In the current chapter, I will provide an overview of literature addressing healthcare services to people with disabilities (PWD) who have experienced physical or sexual abuse and present the Barnahus mandate in such cases.

The guidelines that specify the responsibilities of Norwegian Barnahus in investigative physical and sexual abuse case interviews include the assessment of the interviewee's need for health care services and the responsibility to coordinate and cooperate with the health care services (Politidirektoratet et al., 2016). This is due to the close relation between experiencing physical and/or sexual abuse and subsequent negative health effects (Byrne, 2017).

Studies have reported negative health effects in people with intellectual disabilities (PWID) who have experienced sexual abuse. PWID suffer, after such abuse, from depressive and traumatic symptoms that are in the same range as that experienced by the general population (Sequeira et al., 2003; Soylu et al., 2013). PWID also, in general, exhibit a greater risk of psychopathology, including conduct disorder, anxiety and depression (Hassiotis & Turk, 2012; Strømme & Diseth, 2000). There are therefore good grounds for believing that PWID who have experienced abuse will require health care services. Making Barnahus responsible for assessing the need for and then securing such services may help ensure that PWID receive adequate help from the health care sector.

There is limited knowledge today on the health care services that PWID require to adequately help cope with abusive experiences. Some studies have addressed how Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD) is treated within this population. Abusive experiences do not, however, necessarily lead to PTSD. Detecting and diagnosing PTSD in PWID is, due to a lack of diagnostic tools, a challenge. Assessments therefore often depend on diagnostic interviews of family or professional carers (Kildahl et al., 2019; Mevissen et al., 2016). It is, however, relevant despite these limitations to provide a brief insight into the existing but limited knowledge on the treatment of PTSD in PWID exposed to physical and sexual abuse. PTSD is reported as being associated, in the general population, with abusive experiences (Krug et al., 2002). Investigations of such cases are furthermore described by PWID questioned in such cases as being a second trauma (Beckene et al., 2017).

A literature review of the treatment of PTSD in PWID identified nine studies. These studies covered a wide range of interventions that include medication, psychotherapeutic treatment (e.g. Cognitive-Behavioural Therapy, Eye Movement Desensitization and Reprocessing) and milieu therapy (e.g. establish environmental changes through staff training) (Mevissen & de Jongh, 2010). The studies included in the literature review suggest the participants experienced a positive effect of treatment, irrespective of treatment method. A more recent study of the use of Trauma-Focused Cognitive-Behaviour Therapy (group therapy) to treat complex PTSD in PWID showed a decrease in self-reported PTSD symptoms (Kroese et al., 2016). Participants furthermore stated, in post-treatment interviews, that they valued being listened to, being taken seriously and being supported by people who had suffered similar experiences. These studies lead us to be optimistic about the treatment of traumatic experiences in PWID. Case studies and single-subject designs, however, dominate the research published. All the treatment methods described lack robust empirical evidence. There is a positive change in the treatment of trauma in PWID, despite the methodological challenges and sample sizes of these studies, and in research involving PWID (Vanderminden, 2017). The treatment effect for PWID has been assessed, described and reported (Bakken et al., 2014; Gilderthorp, 2015; Kildahl et al., 2019; Mevissen et al., 2012). Assessment criteria and treatment methods that are thoroughly described in case studies (e.g., Mevissen et al., 2012) can be replicated and gradually build a broader understanding of how traumatic experiences in PWID can be treated.

Inter-organisational collaboration

Barnahus is a governmental agency that has been developed to facilitate interorganisational collaboration between the CJS, and the health care and welfare services during a police investigation into criminal cases that involve violence towards and the sexual abuse of children and vulnerable adults (Johansson, 2017). Barnahus' objective is twofold. The first is to make the judicial process more efficient and better adapted to the special needs of children and vulnerable adults. The second is to secure witnesses the protection, support, health care and treatment they need (Politidirektoratet et al., 2016). A premise of these Barnahus objectives being met is collaboration between professionals from different disciplines, such as in CJS and the health care system.

Collaboration between professionals and how this operates is addressed in a small number of studies and evaluation reports from Norway and Sweden. These studies indicate that there is an unequal power balance between professionals from CJS and the health care and social welfare sector (Johansson, 2017; Stefansen et al., 2012). The power balance discussed in a Swedish study (Johansson, 2011) seems to favour a criminal law-oriented focus. This may result in less emphasis on the health and social welfare aspect in the cases handled by Barnahus (Johansson, 2017). The Swedish study and the evaluations from Norway discuss collaboration between professionals working at Barnahus in cases involving typically developing children. Collaboration across sectors in cases of physical and sexual abuse (e.g. Barnahus and the health care sector) and in cases involving adults with disabilities were not addressed (Stefansen et al., 2012). Collaboration in cases that involve adults with disabilities differs from collaboration in cases that involve typically developing children, because they receive services from different parts of the health care and social service. There is no knowledge on collaboration between professionals at Barnahus and the health care and social welfare services. This is particularly so for collaborative practices in cases that involve adults with disabilities. The next chapter presents a study which explores how these practices are handled in the interface between the justice and health care sector.

Chapter 7. Between the criminal justice and health care system. Responsibilities in securing health care services for people with intellectual disabilities after an investigative interview

[Article not attached due to copyright]

Tone Hee Åker¹, Børge Strømgren¹ Erik Søndenaa² and Miriam Sinkerud Johnson¹ ¹Oslo Metropolitan University, Department of Behavioural Sciences, OsloMet – Oslo Metropolitan University ² Norwegian University of Science and Technology, NTNU, Department of Mental Health

Published in Nordic Social Work Research

DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/2156857X.2020.1852955

Chapter 8. Methodological strengths and limitations

The studies presented in this thesis use quantitative and qualitative methods, the methods used being quantitative analysis of register data, quantitative text analysis of transcribed investigative interviews, case analysis of documents and structured interviews. These methods enabled us to illuminate selected parts of the judicial process in violence and sexual abuse cases that involve alleged victims with disability. This has not been previously studied in Norway. The methods used in the three studies are described in chapter 3, 5 and 7. In this chapter I will, however, provide a broader discussion of methodological strengths and limitations than is given in the papers.

Analysing case characteristics based on registry data

We in the first study (chapter 3) used register data. This is a well-suited data source for studies that aim to provide an understanding of phenomena in a population. Register data provides us with access to previously collected information. This reduces costs and the time required to collect data, as the information already exists. Being granted an approval to use register data in research can, however, be challenging due to the sensitive nature of the information and that the information is not collected for research purposes (Fekjær, 2011; Olsen, 2011). Our study aims to analyse investigated criminal cases that involve alleged victims with disabilities using register data from the Norwegian Criminal data registry. This data is probably currently the best available data for addressing this issue, because the register has been developed to compute crime statistics in Norway.

Chapter 3 describes the case characteristics of police investigated cases that involve violence and sexual abuse against people with intellectual disabilities (PWID) and physical impairments. Studies that analyse crime against this group are lacking in Norway, and this work therefore fills a gap in the research field. Access to the Norwegian Criminal data registry therefore allowed us to present a national overview of such cases, in a specific period of time. Studies have documented a lack of knowledge of criminal acts such as physical and sexual abuse against PWID in Norway, and in other countries (e.g., Grøvdal, 2013; Hughes et al., 2012; Jones et al., 2012; Petersilia, 2001). Our understanding of such crimes is therefore today primarily based on data from observational and survey studies.

Observational and survey data is often used because registers lack important information, so making it challenging to identify persons with disabilities (PWD). This is a common methodological challenge in this field (Vanderminden, 2017). Using register data to address this topic has, however, its strengths. A clear strength of our study is access to the police database. This allowed us to present a national sample of the complete cohort of cases registered by the police in the designated period within the specified inclusion criterion (i.e. alleged victim with a disability, in physical and/or sexual abuse cases). Register data limits the well-known challenge of low response rate and drop-outs in observational and survey studies (Olsen, 2011). This data may, however, contain other biases such as missing information in the registries, limited information for example on disability criteria (as seen in our study), and discrepancies over time in how specific variables are recorded. For example, changes in the Norwegian Penal Code in 2015 led to new definitions in paragraphs of the code that describe sexual offenses. These new definitions made it challenging to compare crime statistics before and after the new code, and is why we included information recorded after October 2015 and to December 2017. How the results are presented in this paper is influenced by variables computed by the police at the time we received information from the criminal data registry and decisions made when determining how register data should be presented. For example, one person who has been subjected to a number of criminal acts at the same time, would be registered multiple times one for each criminal act. Our research question reflects our wish to determine the number of alleged victims, as opposed to the number of criminal cases. We therefore decided to present each victim as one case, and not multiply up the number of victims by presenting each criminal act they have been subjected to.

A goal of using register data in quantitative studies, such as the paper in chapter 3, is to present a valid and representative understanding of the research question addressed. Biases in the sample such as missing information in the register, missing criteria for registering disability and the limited time span, affect the representativeness of the results in this study. One interesting finding of this study is the high number of cases (74%) moved forward to prosecution, the limitations mentioned being taken into consideration. The aim of the study was to describe and discuss investigated criminal cases. Such a high number of prosecutions may therefore indicate a bias in the sample. As discussed in the paper, a study conducted in the Netherlands shows a similar rate of cases (71%) being sent to the public prosecutor (Van Den Bergh & Hoekman,

76

2006). The authors in this study used a selective sampling procedure, due to missing information in the registries. This affects the validity of the results. They also did not present a national sample, as in our study. Despite this, the results for several variables such as gender distribution, mean age of the alleged victim and number of cases sent to prosecution, are similar between their and our studies. This may indicate that the Norwegian police's selection of cases for investigation in sexual abuse and violence cases that involve a victim with disability, are affected by issues that are similar to those that can be expected when using a selective sampling procedure. Issues that might affect the results of both studies include that the cases that are pushed forward in the judicial process are the criminal cases that are most grave, cases that include evidence that is considered to have been approved in a court hearing, and victims with the ability to tell about the incident in an investigative interview. Such biases therefore affect the representativeness of the results and must be considered when interpreting them. The biases and limitations of this study therefore indicate that a replication is needed, to obtain a stronger and more valid understanding of investigated cases of sexual abuse and violence against PWD in Norway.

A quantitative analysis of real-life investigative interviews

Quantitative text analysis using documents as our empirical data, was the method used in the paper presented in chapter 5, *Interviewing alleged victims with intellectual disabilities and autism*. Documents are like registers, in that the data already exists, but was developed for another purpose than research. This data therefore requires a number of aspects to be taken into consideration in the analytic process. This includes the type of document, where they are developed and for what purpose. The strengths and limitations should be taken into consideration when deciding which analysis methods are used (Asdal & Reinertsen, 2020). Different document analysis methods, such as text analysis, conversation or discourse analysis, are suited to different purposes (Asdal & Reinertsen, 2020; Bowling, 2014). Our aim, in the chapter 5 study, was to provide a detailed understanding of the question types used in actual investigative interviews of people with intellectual disabilities (PWID) and people with autism (PWA). A quantitative text analysis of verbatim transcriptions of actual interviews was therefore well-suited to this research question.

Coding schemes that have been developed to identify and quantify predefined categories of questions, are used in the methods for analysing question types in investigative interviews. These coding schemes are widely used in this field of research (e.g., Agnew & Powell, 2004; Baugerud et al., 2020; Brown et al., 2017; Hershkowitz, 2018; Lamb, 1996). Using a wellestablished coding scheme with predefined categories enhanced the comparability of our data with previously reported data (Bordens & Abbot, 2018). Quantifying text, as in paper 2, enabled us to use statistical tests (i.e. Repeated measurement ANOVA) to analyse the data and search for possible relations between different variables, for example the relation between type of disability and number of open-ended questions asked. The use of question types as a quality measure is based on research that shows that there is a relation between question types and account accuracy (Agnew & Powell, 2004; Cederborg & Lamb, 2008; Lamb, 1996; Morrison et al., 2019; Ternes & Yuille, 2008). An analysis of question types in investigative interviews is, furthermore in Norway, still used to diminish or strengthen a witness' ability to report accurate information during a court hearing (e.g., Helmikstøl, 2017). The use of question type analysis in court hearings further emphasises the need for research that can document how real-life interviews in Norway are conducted with PWID and PWA, to illuminate whether this analysis can affect the judicial process. I will, in the following, provide a broader discussion than has been given in chapter 5, of the strengths and limitations of the study, and how possible biases can affect the interpretation of the results.

A strength of our study is that all 12 police districts in Norway responded and collaborated in data collection. This can indicate that the whole population of transcribed interviews that meets the inclusion criteria i.e. victim with disability and subject to a criminal act registered as a sexual offense or violence, in the designated period was included. The validity of the study results is strengthened by using a national sample, given the inclusion criteria. Comparisons with similar studies from other jurisdictions must, however, be made cautiously, as the Norwegian police use the SI model, which is not used elsewhere. Collecting real-life transcripts of interviews of alleged victims with intellectual disabilities (ID) or autism and a confirmed diagnosis is, however, challenging and required permissions and access to information rarely granted to researchers. The permission to use information from the Norwegian Criminal data registry is an advantage in our study. It enabled us to use register data to identify cases. This contrasts with similar studies that use other more selective sampling procedures due the study not
being granted access to or a lack of information on variables such as disability in the registers (Cederborg et al., 2008; Cederborg & Lamb, 2008; Hershkowitz, 2018; Van Den Bergh & Hoekman, 2006). Cases involving alleged victims with ID or autism are registered in the Norwegian criminal data registry and in information documented at Barnahus. This makes identification based on disability possible. This contrasts with other countries where information about disability seems to be missing (Cederborg & Lamb, 2008; Nixon et al., 2017; Van Den Bergh & Hoekman, 2006). The Norwegian Barnahus furthermore bears a specific responsibility in judicial processes for PWID and PWA (Politidirektoratet et al., 2016). To date, Barnahus in other countries such as Sweden and Iceland do not bear responsibility for this group (Johansson et al., 2017). The use of the criminal data registry and information from Barnahus were a clear strength in our data collection procedure. It allowed us to analyse qualitative aspects in a national sample of real-life transcripts of investigative interviews. Knowledge on the qualitative aspects of interviews have so far been based on considerable experimental studies of typically developing children or children with ID (e.g., Agnew et al., 2006; Brown et al., 2017). Studies that analyse real life transcripts of adults with ID, such as this, therefore represent a unique opportunity to address how best-practice recommendations are mirrored in actual interviews.

Conducting a field study such as this gave us the opportunity to address how the Norwegian police use question types in real-life interviews of PWID and PWA. Field studies do, however, come with constraints, the limitations in our study being related by a number of variables. These are variations in registration procedures across police districts, lack of guidelines on how to define disability, missing data in the register and a possible skewness in determining which interviews meet the criteria for transcription. These are biases that can potentially affect the validity of the result. In the Norwegian context, a prosecuting attorney decides whether an interview should be transcribed or not based on information disclosed in the interview (i.e. information that indicates that a criminal act has taken place). As far as we know, this is a decision that is primarily based on the prosecuting attorney's interpretation of the information revealed in the interview. We can assume that, despite the legal framework, the penal code, and guidelines on how to assess such information, that there are differences in what information is considered to reveal a criminal act. This may have caused a bias in the sample studied in paper 2, leading to a sample of cases that may contain a different questioning pattern than interviews in which such indications of a criminal act were not revealed. There is a documented relation between question type and the validity of information revealed during an interview (e.g.,Brown et al., 2017; Lamb, 1996; Lamb et al., 2007). We can therefore anticipate that interviews with a recommended questioning pattern more often lead to information that a prosecuting officer considers reveals a criminal offence. Interviews that use a non-recommended questioning pattern may therefore be insufficiently represented in our study, so giving an unbalanced result. Nevertheless, this study analyses the use of different question types in interviews with PWID and PWA in a national sample of transcribed interviews, and the use of best-practice recommendations in these interviews. The results, despite the possible bias of the sample, provides an understanding that interviewers primarily rely on non-recommended question types, a variable that indicates the qualitative aspects of an interview and therefore clearly documents the need for improvement.

The pattern of non-recommended question types revealed in paper 2 is based on the analysis of transcripts of N=96, 14 of these being repeated interviews. Repeated interviews are recommended as a part of the SI model when interviewing PWID and PWA in Norway, and are to be conducted using the same procedures as initial interviews. They are therefore included in the sample. Studies have, however, shown that the questioning patterns used in repeated interviews may differ from those used in initial interviews. This may therefore also have an affect on the questioning patterns used in repeated interviews of PWID and PWA (Brown et al., 2015; Cederborg et al., 2008). These studies indicate that questioning types used in the interview may change from the first interview to the second, particularly the use of non-recommended questions in interviews of persons with moderate ID (Brown et al., 2015; Cederborg et al., 2008). Studies of real-life repeated interviews of typically developing children also indicate a negative change in questioning pattern (Waterhouse et al., 2016). Studies indicating that nonrecommended questions may appear more often in repeated interviews, may also indicate that the results of our analysis are negatively skewed. Repeated interviews are, however, few and are according to the SI model to be conducted in the same way as the initial interviews. They are, however, included to provide a picture of how different question types are used in investigative interviews of PWID and PWA in Norway in the designated period.

Another limitation of analysing question strategies using the method described in chapter 5, is that it does not take into consideration question types changing during the course of an interview. The analysis does not uncover question strategy variation. Nor does it reveal the

strategy of a directive question being followed by an open-ended question, which is called the paring principle strategy, and which is included in best-practice recommendations (Lamb et al., 2018c; Wolfman et al., 2016). The paring principle is, however, not explicitly stated as a recommended strategy in the SI model. Despite the lack of emphasis on this principle, it would be an interesting subject for analysis in later studies.

An increasing number of studies are based on an improved theoretical and practical knowledge of how to question typically developing children and PWID. These studies often also analyse the interviewee's responses. Response analysis is conducted to address how specific question types influence the accuracy and types of information revealed during the interview (e.g., Brown et al., 2017). The relation between question types and accuracy is essential, and of theoretical and applied relevance. Correlations between question types used and accuracy of the information provided are evidently easier to assess in an experimental study design, where the variables involved can be controlled. This contrasts the real-life interviews analysed in our study. Field studies cannot assess accuracy, as the validity of the information can not be determined. This is an obvious limitation in studies such as ours. Another method used to analyse responses in real-life interviews is to assess whether the interviewee disclosed relevant information on the case investigated and how the information relates to different question types (e.g., Hershkowitz, 2018). The main goal of the study presented in chapter 5 was not, however, to examine such relations, but to assess which question strategies (question types) were used, and to address how interviews of PWID and PWA in Norway were conducted. Studies analysing real-life interviews of PWID and PWA are scarce. A further important reason for conducting this study is the implementation of the newly developed SI model in Norway. We therefore decided to conduct a study that focuses on question types. An important issue for future research must be the assessment of the interviewee's responses and the relation between these and the question types used in the interviews.

It is finally important to mention that the results of this study may be affected by many alleged victims with ID not being disclosed as having a disability. Persons with mild or border line ID often have more advanced communication and language skills. The interview strategies used with this group may be different, which would in turn affect the results. Studies have documented that PWD are overrepresented in the criminal justice system (Søndenaa et al., 2019; Søndenaa et al., 2008). A discussion of the discrepancies between reported and investigated

81

cases involving victims with disabilities and how the police can detect disabilities at an early stage of an investigation is, however, beyond the scope of this thesis.

In summary, the limitations discussed here must be taken into consideration when interpreting the results. The results show a large variation across interviews. The majority of questions used were also yes/no and directive questions. This provides the general understanding that interviewers need to improve the questions used in interviews of PWID and PWA, to bring them into line with best-practice recommendations.

A case study using document analysis and qualitative interviews

The third study paper is *Between the criminal justice and health care system*. Responsibilities in securing health care services for people with intellectual disabilities after an investigative interview. This is a case study of documents and interviews, and is presented in chapter 7. Case studies are used to provide a more in-depth understanding of one or a few cases, and may be beneficial when the aim is to provide detailed descriptions of a phenomenon or explore a topic not previously investigated (Bordens & Abbot, 2018; Bowling, 2014). A case study corroborates the aim of the study, given the empirical data we had access to, the aim being to illuminate how the provision of health services to PWID were ensured after an investigative interview. The methods used in the analytic process were the text analysis of documents and a qualitative thematic analysis of interviews. The documents have, as previously mentioned, some strengths and limitations. Specific considerations are therefore necessary when conducting a thematic analysis. A qualitative thematic analysis is an appropriate approach to use to generate knowledge grounded in human experiences, and is useful in the examination of the perspectives of different research participants (Creswell, 2014; Nowell et al., 2017). This analysis is also recommended due to its flexibility and its theoretical freedom. This might, however, be a disadvantage in the process of developing analytic themes (Nowell et al., 2017). The aim of our interviews with health personnel was to explore similarities and challenges across different themes. A flexible approach was therefore well suited to the exploration of the research problem.

The aim of this third article was to shed light on a phenomenon not previously studied in Norway, namely collaboration across the criminal justice sector (CJS) and the health care

services, and the meeting alleged victims' health care needs. A designated task of Barnahus employees is, in Norway, to assess, provide or ensure that alleged victims interviewed at Barnahus receive the health care services required to allow them to cope with their experiences. This can be considered, based on Barnahus' obligations, to be a part of the services provided in the judicial process in cases that involve the physical or sexual abuse of PWD. This obligation is different from that of a police investigation. As described in the chapter 7 paper, our knowledge of health care services or treatment provided to this group of patients in Norway is limited. A strength of this study is that it explores a field not previously studied. We received consent to analyse documents in real-life cases. Collaboration between the health care sector and Barnahus was also further explored by interviewing health care professionals with such experience. We raise a question that are important to consider given the stated responsibility of Barnahus consultants, this being to ensure the health care needs of alleged victims with disabilities are sufficiently met.

Methodological obstacles related to recruiting and identifying potential participants, and the stringent regulations that apply to access to sensitive information in the health care services, were particularly challenging in this study. We were not granted permission to contact potential participants based on information from the study presented in chapter 5. We furthermore did not, based on ethical considerations, consider it appropriate to apply for an exemption. These considerations centre on we as researchers not being in possession of information on the judicial process or other issues that arise after the investigative interview. Examples include a case still being under investigation or the alleged victim having severe health problems. Being contacted by a researcher who is not familiar with the criminal case or with the alleged victim, could therefore be too intrusive. Given these considerations, we decided to carry out the recruitment of participants in cooperation with the 11 Barnahus in Norway. This dependency on Barnahus consultants and their limited opportunities to identify cases and collect informed consent meant that, despite our efforts to recruit more participants, the sample was small. Studies such as ours in this field, that involve vulnerable victims and physical and sexual abuse, are hampered by obstacles in the recruitment process (e.g., Beckene et al., 2017). Despite the limitations associated with identifying potential participants and obtaining informed consent, we believe it was of great importance to analyse and describe the data we had collected, as there is a lack of studies in this field. This study therefore uses an explorative approach that aims to describe a

phenomenon, and may therefore be subject to the same methodological issues seen in case and pilot studies.

A case study, by providing a more in-depth understanding of one or a few cases, is wellsuited to illuminating a topic (Bordens & Abbot, 2018). A pilot study is designed to reveal obstacles and unintended barriers in a research study, through using a small sample and later using this knowledge in the design of a larger scale study (Kim, 2010). Pilot studies and studies that explore a new research topic, do not necessarily have sufficient information on how to gain access to relevant information or on the richness of the data collected (Bowling, 2014).

The initial information in our study (the content in the Barnahus' journals) was not as we anticipated. This therefore forced us to adjust the research question. We initially focused on how the Barnahus provided health services and who they collaborated with. The content and sparse information of the Barnahus' journals led us, however, to adjust the research question to include how the collaboration between the health and criminal justice sector operated.

Eight of the Barnahus who initially were positive to collaborating with us at the recruitment stage were, due to reasons such as limited time to contact participants and obtain informed consent, not able to contribute to the study. This restricted our access to potential participants. Our approval from the Norwegian Centre for Research Data to conduct the study, did not allow us (as researchers) to contact potential participants. Considering that tThere are very few investigative interviews of PWD in Norway totally, approximately, 130 persons with PWD are interviewed a year distributed across the 11 Barnahus (Politidirektoratet, 2016, 2018). and that it is challenging to conduct research with this vulnerable group (Beckene et al., 2017). Our conclusion therefore was that it was feasible to continue the study with the ten participants.

Another consequence of few participants and limited information in journals was the lack of details on collaboration with the health care sector. The permission to conduct the study that we were granted, restricted our access to information on third parties. This limited the information that could be made available to us on the health care professionals who have collaborated with Barnahus consultants. The recruitment of health care professionals with experience of collaboration with Barnahus therefore had to be based on the names of the departments in the municipalities and the specialised health care services identified in the journals, which we did have access to. Health care services are organised differently across municipalities and across specialised health care services in Norway (see chapter 7 for a description). We therefore restricted recruitment to the services identified in the Barnahus journals. We, as a consequence of adjusting the research problem to a focus on how collaboration between the two sectors operated, decided to interview health personnel in services or municipalities who had experience of collaborating with Barnahus consultants. We did not however, anticipate that some of the services that we asked to participate were not permitted to accept the request due to an organisational decision. The organisations did not participate because experience had shown that such requests took too much time and effort, and that they had decided to say no to all requests for participation in research studies such as ours. We, as previously mentioned, therefore had to adjust the research problem due to limitations such as lack of information in the journals and recruitment process challenges. It is not unusual in a research process, particularly qualitative studies, to adjust research questions during the process (Creswell, 2014). We, however see that some of the obstacles such as the content of the Barnahus' journals, our dependency on the capacity of Barnahus' consultants to recruit participants and the challenge of contacting relevant health personnel for interviews, could have been uncovered by a pilot study. We consider that the topic addressed is, despite the limitations of this study, highly relevant, that the paper contributes to the field and that the results shed light on the need for further research and professional development with respect to this target group.

Ethical considerations

Conducting research with vulnerable groups such as PWD demands high ethical standards. Each study included in the thesis required different considerations and approvals, to ensure the studies met the ethical standards researchers are obliged to comply with. The studies in this thesis required access to registries and to confidential information. Approval and exemptions from the duty of confidentiality were granted by the Council for Confidentiality and Research, the State Attorney, the Police Directorate, and the Norwegian Data Protection Service. In the third study, presented in chapter 7, we received an approval from the Norwegian Data Protection I will briefly address the ethical considerations when using registry data and documents in research.

Registry data and documents constitute the majority of the empirical data that was analysed in this thesis. There are, however, ethical considerations that should be considered when using data collected for another purpose than research. Examples include the importance of limiting the amount of information extracted from the registry. We had a number of discussions with the head of the registry, part of NCIS, on identifying variables in the criminal data registry that could enable us to address our research question. The discussions were very useful, and helped us to choose the correct variables for addressing our research question. This prevented us from collecting redundant information. Other considerations come in play when using restricted documents such as transcripts of investigative interviews and Barnahus' journals. It is, firstly, important to follow guidelines and routines when storing and handling the data. How this data is analysed and presented should also be carefully considered. We have used predefined categories in our studies to extract information from the documents. This categorisation of data into quantifiable entities addresses our research questions and limits the sensitive information used in our analysis and presentation of data. A major concern in our studies was to secure anonymity by closely consider how we displayed indirectly identifiable personal data. Despite the use of registry data and a national sample of documents in the analysis of criminal cases of physical and sexual abuse cases against PWD, the amount of cases was relatively small. We carefully considered the combination of information such as type of crime, gender, age, and diagnosis to ensure that the form it was presented in would not allow persons to be indirectly identified. For example, we did not include geographical affiliation, which in a country as small as Norway could have made it possible to identify persons involved in the research. The third study of the thesis (chapter 7) raised additional ethical concerns. A common challenge in research involving persons with cognitive impairments relates to informed consent. The aspects we considered and that are discussed in other studies that involve PWID, relate to the complexity of the information in consent forms and choices in the balance between ensuring informed consent and the amount of data collected (Iacono & Murray, 2003; Northway et al., 2013). For example, we decided not to ask permission to discuss sensitive information on the collaboration between Barnahus and health personnel. This was based on our goal of reducing the complexity of the consent form, and that we know that complex and abstract information is challenging for PWID, even where they are assisted by a guardian or trusted adult (Iacono & Murray, 2003). As researchers, we considered that our responsibility to ensure that consent was informed had to be given first priority, even at the expense of permission to discuss sensitive information. The data from the interviews with health personnel therefore provide information on general experience, instead of specific experience in designated cases. More in-depth information on specific cases could have revealed other challenges such as in the nature of the investigated crime, the witness specific health care needs and solutions discussed between the sectors to provide required services.

86

Chapter 9. General discussion

The key findings of the research are discussed in this chapter. I will also address some issues which may be important in future research of people with disabilities (PWD) and the development of knowledge that may have implications for practices that aim to improve the rule of law for this vulnerable group, based on these findings. The topics that will be discussed are 1) The preponderance of sexual abuse of young females with intellectual disabilities and prevention programs, 2) How to acquire and maintain interviewer behaviour, 3) Are diagnosis and IQ scores useful when measuring people's abilities?, 4) Changed understandings of persons with intellectual disabilities from participating in research and 6) Absence of knowledge about the services provided to adults with intellectual disabilities at Barnahus

Sexual abuse of young females with intellectual disabilities and prevention programs

A key finding of the research is the preponderance of sexual abuse of young women with intellectual disabilities. This finding is documented in chapter 3 and chapter 7, young women with mild intellectual disabilities being the most frequent alleged victims of sexual abuse subject to investigation. As many as 59% of the cases investigated in the period from October 2015 to December 2017 were cases involving young female victims of a sexual offense. There may be a number of explanations for the differences in the distribution of offenses across diagnoses and gender. These differences may, as discussed in chapter 8, be due to biases in the sample that relate to people with mild ID having more advanced language skills, being better able to report and to tell about their experience and perhaps less reliant on others to report offenses to the police. Gender differences is a well-known phenomenon in sexual offense crimes, and is also found in studies of sexual abuse in the general population (e.g., Krug et al., 2002; Tjaden & Thoennes, 2000). An important question related to this finding is how society can prevent these cases from occurring.

Criminal cases that involve the sexual abuse of females with intellectual disabilities have, based on the studies in this thesis, a high occurrence. This finding provides important information that furthermore relates to the government of Norway's goal to combat physical and sexual abuse. More detailed information on particularly vulnerable groups such as females with intellectual disabilities, is required and must be used if the overarching goal of preventing such cases from occurring is to be achieved. The Norwegian government initiated, in 2019, a new national action plan which contained specific prevention goals, to combat domestic violence including sexual abuse. This action plan built on the work of previous action plans (e.g., Justisog beredskapsdepartementet 2013). Vulnerable groups are mentioned in these plans. The heightened risk of abuse and the specific needs of PWD are, however, rarely referred to. How this issue should be addressed, especially for PWID and in particular for females with ID is, however, more complex. There are few studies that evaluate prevention programs that are designed to meet PWD needs. Programs must therefore rely on the existing knowledge developed for the general population (Mikton et al., 2014). Strategies to prevent sexual abuse may have different goals. Some programs are aimed at changing attitudes and behaviours through campaigns that target school classes or the general population. Others are focussed on the needs of specific groups of people being met, such as young females (Ellsberg et al., 2015; Mikton et al., 2014). The gender pattern reported in this thesis, in which females with ID are the most common victim in the cases investigated, is similar to findings reported in the general population (Krug et al., 2002). It is, however, important to clearly state that men with disabilities and/or ID are also subject to abuse and that cases involving men might be underrepresented. Prevention programs targeting men are therefore equally important. Irrespective of the gender patterns, prevention programs with multiple strategies at multiple locations are recommended when addressing this issue. These strategies, perhaps with some small changes, must be used when developing prevention programs for PWD. One important first step to reach PWD, and particularly young females with intellectual disabilities, is to include them in all prevention programs. This includes programs that educate service providers, family members and other 'gatekeepers' (Stevens, 2012). Programs should also be tailored to PWD needs by targeting the special needs that relate to their cognitive abilities, teach them about sexual health and the skills necessary to be able to protect themselves from abuse. A reported success program factor is that programs are multi-sectoral and involve a number of stakeholders (Ellsberg et al., 2015).

Barnahus, which is an inter-professional organisation and part of the CJS, is formally responsible for securing and cooperating with health care and social services. This existing inter-professional form of organisation means that this must be an arena in which prevention programs can be successfully initiated and developed, for the general population but also for specific target groups.

How to acquire and maintain interviewer behaviour

The findings reported in this thesis show that the Norwegian police need to improve their questioning strategies when interviewing alleged victims with ID and autism using the SI model, to bring their interviewing in line with international best-practice recommendations (Lamb et al., 2018a). The question types posed in the chapter 5 study, show that there is a large variation in police interviewer behaviour. There may be a number of explanations for this, some being discussed in the paper. I will, however, here limit the discussion to addressing issues related to how we acquire and maintain new behaviour in interviewers' use of question types.

The results from the above study corroborate the findings of other studies in this field. These show that there is a gap between that recommended by research, and actual practice (Baugerud et al., 2020; Cederborg & Lamb, 2008; Johnson et al., 2015). A number of scholars have suggested that the use of recommended question strategies can be enhanced by using evidence-based protocols, and by providing extensive training and supervision (Benia et al., 2015; Bull, 2010; Cederborg et al., 2013; Dion & Cyr, 2008; La Rooy, 2015). Such strategies have proven to be effective to some degree. Research assessing interviewer behaviour has demonstrated an increase in the use of recommended strategies when a protocol is introduced, and where training and supervision are provided (Lamb, Sternberg, et al., 2002b; Lamb, Sternberg, Orbach, Hershkowitz, et al., 2002; Powell et al., 2010).

One challenge, however, remains. How can recommended interviewer skills be maintained over time? Recommended interviewer behaviour, in terms of the question types used, retreated over time when supervision was withdrawn (Lamb et al., 2018d; Lamb, Sternberg, et al., 2002b). Lamb, Sternberg, et al. ask in a study published in 2002: Is ongoing feedback necessary to maintain the quality of investigative interviews with allegedly abused children? The answer may depend on how we acquire new skills and the processes developed to maintain them.

A useful framework that can explain the process of learning and maintaining recommended interviewer behaviour may be found in the Expert Performance Approach. This is a framework that has been developed to measure and analyse superior performance (Ericsson, 2008; Ericsson & Charness, 1994). There are, within this framework, three levels of mental processes in the learning and maintenance of expert skills, that have been shown to effect the ability to self-regulate acquired behaviours (Ericsson, 2004, 2008, 2015; Ericsson & Charness, 1994). The first is identifying the target performance, and the objective performance measure. The second is that it is crucial to create a mental representation of executing the target performance, to practice the target performance of the target behaviour. Finally, it is necessary to create a mental representation of how you monitor performance, to allow performance to be self-regulated. These steps will allow you to set new goals, analyse the discrepancies between the mental and actual performance, practice the target behaviour and through this maintain and improve target behaviours. Supervised and guided training is a part of the Expert Performance Approach, but will not be discussed here. (for a more detailed description see Ericsson, 2015).

The focus on mental representation might be the missing link in studies that document the effect of learning and maintaining best practice interviewer behaviours, in terms of question types used. This can explain the lack of best-practice interviewer behaviour maintenance over time (e.g., Cederborg et al., 2013; Lamb, Sternberg, et al., 2002b). As seen in studies that assess such behaviour, a professional may have reached an acceptable level of interviewer skills in terms of the Expert Performance Approach. Greater experience does not however, alone, lead to or maintain improvement (Ericsson, 2008, 2015; Ericsson et al., 2007). Superior performance and high quality interviewer behaviour requires, according to this framework, a mental process for the execution, monitoring, planning and analysis of performance (Ericsson, 2008). Another important aspect when learning and maintaining behaviour and particularly expert skills, is sufficient opportunity to practice the target behaviour, to allow an expert level of performance to be developed (Ericsson, 2015). A further complication is that a skilled interviewer will also need specific knowledge on the areas known to be challenging for PWD. These include cognitive functioning, language, and social skills. We also know that PWD is an extremely heterogenic group (Carr et al., 2007). It can therefore be extremely challenging for police-investigators in all police districts in Norway to obtain and developed the expert skills required to interview PWD. A possible solution to secure sufficient opportunities for the Norwegian police to practice has been successfully used in the training of medical experts. This solution uses simulation and video recorded real-life events to monitor, assess, and practice target behaviours (Ericsson, 2004). All interviews of PWD in Norway are video recorded. This can therefore provide a unique opportunity to apply the framework of the Expert Performance Approach, to achieve the goal of maintaining high level interviewer skills over time. The gap between best-practice recommendations and real-life performance in terms of questioning types used in interviews (as displayed in chapter 5), may be approached using the Expert Performance Approach framework in interviewer behaviour training.

Using intermediaries to facilitate interviewer behaviour

The Witness Intermediary Scheme of Registered Intermediaries is another way of improving the quality of investigative interviews and securing PWDs' need for support (Wurtzel & Marchant, 2017). The scheme was successfully piloted in 2004 and rolled out nationally in England and Wales in 2008. Intermediaries are trained and accredited by the Ministry of Justice and often hold degrees in, for example, speech and language therapy, psychology, social work or teaching (Wurtzel & Marchant, 2017). They assess vulnerable witnesses' needs for support and communication aids, and facilitate two way communication between the witness and other participants in the CJS (Plotnikoff & Woolfson, 2015). The goal is to ensure that communication is as complete, accurate and coherent as possible during the investigative interview or court hearing. Similar schemes have been developed and piloted in other jurisdictions such as Canada, Australia and Northern Ireland (Cooper & Wurtzel, 2014; Henderson, 2015; Hepner et al., 2015). Evaluation reports and studies describe the positive effect of this scheme on obtaining the best evidence from vulnerable witnesses (Cooper, 2014; Henderson, 2015). One study aimed to document the effect of using intermediaries during an interview, the study reporting significant benefits for typically developing children and little effect for children with autism (Henry et al., 2017). PWID were, however, not included in the study. To date there have been no studies that report the effects of using an intermediary when questioning PWID. The overall positive experiences addressed in this, and the need for the Norwegian police to search for tools that can improve their practice, makes this scheme of interest to the CJS in Norway.

Are diagnosis and IQ scores useful in measuring people's abilities?

Research that is conducted to improve investigative interviews with PWID, is mainly based on comparisons of typically developing children with children with intellectual disabilities (ID) using IQ scores, chronological age and mental age equivalence (e.g., Brown et al., 2018; Brown et al., 2017; Brown et al., 2012). In chapter 5 we compared groups of people with mild ID, moderate ID, and autism. We did not, however, include any comparison groups of typically developing individuals. We found few differences in the question types used across the groups. There was, however, a large variation within the groups, there also being arguments that can explain why we did not find larger differences across groups. One explanation may be that we compared groups based on diagnostic label, which is closely related to IQ scores (World Health Organization, 2019). Comparing groups using parameters such as IQ scores or diagnosis can be explained by societal issues such as changes in how we understand ID. This will be discussed in the next section. Methodology is, however, also evident. Group studies that aim to document the relationship between variables require (methodologically) a comparison group to control for coincidences (Bordens & Abbot, 2018). This is important in the development of validated knowledge of variables that affect the information disclosed in an investigative interview. This is also the most common methodological approach. A number of studies that use experimental designs such as this, to establish a research-based consensus on how to question children and PWID in investigative interviews, are based on the statistical measures of average and standard deviation (Lamb et al., 2018c). Using averages results in less attention on the variability within a group and individual variation. As reported in our study, we found a large variation within groups when analysing questioning strategies across different interviewers. In some interviews the interviewer relied on open-ended questions, and refrained from using suggestive questions. In other interviews, the interviewer mainly used leading and option-posing questions. A certain degree of variation is, of course, excepted. This can, however, be partly explained by diagnostic labels and IQ scores not being fine-tuned enough to be used as an explanatory variable in such studies. The research of applied topics such as interviewer behaviour towards PWID, repeatedly discusses heterogeneity within a group as a major bias in the interpretation of results (e.g., Agnew & Powell, 2004; Hershkowitz, 2018). PWID are considered to show an even larger

variation in language, communication and social skills than is expected in the general population (Carr & O'Reilly, 2016). Group studies that use improper variables, such as diagnostic labels and IQ scores to explain the relationship between phenomena, may have a limited impact and at worst conceal relevant information that is required to improve practice. The research into investigative interviewing of PWID therefore needs to embrace societal changes in how we label and understand intellectual disabilities today, to bring about a change in this. Other parameters such as language and comprehension skills are variables that can be used to assess and explain qualitative aspects in interviews. For example, Bearman et al. (2019) demonstrated that expressive language skills and intellectual functioning were positively associated with the ability to report event-related details. More studies that assess specific skills such as these, can inform and improve practice better than research that solely focuses on IQ and diagnostic features in questioning strategy adjustment. A description of, for example, expressive language skills (in addition to IQ scores or a diagnostic label) will provide a more precise understanding of what the interviewer needs to consider in the communicative interaction during the interview.

Changed understandings of people with intellectual disability

How we label and understand intellectual disability (ID) has changed in recent years (Bertelli et al., 2016; Schalock et al., 2007). In this section I discuss some changes that may have implications for research into the judicial process of criminal cases involving PWID. This relates to changes in labels and diagnostic criterions of ID, how research on the investigative interviews of PWID emerged, and societal changes. I will also address the importance of distinguishing adults with ID from typically developing children, especially in cases involving sexual abuse.

There is no universal definition of disability. This is, as I discussed in chapter 1, challenging. It is also evident in all the studies presented in this thesis, and in research that includes people with disability. Intellectual disability (ID), which is included in the broader term of disability used in this thesis, is also a formal diagnosis recognised by an IQ and adaptive behaviour score of two or more standard deviations below the mean, and based on appropriately normed, individually administered tests (World Health Organization, 2019). Intellectual disability has, in contrast to disability, a universal definition. An essential part of the diagnosis has been and still is the measure of cognitive abilities, which in turn are described by general IQ scores and mental age equivalents. IQ scores and how to measure and understand them has been

debated from the very beginning of cognition testing (Wasserman, 2018). The consensus today is that IQ scores provide an understanding of a person's cognitive abilities. It is also used as a quantitative measurement variable in research that compares groups of people, such as studies in forensic psychology (Bordens & Abbot, 2018). IQ score and mental age equivalents are the variable of choice in studies that assess qualitative aspects, such as question types in investigative interviews of PWID (e.g., Agnew & Powell, 2004; Brown et al., 2017). Research is mainly based on a comparison of typically developing children with PWID, based on the notion that an IQ score is well-suited to assess a person's cognition and to predict their memory, language, and social skills (e.g., Henry & MacLean, 2002). A question this raises is whether IQ scores reflect today's comprehension of how we assess and understand intellectual disability. It is furthermore relevant to reflect on whether comparing typically developing children with adults with ID, is of practical relevance in this field of research - a field which aims to develop knowledge to improve their ability to report physical and sexual abuse experiences accurately.

How the research on investigative interviews emerged and how society understands and labels ID, may explain the use of IQ scores and chronological and mental age as measures in the research of investigative interviews of PWID. Research into investigative interviews of children, following the disclosure of serious criminal cases, revealed that the horrific stories told by children in investigative interviews about sexual abuse, were later diminished due to suggestive and leading questioning strategies (Gamst, 2005; Lamb et al., 2018c). Greater knowledge on how to question children evolved internationally and in Norway. Similar issues relating to how suggestive and leading questioning strategies affect PWID also became a topic within this field of research (Agnew & Powell, 2004; Hershkowitz et al., 2007). Conclusions from these studies show that the limited cognitive capacity of PWID could lead to the same challenges as when interviewing children, that suggestive and leading questioning strategies should be avoided. These conclusions were based on the assumption that the IQ score and mental age of an adult with ID, were comparable with typically developing children at the same mental level. This to some extent is still a prevailing understanding.

The understanding of ID has strong roots in a biological point of view. This perspective views ID as a personal trait that is different from the average population (Wehmeyer et al., 2008; Zigler, 1982). Based on the understanding that PWID have different personal traits than the general population, average scores in intelligence (IQ scores), became a way of explaining and

measuring PWID deficits (Wasserman, 2018; Zigler, 1982). There is, furthermore, a relation between age and domains such as language, communication, and memory (Carr & O'Reilly, 2016). It therefore seems reasonable to explain and understand PWID abilities by comparing them with typically developing children using chronological and mental age. This is still the most common measurement used in research studies that assess PWID abilities in various domains (e.g., Henry et al., 2015).

As previously mentioned, studies have compared PWID with typically developing children using IQ scores and chronological and mental age matched control groups. These have reached similar conclusions on recommended questions strategies for PWID and for typical developing children (Agnew & Powell, 2004; Brown et al., 2017; Hershkowitz, 2018). A major change has, however, taken place in how ID is labelled, defined and diagnosed from the first studies being published, these studies comparing applying questioning strategies to typically developing children and PWID (Bertelli et al., 2016; Carulla et al., 2011; Schalock et al., 2007). The labels have changed from mental retardation to intellectual disability/intellectual developmental disorder, and mirrors societal changes that influence how PWID are viewed and treated within society. PWID have previously been understood in a biological framework. This understanding has mainly been founded on PWID having different or lacking personal traits found in the average of the general population. Today's understanding builds on a more socialecological view, in which the interaction between the person and the environment is emphasised, and means that a person's abilities are influenced by environmental barriers (Schalock et al., 2007). In an investigative interview, a person using a communication aid such as signs, will not be able to communicate effectively if the interviewer does not have the skills in using signs to communicate required. The societal changes in this have had a great impact on governmental policies, which emphasise inclusion, equality, and citizenship (Barne og likestillingsdepartementet, 2016). The diagnostic criteria of ID have, in line with societal development, progressed from mainly focusing on IQ scores, to including assessments of domains such as processing speed and verbal comprehension (Bertelli et al., 2016; Carulla et al., 2011; Schalock et al., 2007). A shift from IQ scores and mental age equivalents to assessments of cognitive domains such as verbal comprehension, emphasise a person's individual profile and cognitive functioning, and may describe abilities more adequately (Bertelli et al., 2016). These

major changes in how we understand ID should also be reflected in how research with PWID is conducted, particularly in an applied field such as investigative interviews of PWID.

Another argument for not comparing typically developing children and adults with ID that is particularly related to sexual abuse, is the knowledge and experience of a child compared with that of an adult, irrespective of IQ score or mental age. A common attitude was or might still be that PWID are asexual and do not have, want, or need any knowledge of this part of life. Today we know that this is not the case, and that life experience in all areas of life including sexuality, affects a person in various ways (Frawley & Wilson, 2016). A broader discussion on sexual development and PWID is beyond the scope of this thesis. We can, however, expect that life experience in this area will influence both how they remember, experience and report sexual abuse.

I therefore argue that comparing adults with ID with typically developing children is not an acceptable nor effective way of explaining PWIDs abilities in investigative interviewing. Using other measurements such as language comprehension and verbal abilities, and refraining from comparing PWIDs with typically developing children, is an essential step in PWID research. This acknowledges equality, and may be more efficient in describing the core skills such as the language and communication skills needed to provide an accurate account, and so improve practice.

What can hinder people with intellectual disabilities participating in research?

I will, in this section, briefly reflect on how the need for more research involving people with disabilities, and particularly intellectual disability, may be hindered by guidelines and strict ethical considerations. I will shed light on how guidelines that have been developed to protect vulnerable groups in research, may affect our knowledge on PWID's needs in a judicial process. PWID are rarely included in CJS and health-care sector research (Feldman et al., 2014). This lack of research may be explained by ethical considerations and by regulations to protect vulnerable groups in research. I must emphasise that it is necessary (Havercamp et al., 2019) to have regulations and strong ethical standards to safeguard vulnerable groups from being exploited in research. History, particularly research conducted with prisoners during the second

world war, has proven this necessary (Ruyter, 2015). It is, however, despite this important to discuss issues that may lead to less reliable information. The incentive to address this issue is not based on a demand for less restrictions, but raises questions that may illuminate some of the challenges researchers encounter in studies involving vulnerable people and sensitive topics.

One interesting aspect in this case, is whether data protection regulations and ethical considerations that are developed to protect vulnerable groups, in fact hinder the development of robust knowledge. Making identifying persons with PWD in registries and link registries difficult, and therefore making access to reliable information also difficult, may conceal their true needs. For example, in one of our studies we initially aimed to apply for permission for access to health registries, to analyse cases involving PWID who had received services that relate to sexual abuse or violence. We realised, during the study planning processes, that this would require manually searching the registries, a time consuming and expensive task that was impossible within the framework of our project. This is one aspect that makes research with PWD challenging, and may lead researchers to use less reliable data sources (Havercamp & Krahn, 2019; Vanderminden, 2017). As Krahn (2019) argued, today's societies strive to base the development of policies and interventions on knowledge-based decisions. PWD's have a higher need for support and health care services, and therefore better data for this group is needed to ensure that a plan for prevention strategies and economic costs can be estimated and their human rights are secured. Making sure that registries include information about PWD might be one way of developing better and more robust knowledge on this group of people. For example, we were able to extract data based on disability status from the Norwegian Criminal Data register. However, the police revealed that routines for and descriptions of criteria for registering who has a disability were lacking. It should be possible to improve this in this registry and in other registries such as health registries. This might be important in future studies that aim to understand the physical and sexual abuse of PWD. Another positive initiative that may be important for future knowledge on PWD, is that the government of Norway has implemented an initiative to develop statistics on the living conditions of vulnerable groups, which includes PWD (Karlsen et al., 2019). We are therefore perhaps seeing the beginning of a change that can lead to more reliable knowledge from the better documentation of the needs of PWD, which in turn can improve the services provided to this group of people.

Absence of knowledge about services to adults with intellectual disabilities at Barnahus

Barnahus is responsible for securing health care services for adults with intellectual disabilities after investigative interviews. This was addressed in chapter 7. A key finding was the need for more knowledge and improved procedures to reduce disparities in the health care services provided to this group. There is, however, a lack of knowledge on how health care assessments and services to adults with ID, provided by Barnahus, are conducted and how adults with ID experience the services provided.

Two large national evaluation reports were published in 2012 on Barnahus, initiated and financed by the Justice Department and the Police Directorate (Bakketeig et al., 2012; Stefansen et al., 2012). The aim of the project was to assess the possible implications in the judicial process, and upon the experiences of witnesses and parents, of services provided by Barnahus. Barnahus employees and collaborative partners from health care and social services were also interviewed, to assess their experience with Barnahus during a police investigation. These evaluation reports mention adults with ID as being a target group for the services provided by Barnahus. None have, however, included this group in questions addressed to or as informants in interviews or surveys. This is a primary reason why we do not have better information today on services, including health care services, provided to adults with ID at Barnahus. An argument for not involving this group in the evaluation conducted in 2012, was that few investigative interviews of this group were conducted in the period from 2007 to 2012 (Bakketeig et al., 2012). The reports do, however, recommend that services to adults with ID at Barnahus were evaluated more specifically (Bakketeig et al., 2012). A new evaluation project assessing Barnahus in Norway was initiated and financed in 2019 by the Police Directorate. Even though there was a clear recommendation in 2012 to evaluate the services offered to adults with ID, this group again seems to be absent in the descriptions of the ongoing project (Oslomet - Storbyuniversitet, 2020). Better routines for registration of cases involving adults with ID who are interviewed at Barnahus, show that 131 investigative interviews were conducted with adults with ID in 2016, the number being 149 in 2018 (Politidirektoratet, 2016, 2018). Few investigative interviews should this time not be an argument for not involving this group in the ongoing evaluation. Other grounds related to ethical restrictions and challenges in the recruitment process (e.g. time and

expense of obtaining an informed consent) may, as previously discussed, be reasons why they are not included. It is important to find out whether the suggested methodological challenges or other explanations are the reason why they are not included in the evaluation. It is also of importance to search for solutions, so that Barnahus' services to adults with ID are evaluated in line with services to children, given the obligations of Barnahus to this group.

Another obvious and quite challenging aspect for many adults with ID is, of course, the name Barnahus. I know that this has been a subject for discussion at least within the organisation, and is acknowledged as a challenge to adults being interviewed at Barnahus. The name so far does not appear to be a topic for discussion at a higher organisational level. To change the name is probably of no significance to the services, but can have a strong symbolic effect for a justice sector that has been accused of being our societies' last frontier of integration (Lundberg & Simonsen, 2011; Petersilia et al., 2001).

Suggestions for future research

The findings of the research presented and discussed here, add new information to our understanding of parts of the Norwegian judicial process in physical and sexual abuse cases involving PWD. Chapter 3 shows that the majority of cases investigated are moving forward to prosecution, and that very few of the cases brought to court are dismissed. As pointed out earlier, we do not know how many cases involving victims with disabilities are reported to the police. Police officers have found it challenging, in a number of the cases reported to the police, to assess whether a person has cognitive impairments (Olsen et al., 2018). Studies have revealed that lack of competence, guidelines and procedures for detecting PWD by police officers, makes it impossible for them to provide sufficient support early in the process (Henshaw & Thomas, 2012; Olsen et al., 2018). Studies have also revealed that effective and valid tools for detecting disabilities exist, and that these tools are validated in Norway (Søndenaa et al., 2007). The police therefore need to use these tools to help them discover disabilities as early in the judicial process as possible, if they are to be able to offer early support and to develop reliable numbers of reported cases that involve PWD. If disabilities, particularly cognitive impairments, can be discovered early in the process, then the police can call for professional assistance to support them earlier, which may help improve the rule of law for PWD. Future research should aim to

develop effective procedures to support the police in their discovery of a person's need for assistance as early as possible.

PWD are a heterogenic group of people. They therefore need individually tailored support in several areas of life. This is also true for PWD when encountering the CJS. Chapter 5 reveals a large variance in adherence to best-practice recommendations when questioning PWID and PWA. These findings, along with the corroborating research of investigative PWD interviews, argues for more research and more in-depth analysis into question types, how questions affect responses, and factors such as specific language skills. As was also highlighted by the developers of the Norwegian SI model, more research is needed to allow the strengths and weaknesses of the model to be assessed (Langballe & Davik, 2017). Future research may, as discussed, use the framework of the Expert Performance Approach in the continuation of SI model assessment, when designing teaching programs for the learning and maintenance of high-quality interview skills. How to implement and use aids such as intermediaries is also of great importance, given the heterogeneity of PWD. Finally, it is crucial to include PWD or develop new research that assesses their needs in a judicial process, to improve the services PWD receive at Barnahus in Norway.

Concluding Remarks

The purpose of this thesis was to address and provide a better understanding of selected parts of the Norwegian judicial processes in cases involving the physical and sexual abuse of PWD. We, to achieve this, used registry data to describe the judicial process, and used transcribed investigative interviews to analyse qualitative aspects of interviews. Finally, we used case records and structured interviews to illuminate the need for health services after an investigative interview. Using registry data from CJS and real-life cases allows this thesis to provide an important contribution to this research field. Statistics on the physical and sexual abuse of PWD are often based on data from cross-sectional and survey data. Our analysis of real-life investigative interviews of PWD bridges a gap between knowledge primarily developed in experimental studies, and the mirroring of this knowledge in practice. This thesis reveals the need for more research into how to question adults with disabilities. It also reveals that the health care needs of PWD at the interface between CJS and the health care sector need to be addressed, to ensure their health service needs due to abusive experiences are met.

PWD vulnerability in terms of cognitive impairments and communication deficits, adds complexity to an investigation process. Conducting this process therefore requires specialised knowledge. Such specialised knowledge depends on research. So does the development of knowledge-based recommendations. The vulnerability of PWD, however, requires strong ethical consideration before including PWD in research. Procedures to secure sensitive information and gain approved consent are described as being time-consuming and expensive. Studies therefore often suffer from methodological issues related to sampling procedures and sample size, so making drawing general conclusions on behalf of the population challenging. An overarching goal for future research is to endeavour to overcome the methodological challenges, and to through this identify and include PWD in research.

Appendix 1. Interview guide (chapter 7)

Interview guide

Collaboration:

How do you collaborate with the Barnahus in cases involving people with intellectual disabilities who have been at the Barnahus for an investigative interview?

Treatment:

How are treatment needs assessed?

Who do you cooperate with to assess the need for treatment?

Who offers treatment if it is needed?

What type of treatment is offered?

Challenges:

Do you have guideline for how such cases are handled within your services?

What are challenging in your meeting with people with intellectual disabilities who have experienced violence or sexual abuse?

Appendix 2. Information and consent form for persons with intellectual disabilities (chapter 7)

Information and consent form for persons participating in the study concerning services after an investigative interview

Name of the study: Mapping services to children and adults with intellectual disabilities after an investigative interview at Barnahus

Researchers name:

Tone Åker, PhD student at Oslo and Akershus University College, email: tone.aker@hioa.no Dr Børge Strømgren, at Oslo and Akershus University College, email: borge.stromgren@hioa.no

Funding:

Extrastiftelsen in cooperation with Save the Children.

About the study:

The study is about the services you receive after the investigative interview at Barnahus.

We want to know if you have received help and from whom

We do not need information about what you talked about

To learn more about whom you received help from we will read the information the police and Barnahus consultant has written from meetings with you.

We will remove your name and date of birth from all the papers we read about you.

You do not need to meet us but you can call or send us an email if you have questions

The information we receive will be stored in a secure location

The study ends in January 2020 If you say yes to participate and change your mind you can withdraw your consent at any time. If so, we will destroy all information about you.

Who is assisting me in reading and answering the questions?

.....

The name of the person assisting you. Do not answer this and the following questions if you are reading and answering the sheet without an assistant

The person assisting me is:

Please tick:

- _____a social worker or professional employed at the group home
- ____ a guardian
- ____ a parent
- ____ other

Please tick the statements that applies:

I consent to participate in this study	Yes	No	
I understand the information I have heard and read	Yes	No	
I know I can withdraw my consent at any time, and I do not need to explain reasons for withdrawing it	Yes	No	
I am signing the consent form with assistant from a person I know and trust	Yes	No	
My signature:			

Signature from the person assisting me:

 Dato:/



Informasjon og spørsmål for personer som vil delta i en studie om oppfølging etter avhør hos Statens barnehus

Tittel på studien: Kartlegging av tjenestetilbudet til barn og voksne med utviklingshemming etter avhør hos Statens barnehus

Forskernes navn:

Tone Åker, doktorgradsstudent ved Høgskolen i Oslo og Akershus, epost: <u>tone.aker@hioa.no</u> Børge Strømgren, førsteamanuensis ved Høgskolen i Oslo og Akershus, epost:

borge.stromgren@hioa.no

De som betaler for studien

er Extrastiftelsen i samarbeid med Redd barna.

Hva handler studien om:

Denne studien handler om den hjelpen du har fått etter du var på avhør hos Statens barnehus.

Vi vil vite om du har fått hjelp, og hvem du har fått hjelp fra.

Vi vil ikke vite hva dere har snakket om.

For å lære mer om hvem du har fått hjelp fra vil vi lese informasjon om deg som Statens barnehus og politiet har skrevet ned når du har vært på møter hos dem.

Vi vil ta bort navn og fødselsdato fra alle papirene vi har fått om deg.

Du trenger ikke møte oss, men du kan ringe eller sende oss en epost om du har spørsmål.

Den informasjonen vi får om deg fra Statens barnehus og politiet blir oppbevart i et låst skap. Det er planlagt at vi skal være ferdig i januar 2020.

Hvis du har sagt ja kan du ombestemme deg når som helst og si ifra til oss at du ikke lenger vil være med. Da sletter vi all informasjon vi har om deg. **Hvem hjelper deg med å svare på spørsmålene under?**

.....

Navnet på den som hjelper deg.

Ikke svar på dette og neste spørsmål dersom du gjør det alene.

Den som hjelper deg er:

Sett et kryss for riktig svar:

- ____ en fra personalet der jeg bor
- ____ min hjelpeverge
- ____ en av mine foreldre
- ____ andre

Sett et kryss for riktig svar:

Jeg vil være med som deltaker i ja nei denne studien Jeg har forstått informasjonen jeg ja nei har hørt og lest

Jeg vet at jeg kan trekke meg fra	ja		nei	
studien når jeg vil og at jeg ikke				
behøver å fortelle hvorfor				
Jeg skriver under sammen med en	ја		nei	
som jeg stoler på, som jeg har				
snakket om studien med				
Min underskrift:				
Underskriften til den som har hjulpet meg å	å svare på	dette arket:		

Sted: _____

Dato: /____



Appendix 3. Information sheet and consent form (chapter 7)

Inquiry to participate in research projects

Mapping services to children and adults with intellectual disabilities after an investigative interview at Barnahus

About the study

Oslo and Akershus University College has received funding from Extrastiftelsen in collaboration with Save the Children to study violence and sexual abuse against people with intellectual disabilities.

The study will be included in a PhD thesis. The purpose of the study is to map and describe services to people with intellectual disabilities after an investigative interview at Barnahus. We want to increase our knowledge concerning welfare- and health services for people with intellectual disabilities who have experienced violence or sexual abuse.

Invitations to participate include people with intellectual disabilities interviewed at Barnahus in Kristiansand, Tromsø and Hamar.

What is involved participating in this study?

If you consent to participate, the researchers are given permission to read the journal written by Barnahus consultant and reports written by the police concerning meetings regarding the investigative interview. Reports written by the police are stored at the police department. A copy of the reports will be sent to the researchers, and information concerning services you have received after the interview will be registered. The registered information is related to if you have been offered treatment of other services and whom the Barnahus is collaborating with so secure your need for welfare-or health care services. The study will not require any active participation.

What happens to the information?

All personal data will be treated confidentially. Two researchers will have access to the reports. The records will be kept in a locker only available to the two researchers who will encode the information. There will be no name lists or identification numbers so that the information can be traced back to you. The project is scheduled to be completed in January 2020. The data will be anonymized at the end of the project.

Voluntary participation

It is voluntary to participate in the study, and you can withdraw your consent at any time without giving any reason. If you resign, all information about you will be deleted.

If you have any further questions, you are welcome to contact: PhD student Tone Hee Åker, <u>tone.aker@hioa.no</u>, telefon: 67 23 63 56 Dr Børge Strømgren, <u>borge.stromgren@hioa.no</u>, telefon: 67 23 64 40

The study is approved by the Data Protection Service

Statement of consent

_____ I consent that the researchers may collect a copy of written reports from Barnahus

____I consent that the researchers may collect a copy of written reports concerning the investigative interview written by the police.

(Signatur parent/guardian, date)



Forespørsel om deltakelse i forskningsprosjekt

Kartlegging av tjenestetilbudet til personer med utviklingshemming etter avhør ved Statens barnehus

Bakgrunn og formål

Høgskolen i Oslo og Akershus har fått midler fra Extrastiftelsen i samarbeid med Redd barna for å gjennomføre et prosjekt om vold og overgrep mot personer med utviklingshemming. Dette er en del av et doktorgradsarbeid ved Høgskolen i Oslo og Akershus.

Hensikten med denne studien er å kartlegge hvordan personer med utviklingshemming blir fulgt opp i etterkant av et avhør ved Statens barnehus. Vi ønsker med dette å øke kunnskapen om oppfølgings- og behandlingstilbudet for personer med utviklingshemming som har vært utsatt for vold eller overgrep. Alle personer med utviklingshemming som har vært til avhør hos Statens barnehus i Kristiansand/Tromsø/Hamar vil få informasjon om studien med forespørsel om å delta.

Hva innebærer deltakelse i studien?

Deltagelse i studien innebærer at forskningsgruppen vil få innsyn i journalen som finnes på Statens barnehus og politirapporter knyttet til samtaler med avhører før, under og etter avhøret. Disse politirapportene foreligger hos politiet. En utskrift av journalen og politirapportene vil gjøres tilgjengelig for forskerne. Informasjon om hvordan du har blitt fulgt opp etter avhør vil registreres. Dette vil omhandle om du har blitt tilbudt behandling eller fått tilbud om annen form for oppfølging og hvem barnehuset samarbeider med for å sikre at du får videre oppfølging i tjenesteapparatet om du har hatt ønske om, og behov for det. Å delta i studien krever ingen aktiv deltagelse.

Hva skjer med informasjonen om deg?

Alle personopplysninger vil bli behandlet konfidensielt. To forskere vil ha tilgang til journalopplysningene. Journalene vil oppbevares i et låsbart skap kun tilgjengelig for de to forskerne som skal kode informasjonen. Det vil ikke lages navnelister eller koblingsnøkler slik at informasjonen kan spores tilbake til deg. Deltagerne vil ikke kunne gjenkjennes i publikasjoner. Prosjektet skal etter planen avsluttes i januar 2020. Datamaterialet vil bli anonymisert ved prosjektets slutt.

Frivillig deltakelse

Det er frivillig å delta i studien, og du kan når som helst trekke ditt samtykke uten å oppgi noen grunn. Dersom du trekker deg, vil alle opplysninger om deg bli slettet.

Har du spørsmål om studien, ta kontakt med:

Doktorgradsstudent Tone Hee Åker, <u>tone.aker@hioa.no</u>, telefon: 67 23 63 56 Førsteamanuensis Børge Strømgren, <u>borge.stromgren@hioa.no</u>, telefon: 67 23 64 40 Studien er meldt til Personvernombudet for forskning, NSD - Norsk senter for forskningsdata AS.

Samtykke til deltakelse i studien

_____ Jeg samtykker til at det kan innhentes utskrift av journal fra barnehuset.

____Jeg samtykker til at det kan innhentes utskrift fra politirapporter knyttet til det tilrettelagte avhøret.

(Signert av foreldre/verge, dato)



Appendix 4. Information sheet mapping services (chapter 7)

Mapping services to children and adults with intellectual disabilities after an investigative interview at Barnahus

We would like to ask you to participate in a research project where the purpose is to shed light on what services children and adults with intellectual disabilities are offered after an investigative interview at a Barnahus. We will provide information about the goals of the project and what is involved if you decide to participate in this study.

What is the purpose of the research?

Today we have little knowledge of services offered to children and adults with intellectual disabilities after an investigative interview at Barnahus. We know that violence and abuse can have serious health consequences and that treatment and follow-up are important in order to reduce the negative health effects such experiences can have.

The purpose of this study is to map services offered aften an investigative interview out follow-up and describe proceedings and collaboration with the municipal services and specialist health services. It will be important to identify which services involved and what routines or guidelines you have in such cases.

The project is part of a PhD thesis examining the situation of people with intellectual disabilities exposed to violence and abuse. The project's overall aim is to describe the magnitude and the case characteristics of reported cases where it is suspected that children and adults with intellectual disabilities have been victims of violence and/or sexual abuse. Furthermore, it is a goal to assess how the police are conducting investigative interviews with people with disabilities.

The project is funded by the Extrafoundelsen in cooperation with Save the Children.

Who is responsible?

Oslo Metroplitan University

Why are we asking for your participation?

In order to identify what services are offered to persons with intellectual disabilities after they have been interviewed at Barnahus, I have received consent to obtain access to ten reports with associated police reports. The reports are related to cases at three different Barnahus. These records show which services the Barnahus has cooperated which forms the basis for me to contact you. Contact details of the service site is found on your website and I will contact 12 different services, both municipal services and specialist health services.

What is involved if you decide to participte?

If you accept to participate, I would like to contact a service provider who has experience or knowledge with cooperation with Barnahus concerning violence or abuse cases where persons with intellectual disabilities are suspected victims.

I would like to contact you by phone to ask some questions about how you provide services to people with intellectual disabilities who have been interviewed at Barnahus. The call will take approximately 30 – 40 minutes, and the questions can be sent by e-mail in advance.

No personal data will be registered, and the service site will only be registered as:

1) Municipal services; substance abuse, mental health, child welfare, adapted services for the developmentally disabled

2) Specialist health service, Habilitation service, mental health care.

All information recorded will be related to the service site's guidelines and routines. No information will be recorded about the person responding on behalf of the service site.

Volountary participation

It is voluntary to participate in the study. If you choose to participate, I ask for information about who I can contact to conduct an interview.
All information will be anonymous.

Privacy and confidentiality

We will only use the information for the purposes we have disclosed in this information letter. The data is treated confidentially. PhD candidate Tone Hee Åker and Dr Børge Strømgren at OsloMet-storbyuniversitet will have access to the information.

The participants will not be recognized in publications.

What happens to the information that you provide?

The project is scheduled to end on 31.12.2019 The study is approved by The Norwegian Data Protection Service

Where can I find further information?

If you have any further questions you or need more information you are welcome to contact:

OsloMet - Storbyuniversitet ved Tone Hee Åker, epost: <u>taker@oslomet.no</u>, tlf:67236356]. NSD – Norsk senter for forskningsdata AS, (<u>personverntjenester@nsd.no</u>) or phone: 55 58 21 17.

Yours sincerly

Tone Hee Åker Phd- Studente Oslo Metropolitan University

En kartlegging av tjenestetilbudet til barn og voksne med utviklingshemming etter avhør hos Statens Barnehus

Dette er et spørsmål om å delta i et forskningsprosjekt hvor formålet er å belyse hvilken oppfølging barn og voksne med utviklingshemming tilbys etter avhør hos Statens barnehus. I dette skrivet gir vi informasjon om målene for prosjektet og hva deltakelse vil innebære for ditt tjenestested.

Formål

Vi har i dag liten kunnskap om hvem og hvordan barn og voksne med utviklingshemming blir fulgt opp etter et tilrettelagt avhør ved Statens barnehus. Vi vet at vold og overgrep kan ha alvorlige helsemessige konsekvenser og at behandling og oppfølging er viktig for å kunne redusere de negative helsemessige konsekvensene slike erfaringer kan gi.

Formålet med denne studien er å kartlegge oppfølging etter avhør hos barnehuset og beskrive saksgang og koordinering opp mot de kommunale tjenestene og spesialisthelsetjenesten. Det vil være sentralt å kartlegge hvilke tjenester som involveres på de ulike tjenestestedene, og hvilke rutiner eller systemer dere har i den videre oppfølgingen når saken avsluttes fra barnehusets side.

Prosjektet inngår som en del av et doktorgradsarbeid som skal undersøke situasjonen for mennesker med utviklingshemming utsatt for vold og overgrep. Prosjektets overordnede problemstilling er knyttet til å kartlegge omfanget og karakteristika ved anmeldte saker hvor det mistenkes at barn og voksne med utviklingshemming har vært utsatt for vold og/eller seksuelle overgrep. Videre er det et mål å vurdere avhørsmetodisk kvalitet etter en internasjonalt anerkjent analysemetode for kvalitetsvurdering av avhør av barn og unge.

Prosjektet i sin helhet er finansiert av Extrastiftelsen i samarbeid med Redd barna.

Hvem er ansvarlig for forskningsprosjektet?

OsloMet – Storbyuniversitet er ansvarlig for prosjektet.

Hvorfor får dere spørsmål om å delta?

For å kartlegge hvilke tjenester som tilbys personer med utviklingshemming etter de har vært på avhør hos Statens barnehus har jeg mottatt samtykke til å få innsyn i ti journaler med tilhørende politirapporter. Journalene er knyttet til saker ved tre ulike barnehus i landet. I disse journalene fremkommer det hvilke tjenestesteder barnehuset har samarbeidet med og dette danner grunnlag for at jeg kontakter dere. Kontaktopplysningene til tjenestestedet har jeg funnet på deres hjemmesider og jeg vil kontakte 12 ulike tjenestesteder, både kommunale tjenester og spesialisthelsetjenester.

Hva innebærer å delta?

Hvis ditt tjenestested takker ja til å delta ønsker jeg kontakt med en tjenesteyter som har erfaring med eller kunnskap om samarbeid med Statens barnehus i forbindelse med volds- eller overgrepssaker der personer med utviklingshemming er antatte ofre.

Jeg ønsker deretter å ta kontakt per telefon for å stille noen spørsmål knyttet til hvordan dere følger opp personer med utviklingshemming som har vært til avhør hos Statens barnehus.

Samtalen vil ta ca. 30 – 40 minutter, og spørsmålene kan sendes på mail i forkant av samtalen.

Det vil ikke bli registrert personopplysninger og tjenestestedet vil kun bli registrert som: 1) Kommunale tjenester; rus, psykisk helse, barnevern, tilrettelagte tjenester for utviklingshemmede

2) Spesialisthelsetjenesten, Habiliteringstjenesten, psykisk helsevern.

All informasjon som blir registrert vil være knyttet til tjenestestedets oppfølging og rutiner. Det vil ikke registreres opplysninger om den som svarer på vegne av tjenestestedet.

Det er frivillig å delta

Det er frivillig å delta i prosjektet. Hvis ditt tjenestested velger å delta, ber jeg om informasjon om hvem jeg kan ta kontakt med for å gjennomføre et intervju. Alle opplysninger vil være anonyme.

Hvordan vi oppbevarer og bruker opplysningene

Vi vil bare bruke opplysningene til formålene vi har fortalt om i dette skrivet. Vi behandler opplysningene konfidensielt. Prosjektleder, doktorgradsstipendiat Tone Hee Åker og førsteamanuensis Børge Strømgren ved OsloMet-storbyuniversitet vil ha tilgang til opplysningene.

Tjenestestedet vil ikke kunne gjenkjennes i en publikasjon.

Hva skjer med opplysningene dine når vi avslutter forskningsprosjektet?

Prosjektet skal etter planen avsluttes 31.12.2019

På oppdrag fra *Oslomet- Storbyuniversitet* har NSD – Norsk senter for forskningsdata AS vurdert at behandlingen av personopplysninger i dette prosjektet er i samsvar med personvernregelverket.

Hvor kan jeg finne ut mer?

Hvis du har spørsmål til studien, eller ønsker å benytte deg av dine rettigheter, ta kontakt med:

- OsloMet Storbyuniversitet ved Tone Hee Åker, epost: <u>taker@oslomet.no</u>, tlf:67236356].
- NSD Norsk senter for forskningsdata AS, på epost (personverntjenester@nsd.no) eller telefon: 55 58 21 17.

Med vennlig hilsen

Tone Hee Åker Phd- kandidat OsloMet - Storbyuniversitet

References

- Abbeduto, L., Brady, N. & Kover, S. T. (2007). Language development and fragile X syndrome: Profiles, syndrome-specificity, and within-syndrome differences. *Mental Retardation and Developmental Disabilities Research Reviews*, 13(1), 36-46. https://doi.org/10.1002/mrdd.20142
- Agnew, S. E. & Powell, M. B. (2004). The effect of intellectual disability on children's recall of an event across different question types. *Law and Human Behavior*, 28(3), 273-294. https://doi.org/10.1023/B:LAHU.0000029139.38127.61
- Agnew, S. E., Powell, M. B. & Snow, P. C. (2006). An examination of the questioning styles of police officers and caregivers when interviewing children with intellectual disabilities. *Legal and Criminological Psychology*, *11*, 35-53. https://doi.org/10.1348/135532505x68494
- Ahern, E. C., Hershkowitz, I., Lamb, M. E., Blasbalg, U. & Winstanley, A. (2014). Support and Reluctance in the Pre-substantive Phase of Alleged Child Abuse Victim Investigative Interviews: Revised versus Standard NICHD Protocols. *Behavioral Sciences & the Law*, 32(6), 762-774. https://doi.org/10.1002/bsl.2149
- Almeida, T. S., Lamb, M. E. & Weisblatt, E. J. (2018). Effects of Delay, Question Type, and Socioemotional Support on Episodic Memory Retrieval by Children with Autism Spectrum Disorder [journal article]. *Journal of autism and developmental disorders*, 49(3), 1111-1130. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-018-3815-3
- Andrews, S. J. & Lamb, M. E. (2017). The structural linguistic complexity of lawyers' questions and children's responses in Scottish criminal courts. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 65, 182-193. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2017.01.022
- Asdal, K. & Reinertsen, H. (2020). *Hvordan gjøre dokumentanalyse : en praksisorientert metode* [How to conduct documentanalysis] (1. utgave. ed.). Cappelen Damm akademisk.
- Baddeley, A. D., Eysenck, M. W. & Anderson, M. C. (2009). Memory. Psychology Press.
- Bailey, A. & Barr, O. (2000). Police policies on the investigation of sexual crimes committed against adults who have a learning disability: a preliminary study. *Journal of learning disabilities*, 4(2), 129-139. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1177/146900470000400204
- Bailey, A., Barr, O. & Bunting, B. (2001). Police attitudes toward people with intellectual disability: an evaluation of awareness training. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*, 45(4), 344-350. https://doi.org/doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2788.2001.00339.x

- Bakken, T. L., Kildahl, A. N., Gjersoe, V., Matre, E., Kristiansen, T., Ro, A., Tveter, A. L. & Hoidal, S. H. (2014). Identification of PTSD in adults with intellectual disabilities in five patients in a specialised psychiatric inpatient unit. *Advances in Mental Health and Intellectual Disabilities*, 8(2), 91-102. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1108/AMHID-01-2013-0002
- Bakketeig, E., Berg, M., Myklebust, T. & Stefansen, K. (2012). Barnehusevaluering 2012.
 Barnehusmodellens implikasjoner for politiets arbeid med fokus på dommeravhør og rettsmedisinske undersøkelser [Barnahus evaluationreport]. Politihøgksolen.
 https://phs.brage.unit.no/phs-xmlui/handle/11250/175090
- Barne og likestillingsdepartementet. (2016). På lik linje. Åtte løft for å realisere grunnleggende rettigheter for personer med utviklingshemming [Governmental document - The rights of people with intellectual disabilites]. Departementenes sikkerhets- og serviceorganisasjon Informasjonsforvaltning.
 - https://www.regjeringen.no/contentassets/b0baf226586543ada7c530b4482678b8/no/pdfs/ nou201620160017000dddpdfs.pdf
- Baugerud, G. A., Johnson, M. S., Hansen, H. B., Magnussen, S. & Lamb, M. E. (2020). Forensic interviews with preschool children: An analysis of Extended Interviews in Norway (2015–2017). *Applied Cognitive Psychology*. https://doi.org/DOI:10.1002/acp.3647
- Bearman, M., Brubacher, S. P., Timms, L. & Powell, M. (2019). Trial of three investigative interview techniques with minimally verbal adults reporting about occurrences of a staged repeated event. *Psychology, Public Policy, and Law, 25*(4), 239-252. https://doi.org/10.1037/law0000206
- Beckene, T., Forrester-Jones, R. & Murphy, G. H. (2017). Experiences of going to court: Witnesses with intellectual disabilities and their carers speak up. *Journal of Applied Research in Intellectual Disabilities*, 31, 1-12. https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1111/jar.12334
- Benia, L. R., Hauck-Filho, N., Dillenburg, M. & Stein, L. M. (2015). The NICHD Investigative Interview Protocol: A Meta-Analytic Review. *Jorunal of Child Sexual Abuse*, 24(3), 259-279. https://doi.org/10.1080/10538712.2015.1006749
- Berg, R., Munthe-Kaas, H., Baiju, N., Muller, A. & Brurberg, K. (2019). The accuracy of using open-ended questions in structured conversations with children: a systematic review. https://fhi.brage.unit.no/fhixmlui/bitstream/handle/11250/2603572/Berg_2019_The.pdf?sequence=2

- Bertelli, M. O., Munir, K., Harris, J. & Salvador-Carulla, L. (2016). "Intellectual developmental disorders": reflections on the international consensus document for redefining "mental retardation-intellectual disability" in ICD-11. Advances in Mental Health and Intellectual Disabilities, 10(1), 36-58. https://doi.org/10.1108/amhid-10-2015-0050
- Bjerknes, O. T. & Fahsing, I. A. (2018). *Etterforskning: Prinsipper, metoder og praksis* [Police investigation, theory and methods]. Fagbokforlaget.
- Blasbalg, U., Hershkowitz, I. & Karni-Visel, Y. (2018). Support, reluctance, and production in child abuse investigative interviews. *Psychology, Public Policy, and Law, 24*(4), 518-527. https://doi.org/10.1037/law0000183
- Blasbalg, U., Hershkowitz, I., Lamb, M. E., Karni-Visel, Y. & Ahern, E. C. (2019). Is interviewer support associated with the reduced reluctance and enhanced informativeness of alleged child abuse victims? *Law and Human Behavior*, 43(2), 156-165. https://doi.org/10.1037/lhb0000303
- Bordens, S. K. & Abbot, B. B. (2018). *Research Desing and MEthods. A Process Approach* (10 ed.). Mcgraw Hill Education.
- Bordignon, S., Endres, R. G., Trentini, C. M. & Bosa, C. A. (2015). Memory in children and adolescents with autism spectrum disorder: A systematic literature review. *Psychology & Neuroscience*, 8(2), 211. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1037/h0101059
- Bowles, P. V. & Sharman, S. J. (2014a). The Effect of Different Types of Leading Questions on Adult Eyewitnesses with Mild Intellectual Disabilities. *Applied Cognitive Psychology*, 28(1), 129-134. https://doi.org/doi:10.1002/acp.2953
- Bowles, P. V. & Sharman, S. J. (2014b). A Review of the Impact of Different Types of Leading Interview Questions on Child and Adult Witnesses with Intellectual Disabilities. *Psychiatry, Psychology and Law, 21*(2), 205-217. https://doi.org/10.1080/13218719.2013.803276
- Bowling, A. (2014). *Research methods in health : investigating health and health services* (4th ed. ed.). Open University Press, McGraw-Hill.
- Braithwaite, D. O. & Thompson, T. L. (2000). *Handbook of communication and people with disabilities: Research and application*. Lawrence Erlbaum Associates Publishers; US.

- Brown, D. A., Brown, E.-J., Lewis, C. N. & Lamb, M. E. (2018). Narrative skill and testimonial accuracy in typically developing children and those with intellectual disabilities. *Applied Cognitive Psychology*, 32(5), 550-560. https://doi.org/10.1002/acp.3427
- Brown, D. A. & Lamb, M. E. (2015). Can Children Be Useful Witnesses? It Depends How They Are Questioned. *Child Development Perspectives*, 9(4), 250-255. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdep.12142
- Brown, D. A., Lewis, C., Stephens, E. & Lamb, M. E. (2017). Interviewers' approaches to questioning vulnerable child witnesses: The influences of developmental level versus intellectual disability status. *Legal and Criminological Psychology*, 22, 332-349. https://doi.org/10.1111/lcrp.12104
- Brown, D. A., Lewis, C. N. & Lamb, M. E. (2015). Preserving the Past: An Early Interview Improves Delayed Event Memory in Children With Intellectual Disabilities. *Child Development*, 86(4), 1031-1047. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdev.12364
- Brown, D. A., Lewis, C. N., Lamb, M. E. & Stephens, E. (2012). The influences of delay and severity of intellectual disability on event memory in children. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 80(5), 829-841. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0029388
- Brunes, A. & Heir, T. (2018). Sexual assaults in individuals with visual impairment: a crosssectional study of a Norwegian sample. *BMJ Open*, 8(6). https://doi.org/doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2018-021602
- Bull, R. (2010). The investigative interviewing of children and other vulnerable witnesses: Psychological research and working/professional practice. *Legal and Criminological Psychology*, 15(1), 5-23. https://doi.org/10.1348/014466509x440160
- Byrne, G. (2017). Prevalence and psychological sequelae of sexual abuse among individuals with an intellectual disability. *Journal of Intellectual Disabilities*. https://doi.org/10.1177/1744629517698844
- Carnes, C. N., Nelson-Gardell, D., Wilson, C. & Orgassa, U. C. (2001). Extended Forensic Evaluation When Sexual Abuse is Suspected: A Multisite Field Study. *Child Maltreatment*, 6(3), 230-242. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077559501006003004
- Carnes, C. N., Wilson, C. & Nelson-Gardell, D. (1999). Extended Forensic Evaluation When Sexual Abuse is Suspected: A Model and Preliminary Data. *Child Maltreatment*, 4(3), 242-254. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077559599004003005

- Carr, A. & O'Reilly, A. (2016). Diagnosis, classification and epidemiology. In A. Carr, C. Linehan, A. O'Reilly, P. N. Walsh & J. McEvoy (Eds.), *The handbook of Intellectual Disability and Psychology Practice* (pp. 3-45). Routledge.
- Carr, A., O'Reilly, G., Walsh, P. N. & McEvoy, J. (2007). *The handbook of intellectual disability and clinical psychology practice*. Routledge/Taylor & Francis Group; US.
- Carulla, L. S., Reed, G. M., Vaez-Azizi, L. M., Cooper, S.-A., Leal, R. M., Bertelli, M., Adnams, C., Cooray, S., Deb, S., Dirani, L. A., Girimaji, S. C., Katz, G., Kwok, H., Luckasson, R., Simeonsson, R., Walsh, C., Munir, K. & Saxena, S. (2011). Intellectual developmental disorders: towards a new name, definition and framework for "mental retardation/intellectual disability" in ICD-11. *World Psychiatry*, *10*(3), 175-180. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.2051-5545.2011.tb00045.x
- Ceci, S., Hritz, A. & Royer, C. (2016). Understanding Suggestibility. In W. T. O'Donohue & M. Fanetti (Eds.), *Forensic Interviews Regarding Child Sexual Abuse: A Guide to Evidence-Based Practice* (pp. 141-153). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-21097-1_8
- Cederborg, A.-C., Alm, C., da Silva Nises, D. L. & Lamb, M. E. (2013). Investigative interviewing of alleged child abuse victims: An evaluation of a new training programme for investigative interviewers. *Police Practice & Research: An International Journal*, 14(3), 242-254. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1080/15614263.2012.712292
- Cederborg, A.-C. & Gumpert, C. H. (2009). The challenge of assessing credibility when children with intellectual disabilities are alleged victims of abuse. *Scandinavian Journal of Disability Research*, 12(2), 125-140. https://doi.org/10.1080/15017410902909134
- Cederborg, A.-C., La Rooy, D. & Lamb, M. E. (2008). Repeated interviews with children who have intellectual disabilities. *Journal of Applied Research in Intellectual Disabilities*, 21(2), 103-113. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-3148.2007.00372.x
- Cederborg, A.-C. & Lamb, M. E. (2006). How does the legal system respond when children with learning difficulties are victimized? *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 30(5), 537-547. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2005.10.015
- Cederborg, A.-C. & Lamb, M. E. (2008). Interviewing alleged victims with intellectual disabilities. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*, 52(1), 49-58. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2788.2007.00976.x

- Clare, I. C. & Gudjonsson, G. H. (1995). The vulnerability of suspects with intellectual disabilities during police interviews: A review and experimental study of decision-making. *Journal of Applied Research in Intellectual Disabilities*, 8(2), 110-128.
- Cooper, P. (2014). *Highs and lows: the 4th intermediary survey*. https://eprints.kingston.ac.uk/28868/1/Cooper P-28868.pdf
- Cooper, P. (2018). Moving at a pace: Towards a new pproach to vulnerability in courts and tribunals. In P. Cooper & L. Hunting (Eds.), *Access to Justice for vulnerable people* (pp. 1-19). Wildy, Simmons and Hill publishing.
- Cooper, P. & Northon, H. (2017). *Vulnerable people and the criminal justice system. A guide to law and practice* (In P. Cooper & H. Northon, Eds.)). Oxford University press.
- Cooper, P. & Wurtzel, D. (2014). Better the Second Time around: Department of Justice
 Registered Intermediaries Schemes and Lessons from England and Wales. *N. Ir. Legal Q.*, 65, 39.
- Crane, L. & Maras, K. L. (2018). General Memory Abilities for Autobiographical Events in Adults wiht Autism Spectrum Disorder. In J. L. Johnson, G. S. Goodman & P. C. Mundy (Eds.), *Memory, Autism Spectrum Disorder, and the Law* (pp. 146-178). Wiley Blackwell
- Crane, L., Maras, K. L., Hawken, T., Mulcahy, S. & Memon, A. (2016). Experiences of Autism Spectrum Disorder and Policing in England and Wales: Surveying Police and the Autism Community. *Journal of autism and developmental disorders*, 46(6), 2028-2041. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-016-2729-1
- Creswell, J. W. (2014). *Research design : qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches* (4th ed.; International student ed. ed.). SAGE.
- Dando, C. J. (2013). Drawing to remember: External support of older adults' eyewitness performance. *Plos one*, 8(7), e69937. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3726749/pdf/pone.0069937.pdf
- Dando, C. J., Gabbert, F. & Hope, L. (2020). Supporting older eyewitnesses' episodic memory: the self-administered interview and sketch reinstatement of context. *Memory*, 28(6), 712-723. https://doi.org/10.1080/09658211.2020.1757718
- Dando, C. J. & Oxburgh, G. E. (2016). Empathy in the field: Towards a taxonomy of empathiq₀₁ communication in information gathering interviews with suspected sex offenders. *The European Journal of Psychology Applied to Legal Context*, 8(1), 27-33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpal.2015.10.001

- Dent, H. R. (1986). An experimental study of the effectiveness of different techniques of questioning mentally handicapped child witnesses. *British Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 25(1), 13-17.
- Dion, J. & Cyr, M. (2008). The Use of the NICHD Protocol to Enhance the Quantity of Details Obtained from Children with Low Verbal Abilities in Investigative Interviews: A Pilot Study [Article]. *Journal of Child Sexual Abuse*, 17(2), 144-162. https://doi.org/10.1080/10538710801916564
- Ellsberg, M., Arango, D. J., Morton, M., Gennari, F., Kiplesund, S., Contreras, M. & Watts, C. (2015). Prevention of violence against women and girls: what does the evidence say? *The Lancet*, 385(9977), 1555-1566. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(14)61703-7
- Ericsson, K. A. (2004). Deliberate Practice and the Acquisition and Maintenance of Expert Performance in Medicine and Related Domains. *Academic Medicine*, 79(10), S70-S81. https://journals.lww.com/academicmedicine/Fulltext/2004/10001/Deliberate_Practice_an d_the_Acquisition_and.22.aspx
- Ericsson, K. A. (2008). Deliberate Practice and Acquisition of Expert Performance: A General Overview. Academic emergency medicine, 15(11), 988-994. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1553-2712.2008.00227.x
- Ericsson, K. A. (2015). Acquisition and Maintenance of Medical Expertise. *Academic Medicine*, *90*(11), 1471-1486. https://doi.org/10.1097/acm.00000000000939
- Ericsson, K. A. & Charness, N. (1994). Expert performance: Its structure and acquisition. *American Psychologist*, 49(8), 725-747. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066x.49.8.725
- Ericsson, K. A., Whyte, J. I. & Ward, P. (2007). Expert Performance in Nursing: Reviewing Research on Expertise in Nursing Within the Framework of the Expert-Performance Approach. *Advances in Nursing Science*, *30*(1), E58-E71. https://journals.lww.com/advancesinnursingscience/Fulltext/2007/01000/Expert_Perform ance_in_Nursing_Reviewing_Research.14.aspx
- Fekjær, S. (2011). Registerdata i praksis–ikke bare å trykke på «play» [How to conduct registerdata]. In K. Fangen & A.-M. Sellerberg (Eds.), *Mange ulike metoder* (pp. 181-197). Gyldendal Akademiske.

- Feldman, M. A., Bosett, J., Collet, C. & Burnham-Riosa, P. (2014). Where are persons with intellectual disabilities in medical research? A survey of published clinical trials. *Journal* of Intellectual Disability Research, 58(9), 800-809. https://doi.org/10.1111/jir.12091
- Finlay, W. M. L. & Lyons, E. (2002). Acquiescence in Interviews With People Who Have Mental Retardation. *Mental retardation*, 40(1), 14-29. https://doi.org/10.1352/0047-6765(2002)040<0014:Aiiwpw>2.0.Co;2
- Fogden, B. C., Thomas, S. D. M., Daffern, M. & Ogloff, J. R. P. (2016). Crime and victimisation in people with intellectual disability: a case linkage study. *BMC psychiatry*, 16(1), 170. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12888-016-0869-7
- Frawley, P. & Wilson, N. J. (2016). Young People with Intellectual Disability Talking About Sexuality Education and Information. *Sexuality and disability*, 34(4), 469-484. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11195-016-9460-x
- Gamst, K. T. (2005). Dommeravhør av barn Bedømmelse av barns vitneforklaring. *Lov og Rett*, 44(10). http://www.idunn.no/ts/lor/2005/10/dommeravhor_av_barn_-_bedommelse_av_barns_vitneforklaring
- Gamst, K. T. (2017). *Profesjonelle barnesamtaler : å ta barn på alvor* [Professional conversation wiht children] (2. utg. ed.). Universitetsforlaget.
- Gamst, K. T. & Langballe, Å. (2004). En empirisk og teoretisk studie av kommunikasjon mellom avhører og barn i dommeravhør. Utvikling av en avhørsmetodisk tilnærming.
 [Developing a investigative interview model for children] [Unpublished doctoral dissertation, Universitetet i Oslo]. Oslo.
- Gardner, L., Campbell, J. & Westdal, J. (2018). Brief Report: Descriptive Analysis of Law Enforcement Officers' Experiences with and Knowledge of Autism. *Journal of autism* and developmental disorders, 1-6. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-018-3794-4
- Gilderthorp, R. C. (2015). Is EMDR an effective treatment for people diagnosed with both intellectual disability and post-traumatic stress disorder? *Journal of Intellectual Disabilities*, 19(1), 58-68. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1177/1744629514560638
- Griego, A. W., Datzman, J. N., Estrada, S. M. & Middlebrook, S. S. (2019). Suggestibility and false memories in relation to intellectual disability and autism spectrum disorder: a metaanalytic review. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*, 63(12), 1464-1474. https://doi.org/10.1111/jir.12668

Grue, J. (2016). Disability and discourse analysis. Routledge.

- Grøvdal, Y. (2013). Mellom frihet og beskyttelse? Vold og seksuelle overgrep mot mennesker med psykisk utviklingshemming - en kunnskapsoversikt [Violence and sexual abuse against people with intellectual disabilities. A review]. Nasjonalt kunnskapssenter om vold og traumatisk stress. https://www.nkvts.no/content/uploads/2015/08/mellom-frihetog-beskyttelse1.pdf
- Gudjonsson, G. H. (2003). *The psychology of interrogations and confessions: A handbook*. John Wiley & Sons.
- Gudjonsson, G. H. & Gunn, J. (1982). The Competence and Reliability of a Witness in a Criminal Court: A Case Report. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 141(6), 624-627. https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.141.6.624
- Gudjonsson, G. H. & Henry, L. (2003). Child and adult witnesses with intellectual disability: The importance of suggestibility. *Legal and Criminological Psychology*, 8(2), 241-252. https://doi.org/10.1348/135532503322363013
- Harrell, E. (2017). Crime against persons with disabilities, 2009–2015. Bureau of Justice Statistics. U. S. D. o. Justice. https://www.bjs.gov/content/pub/pdf/capd0911st.pdf
- Hassiotis, A. & Turk, J. (2012). Mental Health Needs in Adolescents with Intellectual Disabilities: Cross-Sectional Survey of a Service Sample. *Journal of Applied Research in Intellectual Disabilities*, 25(3), 252-261. https://doi.org/doi:10.1111/j.1468-3148.2011.00662.x
- Havercamp, S. M. & Krahn, G. L. (2019). What Matters in Population Health and How We Count It Among People With Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities. *Intellectual* and Developmental Disabilities, 57(5), 347-356. https://doi.org/10.1352/1934-9556-57.5.347
- Havercamp, S. M., Krahn, G. L., Larson, S. A., Fujiura, G., Goode, T. D., Kornblau, B. L. & Workgroup, t. N. H. S. f. I. (2019). Identifying People With Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities in National Population Surveys. *Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities*, 57(5), 376-389. https://doi.org/10.1352/1934-9556-57.5.376
- Helmikstøl, Ø. (2017). Barnepsykolog med sterk kritikk mot avhør av barn [Critizing how investigative interviews with children are conducted]. *Tidsskrift for Norsk Psykologforening*, 55(12), 1153-1157.

https://psykologtidsskriftet.no/nyheter/2017/12/barnepsykolog-med-sterk-kritikk-mot-avhor-av-barn

- Henderson, E. (2015). 'A very valuable tool'. *The International Journal of Evidence & Proof*, 19(3), 154-171. https://doi.org/10.1177/1365712715580535
- Henry, L. (2001). How does the severity of a learning disability affect working memory performance? *Memory*, *9*(4-6), 233-247. https://doi.org/10.1080/09658210042000085
- Henry, L., Cornoldi, C. & M\u00e4hler, C. (2010). Special issues on 'working memory and executive functioning in individuals with intellectual disabilities'. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*, 54(4), 293-294. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2788.2010.01266.x
- Henry, L., Crane, L., Nash, G., Hobson, Z., Kirke-Smith, M. & Wilcock, R. (2017). Verbal,
 Visual, and Intermediary Support for Child Witnesses with Autism During Investigative
 Interviews. *Journal of autism and developmental disorders*, 47(8), 2348-2362.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-017-3142-0
- Henry, L. & Gudjonsson, G. H. (1999). Eyewitness memory and suggestibility in children with mental retardation. *American Journal on Mental Retardation*, 104(6), 491-508. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1352/0895-8017(1999)104<0491:EMASIC>2.0.CO;2
- Henry, L. & Gudjonsson, G. H. (2003). Eyewitness memory, suggestibility, and repeated recall sessions in children with mild and moderate intellectual disabilities. *Law and Human Behavior*, 27(5), 481-505. https://doi.org/doi.org/10.1023/A:1025434022699
- Henry, L. & Gudjonsson, G. H. (2007). Individual and developmental differences in eyewitness recall and suggestibility in children with intellectual disabilities. *Applied Cognitive Psychology*, 21(3), 361-381. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/acp.1280
- Henry, L. & MacLean, M. (2002). Working Memory Performance in Children With and Without Intellectual Disabilities. *American Journal on Mental Retardation*, 107(6), 421-432. https://doi.org/10.1352/0895-8017(2002)107<0421:Wmpicw>2.0.Co;2
- Henry, L., Messer, D. J. & Nash, G. (2015). Executive functioning and verbal fluency in children with language difficulties. *Learning and Instruction*, 39, 137-147. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.learninstruc.2015.06.001
- Henshaw, M. & Thomas, S. (2012). Police encounters with people with intellectual disability: prevalence, characteristics and challenges. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*, 56(6), 620-631. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2788.2011.01502.x

- Hepner, I., Woodward, M. N. & Stewart, J. (2015). Giving the Vulnerable a Voice in the Criminal Justice System: The Use of Intermediaries With Individuals With Intellectual Disability. *Psychiatry, Psychology and Law, 22*(3), 453-464. https://doi.org/10.1080/13218719.2014.960032
- Hershkowitz, I. (2018). NICHD-protocol investigations of individuals with intellectual disability: A descriptive analysis. *Psychology, Public Policy, and Law, 24*(3), 393-403. https://doi.org/10.1037/law0000170
- Hershkowitz, I., Ahern, E. C., Lamb, M. E., Blasbalg, U., Karni-Visel, Y. & Breitman, M. (2017). Changes in Interviewers' Use of Supportive Techniques during the Revised Protocol Training. 31(3), 340-350. https://doi.org/10.1002/acp.3333
- Hershkowitz, I., Lamb, M. E. & Horowitz, D. (2007). Victimization of children with disabilities. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 77(4), 629-635. https://doi.org/10.1037/0002-9432.77.4.629
- Home Office. (2011). Achieving best evidence in criminal proceedings: Guidance on interviewing victims and witnesess and guidance on using special measures. 1-257. https://www.cps.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/legal_guidance/best_evidence_in_c riminal proceedings.pdf
- Hughes, K., Bellis, M. A., Jones, L., Wood, S., Bates, G., Eckley, L., McCoy, E., Mikton, C.,
 Shakespeare, T. & Officer, A. (2012). Prevalence and risk of violence against adults with
 disabilities: a systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. *The Lancet*,
 379(9826), 1621-1629. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(11)61851-5
- Iacono, T. & Murray, V. (2003). Issues of Informed Consent in Conducting Medical Research Involving People with Intellectual Disability. *Journal of Applied Research in Intellectual Disabilities*, 16(1), 41-51. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1468-3148.2003.00141.x
- Jakobsen, K. K. (2019). Empathy in investigative interviews of victims: How to understand it, how to measure it, and how to do it? *Police Practice and Research*, 1-16. https://doi.org/10.1080/15614263.2019.1668789
- Jakobsen, K. K., Fashing, I. A. & Hjelmsater, E. R. a. (2016). Investigative interviewing in Scandinavia - witnesess and victims. In D. Walsh, G. E. Oxburgh, A. D. Redlich & T. Myklebust (Eds.), *International Developments and Practices in Investigative Interviewing and Interrogation* (Bd. 1, pp. 199-208). Routledge.

- Jens, K. G., Gordon, B. N. & Shaddock, A. J. (1990). Remembering activities performed versus imagined: A comparison of children with mental retardation and children with normal intelligence. *International Journal of Disability, Development and Education*, 37(3), 201-213.
- Johansson, S. (2011). Juridifiering som institutionell förändring. Om mötet mellan straffrätt och socialrätt vid interorganisatorisk samverkan [Judification health care versus social care]. *Retfærd: Nordisk juridisk tidsskrift 4*(34), 38-59.
- Johansson, S. (2017). Power Dynamics in Barnahus Collaboration. In S. Johansson, K. Stefansen,
 E. Bakketeig & A. Kaldal (Eds.), *Collaboratiing against Child Abuse. Exlploring theNordic Barnahus Model* (pp. 251-272). Palgrave Macmillan.
- Johansson, S., Stefansen, K., Bakketeig, E. & Kaldal, A. (2017). Collaborating Against Child Abuse : Exploring the Nordic Barnahus Model. Palgrave Macmillan. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-58388-4
- Johnson, M., Magnussen, S., Thoresen, C., Lønnum, K., Burrell, L. V. & Melinder, A. (2015). Best Practice Recommendations Still Fail to Result in Action: A National 10-Year Follow-up Study of Investigative Interviews in CSA Cases. *Applied Cognitive Psychology*, 29(5), 661-668. https://doi.org/10.1002/acp.3147
- Jones, L., Bellis, M. A., Wood, S., Hughes, K., McCoy, E., Eckley, L., Bates, G., Mikton, C., Shakespeare, T. & Officer, A. (2012). Prevalence and risk of violence against children with disabilities: a systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. *The Lancet*, 380(9845), 899-907. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60692-8
- Justis- og beredskapsdepartementet. (2012). *Avhør av særlig sårbare personer. Rapport fra arbeidsgruppen for gjennomgang av regelverket om dommeravhør og observasjoner av barn og psykisk utviklingshemmede* [Questioning vulnerable witnessess- report]. https://www.regjeringen.no/contentassets/58bdb19885394a5eb28f21279dfb41ea/rapport_ dommeravhor.pdf
- Justis- og beredskapsdepartementet (2013). *Et liv uten vold : handlingsplan mot vold i nære relasjoner 2014-2017* [Action plan prventing violence and abuse]. Justis- og beredskapsdepartementet.

https://www.regjeringen.no/contentassets/97cdeb59ffd44a9f820d5992d0fab9d5/hplan-2014-2017_et-liv-uten-vold.pdf

- Justis- og politidepartementet. (2007). Friz Moen og norsk strafferettspleie [Fritz Moen and the Norwegian criminal justice system]. https://www.regjeringen.no/contentassets/acdc3727d32f426a85fa6cb6be9b7483/no/pdfs/ nou200720070007000dddpdfs.pdf
- Karlsen, H. T., Wettergreen, J. & Jensen, A. (2019). Utredning av levekårsstatistikk for personer med nedsatt funksjonsevne [Living conditions for people with disabilities](2019\42).
 Statistisk Sentralbyrå. S. Norway. https://www.ssb.no/helse/artikler-og-publikasjoner/_attachment/404777?_ts=16ea1da4a60
- Khalifeh, H., Howard, L. M., Osborn, D., Moran, P. & Johnson, S. (2013). Violence against People with Disability in England and Wales: Findings from a National Cross-Sectional Survey. *Plos one*, 8(2). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0055952
- Kildahl, A. N., Bakken, T. L., Iversen, T. E. & Helverschou, S. B. (2019). Identification of Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder in Individuals with Autism Spectrum Disorder and Intellectual Disability: A Systematic Review. *Journal of Mental Health Research in Intellectual Disabilities*, *12*(1-2), 1-25. https://doi.org/10.1080/19315864.2019.1595233
- Kim, Y. (2010). The Pilot Study in Qualitative Inquiry. *Qualitative Social Work*, 10(2), 190-206. https://doi.org/10.1177/1473325010362001
- Korkman, J., Pakkanen, T. & Laajasalo, T. (2017). Child forensic interviewing in Finland: Investigating suspected child abuse at the forensic psychology unit for children and adolescents. In S. Johansson, K. Stefansen, E. Bakketeig & A. Kaldal (Eds.), *Collaborating against child abuse. Exploring the nordic barnahus model* (pp. 145-164). Palgrave Macmillan, Cham.
- Krahn, G. L. (2019). A Call for Better Data on Prevalence and Health Surveillance of People With Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities. *Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities*, 57(5), 357-375. https://doi.org/10.1352/1934-9556-57.5.357
- Kroese, B. S., Willott, S., Taylor, F., Smith, P., Graham, R., Rutter, T., Stott, A. & Willner, P. (2016). Trauma-focussed cognitive-behaviour therapy for people with mild intellectual disabilities: Outcomes of a pilot study. *Advances in Mental Health and Intellectual Disabilities*, 10(5), 299-310. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1108/AMHID-05-2016-0008

- Krug, E. G., Mercy, J. A., Dahlberg, L. L. & Zwi, A. B. (2002). The world report on violence and health. *The Lancet*, *360*(9339), 1083-1088. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(02)11133-0
- Kvam, M. H. (2000). Is sexual abuse of children with disabilities disclosed? A retrospective analysis of child disability and the likelihood of sexual abuse among those attending Norwegian hospitals. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 24(8), 1073-1084. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0145-2134(00)00159-9
- Kvam, M. H. (2004). Sexual abuse of deaf children. A retrospective analysis of the prevalence and characteristics of childhood sexual abuse among deaf adults in Norway. *Child Abuse* & Neglect, 28(3), 241-251. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2003.09.017
- La Rooy, D. (2015). The NICHD protocol: a review of an internationally-used evidence-based tool for training child forensic interviewers. *Journal of Criminological Research, Policy and Practice*, *1*(2), 76-89. https://doi.org/10.1108/JCRPP-01-2015-0001
- Lafontaine, J. & Cyr, M. (2017). The relation between interviewers' personal characteristics and investigative interview performance in a child sexual abuse context. *Police Practice and Research*, 18(2), 106-118. https://doi.org/10.1080/15614263.2016.1242423
- Lamb, M. E. (1996). Effects of Investigative Utterance Types on Israeli Children's Responses. International Journal of Behavioral Development, 19(3), 627-638. https://doi.org/10.1080/016502596385721
- Lamb, M. E., Brown, D. A., Hershkowitz, I., Orbach, Y. & Esplin, P. W. (2018a). Interviewing Children with Developmental Disabilities. In M. E. Lamb, D. A. Brown, I. Hershkowitz, Y. Orbach & P. W. Esplin (Eds.), *Tell Me What Happened. Questioning Children about Abuse*. Wiley Blackwell. https://doi.org/doi:10.1002/9781118881248.ch8
- Lamb, M. E., Brown, D. A., Hershkowitz, I., Orbach, Y. & Esplin, P. W. (2018b). The Revised Protocol: Effectively Supporting Reluctant Witnesses *Tell me what happened*. *Questioning children about abuse* (pp. 61-188). Wiley Blackwell. https://doi.org/doi:10.1002/9781118881248.ch6
- Lamb, M. E., Brown, D. A., Hershkowitz, I., Orbach, Y. & Esplin, P. W. (2018c). *Tell me what happened: Questioning children about abuse*. Wiley Blackwell.

- Lamb, M. E., Brown, D. A., Hershkowitz, I., Orbach, Y. & Esplin, P. W. (2018d). Training and Maintaining Good Interviewing Practice. In M. E. Lamb, D. A. Brown, I. Hershkowitz, Y. Orbach & P. W. Esplin (Eds.), *Tell Me What Happened. Questioning Children about Abuse*. Wiley Blackwell. https://doi.org/doi:10.1002/9781118881248.ch11
- Lamb, M. E., Brown, D. A., Hershkowitz, I., Orbach, Y. & Esplin, P. W. (2018e). When Interviewers Follow the Protocol, What Impact Does it Have on Their Interviewing and on Children's Responding? In M. E. Lamb, D. A. Brown, I. Hershkowitz, Y. Orbach & P. W. Esplin (Eds.), *Tell Me What Happened. Questioning Children about Abuse*. Wiley Blackwell. https://doi.org/doi:10.1002/9781118881248.ch6
- Lamb, M. E., Orbach, Y., Hershkowitz, I., Esplin, P. W. & Horowitz, D. (2007). A structured forensic interview protocol improves the quality and informativeness of investigative interviews with children: A review of research using the NICHD Investigative Interview Protocol. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *31*(11–12), 1201-1231. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2007.03.021
- Lamb, M. E., Sternberg, K. J., Orbach, Y., Esplin, P. W. & Mitchell, S. (2002a). Is ongoing feedback necessary to maintain the quality of investigative interviews with allegedly abused children? *Applied Developmental Science*, 6(1), 35-41. https://doi.org/10.1207/S1532480XADS0601_04
- Lamb, M. E., Sternberg, K. J., Orbach, Y., Esplin, P. W. & Mitchell, S. L. (2002b). Is Ongoing Feedback Necessary to Maintain The Quality of Investigative Interviews With Allegedly Abused Children? *Applied Developmental Science*, 6(1), 35-41. https://doi.org/10.1207/S1532480XADS0601_04
- Lamb, M. E., Sternberg, K. J., Orbach, Y., Hershkowitz, I., Horowitz, D. & Esplin, P. W. (2002). The Effects of Intensive Training and Ongoing Supervision on the Quality of Investigative Interviews With Alleged Sex Abuse Victims. *Applied Developmental Science*, 6(3), 114-125. https://doi.org/10.1207/S1532480XADS0603_2
- Langballe, Å. (2007). Forholdet mellom frie fortellinger og spontane beretninger fra barn i dommeravhør, og påliteligheten i barnets utsagn [[Free recall and childrens reliability in investgative interviews]]. *Tidsskrift for Norsk Psykologforening*, 44(7), 868-877.
- Langballe, Å. & Davik, t. (2017). Sequential interviews with preschool children in Norwigian Barnahus. In S. Johansson, K. Stefansen, E. Bakketeig & A. Kaldal (Eds.), *Collaborating against child abuse. Exploring the nordic barnahusmodel* (pp. 165-187). Palgrav Macmillan.

- LaRooy, D. J., Malloy, L. C. & Lamb, M. E. (2011). The development of memory in childhood. In M. E. Lamb, D. J. La Rooy, L. C. Malloy & C. Katz (Eds.), *Children's testimony: A handbook of psychological research and forensic practice*. Wiley-Blackwell.
- Lundberg, C. S. & Simonsen, E. (2011). *Rettsapparatet en siste skanse mot inkludering? Funksjonshemmedes rettssikkerhet med vekt på hørselshemmedes stilling* [The criminal justice syste - the last frontier of integration? Deaf persons and the rule of law]. Skådalen kompetansesenter. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/312069645_Rettsapparatet_-en_siste_skanse_mot_inkludering_Funksjonshemmedes_rettssikkerhet_med_fokus_pa_h orselshemmedes_stilling
- Manzanero, A. L., Alemany, A., Recio, M., Vallet, R. & Aroztegu, J. (2015). Evaluating the credibility of statements given by persons with intellectual disability. *Anales de Psicologia*, 31(1), 338-344. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.6018/analesps.31.1.166571
- Maras, K. L. & Bowler, D. M. (2014). Eyewitness testimony in autism spectrum disorder: A review. *Journal of autism and developmental disorders*, 44(11), 2682-2697. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-012-1502-3
- Matson, J. L., Kozlowski, A. M. & Matson, M. M. (2012). Speech deficits in persons with autism: Etiology and symptom presentation. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 6(2), 573-577. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rasd.2011.10.009
- Mattison, M., Dando, C. & Ormerod, T. (2015). Sketching to Remember: Episodic Free Recall Task Support for Child Witnesses and Victims with Autism Spectrum Disorder. *Journal* of Autism & Developmental Disorders, 45(6), 1751-1765. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-014-2335-z
- Mattison, M., Dando, C. J. & Ormerod, T. C. (2018). Drawing the answers: Sketching to support free and probed recall by child witnesses and victims with autism spectrum disorder. *Autism*, 22(2), 181-194.
- Melinder, A. & Gilstrap, L. L. (2009). The relationships between child and forensic interviewer behaviours and individual differences in interviews about a medical examination. 6(3), 365-395. https://doi.org/10.1080/17405620701210445

- Mevissen, L. & de Jongh, A. (2010). PTSD and its treatment in people with intellectual disabilities: A review of the literature. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 30(3), 308-316. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2009.12.005
- Mevissen, L., Didden, R., Korzilius, H. & de Jongh, A. (2016). Assessing posttraumatic stress disorder in children with mild to borderline intellectual disabilities. *European Journal of Psychotraumatology* 7. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.3402/ejpt.v7.29786
- Mevissen, L., Lievegoed, R., Seubert, A. & De Jongh, A. (2012). Treatment of PTSD in people with severe intellectual disabilities: A case series. *Developmental Neurorehabilitation*, 15(3), 223-232. https://doi.org/10.3109/17518423.2011.654283
- Mikton, C., Maguire, H. & Shakespeare, T. (2014). A Systematic Review of the Effectiveness of Interventions to Prevent and Respond to Violence Against Persons With Disabilities. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 29(17), 3207-3226. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260514534530
- Morrison, J., Forrester-Jones, R., Bradshaw, J. & Murphy, G. (2019). Communication and crossexamination in court for children and adults with intellectual disabilities: A systematic review. *The International Journal of Evidence & Proof*, 0(0), 1-33. https://doi.org/10.1177/1365712719851134
- Mossige, S. & Stefansen, K. (2016). Vold og overgrep mot barn og unge. Omfang og utviklingstrekk 2007-2015 [Violence and abuse agains children and adolcents]. https://www.regjeringen.no/no/aktuelt/vald-og-overgrep-mot-barn-og-unge---omfang-ogutviklingstrekk-2007-2015/id2503766/
- Niehaus, S., Krüger, P. & Schmitz, S. (2013). Intellectually Disabled Victims of Sexual Abuse in the Criminal Justice System. *Psychology*, *4*, 374-379. https://doi.org/10.4236/psych.2013.43A054
- Nixon, M., Thomas, S. D. M., Daffern, M. & Ogloff, J. R. P. (2017). Estimating the risk of crime and victimisation in people with intellectual disability: a data-linkage study. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 52(5), 617-626. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00127-017-1371-3
- Northway, R., Jenkins, R., Jones, V., Howarth, J. & Hodges, Z. (2013). Researching Policy and Practice to Safeguard People With Intellectual Disabilities from Abuse: Some Methodological Challenges. *Journal of Policy and Practice in Intellectual Disabilities*, *10*(3), 188-195. https://doi.org/10.1111/jppi.12037

- Nowell, L. S., Norris, J. M., White, D. E. & Moules, N. J. (2017). Thematic Analysis. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 16(1). https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406917733847
- Olafson, E. (2012). A Call for Field-Relevant Research about Child Forensic Interviewing for Child Protection. *Journal of Child Sexual Abuse*, 21(1), 109-129. https://doi.org/10.1080/10538712.2012.642469
- Olsen, J. (2011). Register-based research: Some methodological considerations. *Scandinavian Journal of Public Health*, *39*(3), 225-229. https://doi.org/10.1177/1403494811402719
- Olsen, T. & Kermit, P. (2015). Sign language, translation and rule of law deaf people's experiences from encounters with the Norwegian criminal justice system. *Scandinavian Journal of Disability Research*, *17*(1), 23-41. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1080/15017419.2014.972448
- Olsen, T., Kermit, P., Dahl, N. C., Søndenaa, E. & Envik, R. (2018). Rettssikkerhet- likeverd og likeverdigh behandling. Mennesker med kognitive funksjonsnedsettelser i møte med strafferettspleien [People with intellectual disabilities encounters with the criminal justice system]. Nordlandsforskning AS. Nordlandsforskning. http://www.nordlandsforskning.no/getfile.php/1323871-1539586766/Dokumenter/Rapporter/1018/NF-rapport%205_2018.pdf
- Olsen, T., Kermit, P., Rønning, H., Hustad, J. H. & Eriksen, J. (2016). Kunnskapsstatus: rettsikkerhet for personer med utviklingshemming [The rule of law for people wiht intellectual disabilities]. Nordlandsforskning AS. http://www.nordlandsforskning.no/publikasjoner/kunnskapsstatus-rettssikkerhet-forpersoner-med-utviklingshemming-article3299-152.html
- Olsvik, M. V. (2006). Vulnerable, Exposed and Invisible: A Study of Violence and Abuse against Women with Physical Disabilities. *Scandinavian Journal of Disability Research*, 8(2-3), 85-98. https://doi.org/10.1080/15017410600731343
- Olsvik, M. V. (2010). Overgrep mot kvinner med nedsatt funksjonsevne : en kunnskapsoversikt [Abuse agains women wiht diasbilties]. Nasjonalt kunnskapssenter om vold og traumatisk stress. https://www.nkvts.no/content/uploads/2015/08/overgrep-mot-kvinnermed-nedsatt-funksjonsevne-en-kunnskapsoversikt11.pdf

- Oslomet Storbyuniversitet. (2020). *Evaluering av Statens Barnehus* [Barnahus evaluation]. OsloMet - Storbyuniversitet. Retrieved 10.11.2020 from https://www.oslomet.no/forskning/forskningsprosjekter/evaluering-statens-barnehus
- Palmer, M. & Harley, D. (2011). Models and measurement in disability: an international review. *Health Policy and Planning*, 27(5), 357-364. https://doi.org/10.1093/heapol/czr047
- Petersilia, J. R. (2000). Invisible Victims Violence against Persons with Developmental Disabilities. *Human Rights*, (1), 9-12.
- Petersilia, J. R. (2001). Crime Victims with Developmental Disabilities. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, 28, 655-694. https://doi.org/10.1177/009385480102800601
- Petersilia, J. R., Foote, J. & Crowell, N. A. (2001). Crime Victims with Developmental Disabilities: Report of a Workshop. The National Academies Press. https://doi.org/doi:10.17226/10042
- Pillay, A. L. (2012). The rape survivor with an intellectual disability vs. the court. South African Journal of Psychology, 42(3), 312-322. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1177/008124631204200303
- Pipe, M.-E., Lamb, M. E., Orbach, Y. & Cederborg, A.-C. (2013). *Child sexual abuse: Disclosure, delay, and denial*. Psychology Press.
- Plotnikoff, J. & Woolfson, R. (2015). *Intermediaries in the criminal justice system: Improving communication for vulnerable witnesses and defendants*. Policy Press.
- Politidirektoratet. (2016). Årsrapport 2016. Statens Barnehus [Annual report 2016].
- Politidirektoratet. (2018). Årsrapport 2018. Statens Barnehus [Annual report 2018]. https://www.politiet.no/globalassets/04-aktuelt-tall-og-fakta/statens-barnehus/statensbarnehus---arsrapport-2018.pdf
- Politidirektoratet, Barne- Ungdoms og familie direktoratet & Helsedirektoratet. (2016). *Felles retningslinjer for Statens Barnehus* [National Guidelines for Statens Barnehus]. https://www.helsedirektoratet.no/faglige-rad/medisinske-undersokelser-i-statensbarnehus/introduksjon

- Powell, M. B. (2008). Designing Effective Training Programs for Investigative Interviewers of Children. *Current Issues in Criminal Justice*, 20(2), 189-208. https://doi.org/10.1080/10345329.2008.12035804
- Powell, M. B. & Browne, J. (2004). Police Perceptions of Interviews Involving Children with Intellectual Disabilities: A Qualitative Inquiry *Policing and Society*, 14(3), 269-278. https://doi.org/10.1080/1043946042000241848
- Powell, M. B., Wright, R. & Clark, S. (2010). Improving the competency of police officers in conducting investigative interviews with children. *Police practice and research: an international journal*, 11(3), 211-226.
- Ridley, A. M., Gabbert, F. & La Rooy, D. J. (2013). Suggestibility in legal contexts: Psychological research and forensic implications. Wiley-Blackwell.
- Risan, P., Binder, P.-E. & Milne, R. (2016). Regulating and coping with distress during police interviews of traumatized victims. *Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice, and Policy*, 8(6), 736-744. https://doi.org/10.1037/tra0000119
- Risan, P., Milne, R. & Binder, P.-E. (2020). Trauma narratives: recommendations for investigative interviewing. *Psychiatry, Psychology and Law*, 1-17. https://doi.org/10.1080/13218719.2020.1742237
- Roberts, J. E., Price, J. & Malkin, C. (2007). Language and communication development in down syndrome. *Mental Retardation and Developmental Disabilities Research Reviews*, 13(1), 26-35. https://doi.org/10.1002/mrdd.20136
- Robinson, J. & McGuire, J. (2006). Suggestibility and children with mild learning disabilities: The use of the cognitive interview. *Psychology, Crime & Law*, 12(5), 537-556. https://doi.org/10.1080/10683160500337550
- Ruyter, K., W. (2015). Forsknigsetikkens historie. Retrieved 20.10.2020, from https://www.forskningsetikk.no/ressurser/fbib/systematiske-historiske/historie/
- Saywitz, K. J., Larson, R. P., Hobbs, S. D. & Wells, C. R. (2015). Developing Rapport with Children in Forensic Interviews: Systematic Review of Experimental Research. *Behavioral Sciences & the Law*, 33(4), 372-389. https://doi.org/10.1002/bsl.2186
- Saywitz, K. J., Wells, C. R., Larson, R. P. & Hobbs, S. D. (2019). Effects of Interviewer Support on Children's Memory and Suggestibility: Systematic Review and Meta-Analyses of Experimental Research. *Trauma, Violence, & Abuse, 20*(1), 22-39. https://doi.org/10.1177/1524838016683457

- Schalock, R. L., Luckasson, R. A. & Shogren, K. A. (2007). The Renaming of Mental Retardation: Understanding the Change to the TermIntellectual Disability. *Intellectual* and Developmental Disabilities, 45(2), 116-124. https://doi.org/10.1352/1934-9556(2007)45[116:tromru]2.0.co;2
- Schuchardt, K., Gebhardt, M. & M\"aehler, C. (2010). Working memory functions in children with different degrees of intellectual disability. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*, 54(4), 346-353. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2788.2010.01265.x
- Sequeira, H., Howlin, P. & Hollins, S. (2003). Psychological disturbance associated with sexual abuse in people with learning disabilities: case–control study. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, 183(5), 451-456. https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.183.5.451
- Sigafoos, J., O'Reilly, M., Lancioni, G. E. & Green, V. (2016). Communication difficulties and promotion of communication skills. In A. Carr, C. Linehan, G. O'Reilly, P. N. Walsh & J. McEvoy (Eds.), *The handbook of intellectual disability and clinicla pshycology practice* (2 ed., pp. 534-571). Routledge.
- Sigelman, C. K., Budd, E. C., Spanhel, C. L. & Schoenrock, C. J. (1981). Asking questions of retarded persons: A comparison of yes-no and either-or formats. *Applied Research in Mental Retardation*, 2(4), 347-357. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/0270-3092(81)90029-1
- Soper, H. V., zilberfayen, I. & Horton, A. M., Jr. (2018). Autism Spectrum Disorders and Autobiographical Memory in the Forensic Setting. In J. L. Johnson, G. S. Goodman & P. C. Mundy (Eds.), *Memory, Autism Spectrum disorder, and the Law* (pp. 107-121). Wiley Blackwell.
- Soylu, N., Alpaslan, A. H., Ayaz, M., Esenyel, S. & Oruç, M. (2013). Psychiatric disorders and characteristics of abuse in sexually abused children and adolescents with and without intellectual disabilities. *Research in developmental disabilities*, 34(12), 4334-4342. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ridd.2013.09.010
- Spencer, N. (2005). Disabling Conditions and Registration for Child Abuse and Neglect: A Population-Based Study. *Pediatrics*, 116(3), 609-613. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2004-1882

- Spaan, N. A. & Kaal, H. L. (2018). Victims with mild intellectual disabilities in the criminal justice system. *Journal of Social Work*, 19(1), 60-82. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468017318757331
- Stefansen, K., Gundersen, T. & Bakketeig, E. (2012). Barnehusevalueringen 2012. En undersøkelse blant barn og pårørende, jurister og politifolk, samt ledere og ansatte [Barnahus evaluation report]. Norsk institutt for forskning om oppvekst, velferd og aldring. https://evalueringsportalen.no/evaluering/barnehusevalueringen-2012-delrapport-2/NOVA%20Barnehus.pdf/@@inline
- Stevens, B. (2012). Examining Emerging Strategies to Prevent Sexual Violence: Tailoring to the Needs of Women With Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities. 5(2), 168-186. https://doi.org/10.1080/19315864.2011.608153
- Strømme, P. & Diseth, T. H. (2000). Prevalence of psychiatric diagnoses in children with mental retardation: data from a population-based study. *Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology*, 42(4), 266-270. https://doi.org/ https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8749.2000.tb00083.x
- Sullivan, P. M. & Knutson, J. F. (2000). Maltreatment and disabilities: a population-based epidemiological study. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 24(10), 1257-1273. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0145-2134(00)00190-3
- Sveen, E. H. & Eriksen, I. (2020, 13.01.20). Mann (32) dømt til tre års fengsel for overgrep mot kvinne med Downs syndrom [Male (32) sentenced to prison for sexual abuse against woman wiht Down Syndrom]. Nrk.no. https://www.nrk.no/tromsogfinnmark/mann-_32_domt-til-tre-ars-fengsel-for-overgrep-mot-kvinne-med-downs-syndrom-1.14858614
- Søndenaa, E. (2019). Intellectual disabilities and offending behaviour: the awareness and concerns of the police, district attorneys and judges. *Journal of Intellectual Disabilities and Offending Behaviour*, *10*(2), 34-42. https://doi.org/10.1108/JIDOB-04-2019-0007
- Søndenaa, E., Bjørgen, T. G. & Nøttestad, J. A. (2007). Validation of the Norwegian Version of Hayes Ability Screening Index for Mental Retardation. *Psychological Reports*, 101(3_suppl), 1023-1030. https://doi.org/10.2466/pr0.101.4.1023-1030
- Søndenaa, E., Friestad, C., Storvik, B. & Johnsen, B. (2019). Criminal Justice System for People with Intellectual Disability in Norway. *Bergen Journal of Criminal and Law & Criminal Justice*, 7(1), 97-109.

- Søndenaa, E., Rasmussen, K., Palmstierna, T. & Nøttestad, J. (2008). The prevalence and nature of intellectual disability in Norwegian prisons. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*, 52(12), 1129-1137. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2788.2008.01072.x
- Ternes, M. & Yuille, J. C. (2008). Eyewitness Memory and Eyewitness Identification Performance in Adults with Intellectual Disabilities. *Journal of Applied Research in Intellectual Disabilities*, 21(6), 519-531. https://doi.org/doi:10.1111/j.1468-3148.2008.00425.x
- Thoresen, S. & Hjemdal, O. K. r. (2014). Vold og voldtekt i Norge. En nasjonal forekomststudie av vold i et livsløpsperspekstiv [Rape and Sexual asualt in Norway. A prevelance study]. Nasjonalt kunnskapssenter om vold og traumatisk stress. https://www.nkvts.no/content/uploads/2015/11/vold og voldtekt i norge.pdf
- Tjaden, P. & Thoennes, N. (2000). Prevalence and Consequences of Male-to-female and Femaleto-male Intimate Partner Violence as Measured by the National Violence Against Women Survey. *Violence Against Women*, 6(2), 142-161. https://doi.org/10.1177/10778010022181769
- Van Den Bergh, P. M. & Hoekman, J. (2006). Sexual Offences in Police Reports and Court Dossiers: A Case-File Study. *Journal of Applied Research in Intellectual Disabilities*, 19, 374-382. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-3148.2006.00291.x
- Vanderminden, J. (2017). Using data to make violenceagainst children with disabilites visible:
 An overview of data sources, methodological challenges and ethical considerations. In D.
 Fry, P. Lannen, J. Vanderminden, A. Cameron & T. Casey (Eds.), *Child protection and Disability. Practical challenges for research* (pp. 10-34). Dunedin Academic Press.
- Vehmas, S. & Shakespear, T. (2014). Disability, harm and the origisn of limited opportunities. *Cambridge Quarterly of Healthcare Ethics*, 23(1), 41-47. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1017/S096318011300042X
- Vik, B. F., Nöttestad, J. A., Schei, B., Rasmussen, K. & Hagemann, C. T. (2019). Psychosocial Vulnerability Among Patients Contacting a Norwegian Sexual Assault Center. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 34(10), 2138-2157. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260516659657
- Wasserman, J., D. (2018). A history of Intelligence Assessment: The Unfinished Tapestry. In D. Flanagan, P. & E. McDonough, M. (Eds.), *Contemporary Intellectual Assessment. Theories, tests and issues* (4 ed., pp. 3-56). Guilford Press.

- Waterhouse, G. F., Ridley, A. M., Bull, R., La Rooy, D. & Wilcock, R. (2016). Dynamics of Repeated Interviews with Children. *Applied Cognitive Psychology*, 30(5), 713-721. https://doi.org/10.1002/acp.3246
- Wehmeyer, M. L., Buntinx, W. H., Lachapelle, Y., Luckasson, R. A., Schalock, R. L., Verdugo, M. A., Borthwick-Duffy, S., Bradley, V., Craig, E. M. & Coulter, D. L. (2008). The intellectual disability construct and its relation to human functioning. *Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities*, 46(4), 311-318.
- Westera, N. J., Kebbell, M. R. & Milne, B. (2013). It is better, but does it look better? Prosecutor perceptions of using rape complainant investigative interviews as evidence. *Psychology, Crime & Law*, 19(7), 595-610. https://doi.org/10.1080/1068316x.2012.656119
- Westera, N. J., Powell, M. B., Goodman-Delahunty, J. & Zajac, R. (2020). Special measures in child sexual abuse cases: views of Australian criminal justice professionals. *Current Issues in Criminal Justice*, 32(2), 224-242. https://doi.org/10.1080/10345329.2020.1743904
- Wilson, C. & Brewer, N. (1992). The incidence of criminal victimisation of individuals with an intellectual disability. *Australian Psychologist*, 27(2), 114-117. https://doi.org/10.1080/00050069208257591
- Wissink, I. B., Van Vugt, E., Moonen, X., Stams, G.-J. J. M. & Hendriks, J. (2015). Sexual abuse involving children with an intellectual disability (ID): A narrative review. *Research in developmental disabilities*, 36, 20-35. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ridd.2014.09.007
- Wissink, I. B., van Vugt, E. S., Smits, I. A. M., Moonen, X. M. H. & Stams, G.-J. J. M. (2017). Reports of sexual abuse of children in state care: A comparison between children with and without intellectual disability. *Journal of Intellectual & Developmental Disability*, 1-12. https://doi.org/10.3109/13668250.2016.1269881
- Wolfman, M., Brown, D. A. & Jose, P. (2016). Talking past each other: Interviewer and child verbal exchanges in forensic interviews. *Law and Human Behavior*, 40(2), 107-117. https://doi.org/10.1037/lhb0000171
- World Health Organization. (2002). *World report on violence and health*. https://www.who.int/violence_injury_prevention/violence/world_report/en/

World Health Organization. (2012). *World report on disability*. https://www.who.int/disabilities/world_report/2011/report/en/

- World Health Organization. (2019). *International statistical classification of disease and related health problems* https://icd.who.int/en
- Wurtzel, D. & Marchant, R. (2017). Intermediaries. In P. Cooper & H. Norton, HHJ (Eds.), Vulnerable peopele and the criminal justice system. A guied to law and practice. Oxford University press.
- Wyman, J. D., Lavoie, J. & Talwar, V. (2018). Best Practices for Interviewing Children with Intellectual Disabilities in Maltreatment Cases. *Exceptionality*, 1-18. https://doi.org/10.1080/09362835.2018.1425623
- Young, K., Powell, M. B. & Dudgeon, P. (2003). Individual differences in children's suggestibility: a comparison between intellectually disabled and mainstream samples. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 35(1), 31-49, Article Pii s0191-8869(02)00138-1. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0191-8869(02)00138-1
- Zigler, E. (1982). Developmental VEsrus Difference Theories of Mental Retardation and the Problem of Motivation. In E. Zigler & D. Balla (Eds.), *Mental Retardation. The Developmental- Difference Controversy* (pp. 163-188). Laurence Erbaum Associates Publisher.